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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

Some statements contained in this report are faklgaoking with respect to our operations, reseagielvelopment and
commercialization activities, clinical trials, op¢ing results and financial condition. These stateisinvolve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors which may causeotural results, performance or achievements todterially different from any future
results, performances or achievements expressetptied by the forward-looking statements. Forwérdking statements include, but are not
limited to, statements about:

In some cases, you can identify forward-lookingesteents by terms such as: “anticipates,” “beliévVesntinues,
ntends,

“expects,

our strategy;

product development and commercialization of oadpcts;
clinical trials;

partnering, acquisition and other strategic tratisas;
revenues from existing and new collaborations;

our research and development and other expenses;
sufficiency of our cash resources;

our operational and legal risks; and

our plans, objectives, expectations and intentarsany other statements that are not historic#s fa

” o " ou

could,” “estimates,”
seeks,” “slubd” and “will.” These statements reflect our cuntr@iews with respect to future events and

may,” “plans,

are based on assumptions and subject to risksradtainties. Given these risks and uncertainyies,should not place undue reliance on tl
forward-looking statements. We discuss many ofehisks in greater detail under the headings “Ra&tors” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Results of Operationsthis Form 10-K. Sangamo undertakes no obligatiopuiblicly release any revisions to
forward-looking statements to reflect events otwinstances arising after the date of this repaaders are cautioned not to place undue
reliance on the forward-looking statements, whisbek only as of the date of this Annual Report omF10-K.

ZFP Therapeuti€is a registered trademark of Sangamo BioSciennes This report also contains trademarks and madees that are
the property of their respective owners.




PART |

ITEM 1 — BUSINESS
Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical companyded on the research, development and commeatiah of engineered DNA-
binding proteins as novel therapeutic productsifonet medical needs. Our current mission is to logv&FP Therapeutic®, based on our
proprietary ZFP technology, through early stageicdil testing, strategically partner with biophaomatical companies at points of value
inflection and have the partner execute late-stéigeeal trials and commercial development. In kbeger-term, our goal is to integrate
manufacturing, development and commercial operatiorcapture the value of our proprietary ZFP Theudic products.

We, and our licensed partners, are the leadeteinesearch, development and commercializatiomeffinger DNA-binding proteins
(ZFPs), a naturally occurring class of proteins. hdge used our knowledge and expertise to devepopietary technology platform. ZFPs
can be engineered to make ZFP nucleases (ZFNsgimsdhat can be used to specifically modify DNegjgences in a variety of ways (genome
editing) and ZFP transcription factors (ZFP TFsdt@ins that can be used to turn genes on or efi€gegulation). As ZFPs act at the DNA
level, they have broad potential applications wesel areas including human therapeutics, plaritaljure and research reagents, as well as
production of transgenic animals and cell-line eegring.

The main focus for our company is the developménbeel human therapeutics and we are buildingpelpie of ZFP Therapeutics. C
lead ZFP Therapeutic, SB-728-T, a ZFN-modified bngous T-cell product for the treatment of HIV/AIDIS the first therapeutic application
of our ZFN technology and is being evaluated inadng clinical trials, including a Phase 2 study {8B3mR-T-1401) in HIVinfected subject
We expect to present data from this program at@pjate scientific and medical meetings in 2015.

In January 2014, we established a collaborativinpeship with Biogen Idec Inc. (Biogen) to reseaddvelop and commercialize our
preclinical ZFP Therapeutic development progranhémoglobinopathies, including sickle cell diseg®€D) and beta-thalassemia. We also
have a collaborative partnership with Shire Intéomal GmbH, formerly Shire AG, (Shire) to researdavelop and commercialize certain of
our preclinical ZFP Therapeutic development prograimcluding programs in hemophilia, Huntingtonisehse (HD) and other monogenic
diseases. We have proprietary preclinical progransgveral lysosomal storage disorders (LSDs)dHttteon, we have research stage program:
in other monogenic diseases, including certain imoaigficiencies, as well as central nervous systeN) disorders and cancer
immunotherapy.

We believe the potential commercial applicationZBPs are broabbased and we have entered into strategic partpsrshfields outsid
human therapeutics to facilitate the sale or ligepsf our ZFP platform as follows:

« We have a license agreement with the researchmeagmpany Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (Sigma). Sigmaa the exclusive
rights to develop and market high value laboratesearch reagents based upon our ZFP technologglbas ZFP-modified
cell lines for commercial production of protein pmaceuticals and ZFP-engineered transgenic anif@@ma is marketing
ZFN-derived gene editing tools under the trademark Gi#n® .

«  We have a license agreement with Dow AgroScierdss,(DAS), a wholly owned subsidiary of Dow Chermli€orporation.
Under the agreement, we have provided DAS withsscte our ZFP technology and the exclusive rightsse it to modify the
genomes or alter protein expression of plant cpléts, or plant cell cultures. DAS markets ouNAEchnology under the
trademark EXZACT™ Precision Technology. We have retained rights toplants or plant-derived products to deliver ZFR T
or ZFNs into human or animals for diagnostic, thergic or prophylactic purpose

Through our subsidiary Ceregene, Inc. (Ceregerglieed in October 2013, we are conducting a PRadimical trial for the
development of an adeno-associated virus (AAV) ghaepy (CERE 110) for the treatment of Alzheirsalisease (AD).

We have a substantial intellectual property positiothe design, selection, composition and usengineered ZFPs to support our
commercial activities. As of February 4, 2015, vitber owned outright or have exclusively licensed tommercial rights to approximately
667 patents issued in the United States and forggjonal jurisdictions, and we have 583 patentiegiions owned and licensed pending
worldwide, including patents acquired from Ceregéfie continue to license and file new patent apgilims that strengthen our core and
accessory patent portfolio. We believe that owliattual property position is a critical elemembur ability to research, develop and
commercialize products and services based on ZiHPddogy across our chosen applications.
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DNA, Genes, and Proteins

DNA is present in all cells except mature red bloells, and encodes the inherited characterisfiedl iving organisms. A cels DNA is
organized in chromosomes as thousands of individuiéd called genes. Genes encode proteins, whichssembled through the process of
transcription—whereby DNA is transcribed into rilgteic acid (RNA)—and, subsequently, translation-evey RNA is translated into
protein (Figure 1). Proteins are involved in vittyall cell functions. DNA, RNA and proteins conige many of the targets for pharmaceutica
drug discovery and therapeutic intervention.

Chromosome

:—: transcription translation
—_— W —_—

DMA mRNA Protaein

Figure 1:

Schematic of the relationship between the human geme, DNA, RNA and protein

The human body is composed of specialized cellspadorm different functions and are thus orgadiireo tissues and organs. All
somatic cells in an individual’s body contain tlzene set of genes. However, only a fraction of tlyesees are turned on, or expressed, in an
individual human cell at any given time. Genesragilated (i.e. turned on or turned off) in respgottsa wide variety of stimuli and
developmental signals. Distinct sets of genes gpeessed in different cell types. It is this paitef gene expression that determines the
structure, biological function and health of alllgetissues and organisms. The aberrant expressioertain genes can lead to disease.
Similarly, a mistake, or mutation in the DNA seqcemf a gene can result in corresponding errdnérprotein encoded by the gene, which
have serious consequences for the cell and itsiuma number of disorders have been identifieat Hre caused by the inheritance of a single
defective gene. These so-called monogenic diséadesie hemophilia, HD, SCD, LSDs and many others.
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Zinc finger DNA-binding proteins ( ZFPs) are Naturally Occurring Transcription Factors in Humans

Transcription factors are proteins that bind to Dal#d regulate gene expression. A transcriptiorofagicognizes and binds to a specific
DNA sequence within or near a particular gene anges expression of that gene to be “turned onivéded) or “turned off” {epressed). ZFF
are the largest class of naturally occurring treipion factors in organisms from yeast to humdngigher organisms, naturally occurring
transcription factors typically comprise two pripal domains: the first is a DNA-binding domain, gdmated in Figure 2 as the “Recognition
Domain”) which recognizes a target DNA sequencethrtkeby directs the transcription factor to theger chromosomal location; the second
is a functional domain that causes the target gebe activated or repressed. Sangamo has addeels® naturally occurring functional
domains to include domains enabling genome ed#trie site determined by the DNA-binding domain.

Functional Domain Recognition Domain

Zinc Finger DNA-Binding Protein (ZFP)

5 T A CHTECEEAN A C G ECEEGEEAN A T T [EENCENGH 3’

* Activation

* Repression
* Genome Editing
¢ Knock out

» Correct/Add
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Figure 2:

Schematic of the two-domain structure of a ZFP Theaapeutic

Engineered ZFP Nucleases (ZFNs) can be designed f8enome Editing and Engineered Zinc Finger Proteif ranscription Factors
(ZFP TFs) for Gene Regulation

Consistent with the two-domain structure of natdifaP transcription factors, we take a modular apgihdo the design of the proteins
that we engineer. The ZFP portion, the DNA-recagnitiomain, is typically composed of three or maire fingers. Each individual finger
recognizes and binds to a three-four base pairesmguof DNA and multiple fingers can be linked tibge to recognize longer stretches of
DNA, thereby improving specificity. By modifying ¢hamino acids of a ZFP, we can engineer novel £apable of recognizing pre-selected
DNA sequences for any genomic target. We use tgimeared ZFP DNA-binding domain linked to a funnabdomain. The ZFP DNA-
binding domain brings the functional domain inte groximity of the gene of interest. Our abilityuse our highly specific ZFP technology to
precisely target a DNA sequence in a gene of intgm®vides us with a range of genome editing akgegulation functions that can be
applied in many different cell types.

Our engineered ZFPs can be attached to a cleaveyein of a restriction endonuclease, an enzymeciitatDNA, creating a zinc finger
nuclease or ZFN. When a pair of ZFNs is bound ¢oDINA in the correct orientation and spacing, tié¢ADsequence is cut between the ZFP
binding sites. DNA binding by both ZFNs is necegdar cleavage, and both domains of the restrictindonuclease must be present in the
correct orientation to interact with each othemiider to mediate DNA cleavage. This break in tiNADriggers a natural process of DNA
repair in the cell. The repair process can be lssetbto achieve one of several outcomes that méyebapeutically useful (Figure 3). If cells
are simply treated with ZFNs alone the repair pssgeins the two ends of the broken DNA togethet faequently results in the loss of a small
amount of genetic material at the site of the br&#lks disrupts the original DNA sequence and esult in the generation of a shortened or
non-functional protein, effectively “knocking outfie protein. ZFN-mediated genome editing can bd tséisrupt a gene that is involved in
disease pathology such as disruption, or knockajuhe CCR5 gene to treat HIV infection. We amsoalsing ZFNmediated gene disruption
theBCL11Agene in hematopoietic stem progenitor cells (HSRSs potentially curative treatment for SCD anthltlealassemia.
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In contrast, if cells with a mutation in a partigubene are treated with a DNA sequence that esdbdecorrect gene sequence (referrec
to as a “donor” DNA) and with ZFNs that recognizeldind to sequences flanking the mutation, thEsaapair machinery can use the donor
as a template to correct the mutated gene. Thit¢-@Ediated gene correction enables the corrected tpebe expressed in its natural
chromosomal context and may provide a novel appréacthe precise repair of DNA sequence mutati@sponsible for certain monogenic
diseases. In addition, by making the donor sequargene-sized segment of DNA, a new copy of a ganealso be precisely added into the
genome at a specific location. The ability to psebyi place a gene-sized segment of DNA specifidatty a pre-determined location in the
genome broadens the range of mutations of a gatedh be corrected in a single step and eliminthgemsertional mutagenesis concerns
associated with traditional integrating gene rephaent approaches such as retroviruses, in whicimgleetion of a new corrective copy of the
gene typically occurs at random locations in theagee. Our In Vivo Protein Replacement Platform (RHD, in which our ZFN technology is
used to insert a gene encoding a therapeutic protts a safe harbor site such asMisumingene, is an approach that we are investigating fo
the treatment of hemophilia and LSDs which may piddly provide a single curative treatment fordbaliseases.

We can also create ZFP TFs which are capable dfalting or regulating the expression of a targeng in the desired manner
(Figure 3). For instance, attaching an activatiomdin to a ZFP will cause a target gene to be &dron.” Alternatively, a repression domain
causes the gene to be “turned off.” We have aipnieal ZFP Therapeutic program for HD in which we avaluating a ZFP TF designed to
differentially down regulate the mutated diseasasoayHuntingtin(HTT) gene, while leaving expression of the norgethe unchanged.

Zinc Finger Protein

i :

ZFP Transcription ZFP Nuclease
Factor (ZFP TF) (ZFN)
Gene Regulation Domain Gene Editing Domain
' Repress x Knock out
||
kY
' Activate - Correct/Add
Figure 3:

ZFP Therapeutics can be designed to accomplish arrge of functions in genome editing and gene regulah.

To date, we and our partners have designed, engithead assembled many thousands of ZFPs and éstee mmany of these proteins
for their affinity, or tightness of binding, to tih®NA target, as well as their specificity, or feeence for their intended DNA target. We have
developed methods for the design, selection arehasy of ZFPs capable of binding to a wide spectafidNA sequences and genes. We
have linked ZFPs to endonuclease domains to chégitdy specific ZFNs and to numerous functional dams to create gene-specific ZFP TFs
and have demonstrated the ability of these proteiemable genome editing or gene regulation, sy, in hundreds of genes in dozens of
different cell types and in whole organisms, inahgdnon-human primates, mice, rats, rabbits, gig#, flies, worms, zebrafish and yeast, and
in plant species including canola and maize. Weandollaborators have published data from mamhe$e studies in peer-reviewed
scientific journals. ZFNs are currently being usedenerate transgenic animals and cell lineshtheg specific genetic modifications that m
them useful models of human disease. These higie@blogic tools are being used by academicspértdchnology and pharmaceutical
companies for medical research and drug developridémtave ongoing clinical trials to evaluate théety and efficacy of ZFNs in humans.
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We have several strategies for the applicatioruofZd-P Therapeutics depending on the disease maithoh. We routinely deliver our
therapeutics as nucleic acids, either as mess&ig&r(mRNA) or encoded in a viral vector that thdl deen uses to make the protein form of
the ZFN or ZFP TF. We can deliver ZFP Therapeuwicsivo(outside the body) to isolated cells of the blaaath as Teells, in the case of o
clinical HIV program, and HSPCs for our programgitv and monogenic blood diseases such as SCD etadtbalassemia. We are also
developing ZFP Therapeutics in which we deliver tharapeutic proteinis vivo, either systemically (directly into the blood stne) as in our
IVPRP programs in hemophilia and LSD, or directifoia specific tissue such as the brain as in &upkbgram.

ZFP Therapeutics Provide the Opportunity to Developa New Class of Human Therapeutics

With our ability to generate gene-specific ZFNsdenome editing or the disruption or addition/cotign of target genes and DNA
sequences and ZFP TFs for the activation or rejores$ genes and with multiple strategies for adstiation, we are focused on developing a
new class of highly differentiated human therapsutiVe believe that as more genes are linked tfgpdiseases, the clinical breadth and
scope of our ZFP Therapeutic applications may bstsmtial.

We believe that our ZFP technology provides a umigd proprietary basis for a broad new classugsithat have differential
competitive advantages over small-molecule druggep pharmaceuticals and RNA-based and conveditipene therapy approaches,
enabling us to pursue the development of therdptes broad range of unmet medical needs.

For example, ZFP Therapeutics can:

. Provide novel activities such as genome editing andgulation of gene expression to address drug taegs. Engineered
ZFNs enable the disruption, correction or targetédition of a gene sequence and ZFP TFs enabler e@hression or activatic
of a therapeutically relevant gene in a cell. Tdiiges our technology a degree of flexibility noesen other drug platforms. Our
ZFN genome editing technology, which requires dorigf cellular expression of ZFNs, allows the penerat correction of a
mutation in a defective gene in a highly specifisHion. This provides a novel therapeutic and piaténlife-long clinical
benefit in the treatment of monogenic diseased) asthemophilia. In contrast, direct modificatidrgenes cannot be achieved
using antisense RNA, or siRNA, which act by intarfg with the expression of cellular RNA, or contienal small molecules,
antibodies, or other protein pharmaceuticals thiatgrily act to“block” or antagonize the action of a prote

. Provide therapeutic solutions for targets that canot be effectively addressed by existing drug modéiks. ZFNs and ZFP
TFs act through a mechanism that is unique amasigdical drugs: direct editing or regulation of ttisease-related or
therapeutic gene as opposed to the RNA or prodeget encoded by that gene. Following the genomaiesiution of the 1990s,
the sequencing and publication of the human genpheamaceutical and biotechnology companies hakgatad and
characterized many new drug targets. Many of theggets have a direct role in disease processesababt be bound or
modulated for therapeutic purposes by small moécuAlternative therapeutic approaches may be medjgd modulate the
biological activity of these so-called “non-drugégitargets. This may create a significant cliniaatl commercial opportunity
for the therapeutic modification or regulation idehse-associated genes using engineered ZFNSofFE£$: Thus, a target
which may be intractable to treatment using a smalecule or monoclonal antibody can be modifieda¢d on or turned off at
the DNA level using ZFP technolog

. Provide high specificity and selectivity for targes. ZFP Therapeutics can be designed to act with hpghificity and we have
published such dataRroc. Natl. Acad. Sci (2003) vol:100, 11997-1200Xeurosci. (2010) 30(49):16469-74; Nat Biotechnol.
(2008) 26(7):808-16 and Nature (2011)478(7369):3911n addition, as there are only two copies ofregene, there are
generally only two targets per cell for a ZFP Tipexaic, which means that ZFNs and ZFP TFs neeé tavhilable in the cell in
relatively low concentrations. In contrast, druigattact on protein and RNA targets that are ndyupaksent in higher cellular
concentrations may need to be administered in highiecentrations. Many small molecule and RNA-basggatoaches either
affect multiple targets demonstrating so-called-tafget effects” or may be toxic in the concentias required to be
therapeutically effective




THERAPEUTIC PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

ZFP Therapeutic Product Development Programs

Program Lead Indication Research Pre-clinical Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3

SB-728-T HIV / AIDS |

SB-728-HSPC HIV / AIDS I

biogen idec. Beta-thalassemia _

biogenidec. sickle Cell Disease ]

(Shire Hemophilia B R

(Shire Hemophilia A —

(Shire Huntington’s Disease ]

SB-913 Hunter Syndrome ]

SB-318 Hurler Syndrome ]

Multiple Lysosomal Storage Disorders ]

Multiple Other Monogenic Diseases [

CERE-110 Alzheimer’s Disease |
Figure 4:

Clinical Stage Programs

Sangamo’s Therapeutic Pipeline

Product Stage of
Candidate Targeted Indication Development Protocol Milestones
SB-728-T HIV/AIDS Phase 2 SB-728mR-T-1401 Trial initiated in 2014. Accrual completed.
Initial data expected in late 201
Phase 1/2 SB-728-1101 (Cytoxan pre-Trial initiated in January 2012. Enroliment
conditioning dose-ranging and treatment completed. Initial data
study) presented in 2013 and Cytoxan dose-
escalation completed in 2014. Data updates
expected in 201¢
Phase 1 SB-728-902, Cohorts 1-3 Enroliment and treatment completed, in
Cohort 5 (CCR5 delta-32  long-term followup. Data presented in 20
heterozygotes and 2014
Phase 1 SB-728-T* Enroliment and treatment completed, in long-
term follow-up. Data publishe*2014.
Phase 2 SB-728-T* (Cytoxan pre- Trial expected to begin at University of
conditioning) Pennsylvania in 1H 201
SB-728-HSPC HIV/AIDS Phase 1l SB-728-HSPC* Trial expected to begin at City of Hope in
1H 2015.
SB-BCLMR-HSPC Bete-thalassemia maijc Phase 1/: SB-BCLMR-HSPC Trial expected to begin in 1H 201
CERE-110 Alzheimer’s disease Phase 2 All subjects treated, in two year follow-up.
(AAV -NGF) Data expected in 201

Table 1: Summary of our ongoing clinical trials.

(*Investigator sponsored trial)

+ N.Eng. J. Med. 2014: 370:897-906 “Gene Editingc6fR5 in Autologous CD4 T-cells of Persons Infeatgtth HIV.”
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ZFP Therapeutic Clinical Stage Programs
Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV) and Acquired Immnodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS

HIV infection results in the death of immune systestis, particularly CD4+ T-cells, and thus leadl$\MDS, a condition in which the
body’s immune system is depleted to such a depaddte patient is unable to fight off common itifees. Ultimately, these patients succumb
to opportunistic infections or cancers. Accordiaghe United States Centers for Disease ControRPaadention (CDC) over 2.1 million
people were newly infected with HIV in 2013. Anigsited 1.5 million people died of AIDS-related dsses in the same year. There are now
over 35 million people living with HIV and AIDS wlawide. At the end of 2011, (the most recent dagilable) it is estimated that there were
1.2 million people living with HIV/AIDS in the Unétd States, of which approximately 14% were unawsaethey were infected.
Approximately 48,000 new infections occurred in @04nd more than 13,500 people with AIDS died mtnited States in 2011.

Current Treatments and Unmet Medical Need

Currently, there are over 30 antiretroviral drugpraved by the U.S. Food and Drug AdministratioBA¥ to treat people infected with
HIV. Currently available drugs do not cure HIV iof®n or AIDS. These drugs fall into four major s$@&s: reverse transcriptase inhibitors,
protease inhibitors, integrase inhibitors and eatrgt fusion inhibitors. This latter class also uigls a small molecule antagonist of the CCR5
receptor, Selzentr§(maraviroc). This drug is being used in combinatioth other antiretroviral agents for treatmexperienced adult patier
infected with CCR5-tropic HIV-1 strains that arsistant to multiple antiretroviral agents.

As HIV reproduces, variants of the virus emergeluding some that are resistant to antiretrovirabd. Therefore, doctors recommend
that people infected with HIV take a combinatioreatiretroviral drugs, or ART. This strategy tyglgaombines drugs from at least three
different classes of antiretroviral drugs. They sappress the virus, even to undetectable levetghby cannot eliminate HIV from the body.
Hence, people with HIV need to take antiretrovitalgs continuously. The drugs are expensive andhaaa significant side effects over time.
There is no therapeutic approach available whickegts CD4+ T-cells, reduces viral load and doasequire daily dosing.

Sangamo’s Therapeutic Approach

Our therapeutic approach aims to use our ZFN-medigénome editing technology to replicate a ndtucacurring human mutation
which renders individuals largely resistant to atien with the most common strain of HIV. CCR5 isareceptor for HIV entry into T-cells
and if CCR5 is not expressed on their surface hifédts them with lower efficiency. A populationiaflividuals that is immune to HIV
infection, despite multiple exposures to the vihes been identified and extensively studied. Thgority of these individuals have a natural
mutation,CCR5 delta-32 of both of theitCCR5gene copies (homozygous), resulting in the exprassi a shortened non-functional CCR5
protein. This mutation appears to have no obseevddleterious effect. Individuals who carry @€R5 delta-32nutation in only one of their
two CCR5gene copies (heterozygotes), tend to take longaevelop AIDS and are classified as so-called “l@rgn non-progressors.” In
addition, a study published Bloodin December 2010 reported an effective cure wheflB$ patient with leukemia received a bone marrow
transplant from a “matched” donor who was homozygioun thisCCR5 delta-32nutation. This approach transferred the HSCs negiih the
bone marrow from the delta-32 donor, and providsdl&renewable and potentially lifelong sourcéHd¥-resistant immune cells. After
transplantation, the AIDS patient was able to disiome all anti-HIV drug treatments, CD4 countsréased and viral load dropped to an
undetectable level, demonstrating effective traanrsaltion of protection from HIV infection.

We are using our ZFN-mediated genome editing teldgyao disrupt theCCR5gene in cells of a patiestimmune system to make ths
cells permanently resistant to HIV infection. Tl & to provide a population of HIV-resistant sdhat can fight HIV and opportunistic
infections mimicking the situation in individualsat carry the natur&@ CR5 delta-32nutation. In December 2008, in collaboration with
scientists at the University of Pennsylvania, ab WMas filed for a Phase 1 trial of our CCR5 ZFP rapeutic, SB-728-T. This single-dose,
investigatorsponsored trial began enrolling subjects in Felyr@809, at the University of Pennsylvania. The deden this study was publish
in the New England Journal of Medicine in 20IM.Eng. J. Med. 2014: 370:897-906 The study demonstrated that the treatment vedls w
tolerated and that ZFN-modified cells show longvtengraftment and have a survival advantage oveiodified cells during an ART
treatment interruption (TI).

In September 2009, we filed an IND application antiated a dose-escalation Phase 1 clinical {&&8-728-902) of SB-728-T. Both
Phase 1 studies were in HIV-infected individualsowfere on ART. The studies were designed priméoilgvaluate the safety and tolerability
of this ZFP Therapeutic approach; however, subjj&ie! T-cell counts, levels of CCR5-modified T-celdind viral burden were also
monitored. Preliminary data from both trials weregented in the first quarter of 2011 and demotestrinat the approach was well-tolerated ir
these subjects. In addition, we observed duralijeafiment and persistence of SB-728-T, the abilftthese cells to traffic to the gut mucosa
and improvements in the overall CD4 T-cell courd &#me CD4:CDS8 ratio in multiple subjects.
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In January 2012, we announced the initiation of hew studies (SB-728-1101 and SB-728-902, Cohotidged on data from our Phase
1 trials that demonstrated a correlation betweereitimated numbers of circulating engrafted éelishich both copies of th€e CR5gene wer
modified (biallelic modification) and the reductiomviral load in treated subjects that underwett.dJsing different approaches, both studies
aim to increase the engraftment of cells that handergone biallelic modification in SB-728-T-treditaubjects and to evaluate the effect of
increasing the numbers of these cells on the imnsystem and on viral load during a TI. TEGRS5 delta-3heterozygote subjects were
accrued and treated on the SB-728-902, Cohortdy tnd a total of 21 subjects were accrued antkglean the SB-728-1101 study, a trial
which evaluated the effect of increasing dosesytdan conditioning prior to SB-728-T administration engraftment of cells that have
undergone biallelic ZFN modification. Data colletfieom the first 18 subjects treated in this studire presented at scientific meetings in 2
and 2014 that further supported a correlation betwbe estimated numbers of engrafted biallelicalbdified cells and the reduction in viral
load with one subject in the SB-7282 study demonstrating a prolonged control oflV@rad for over a year and a half during TI. An giddal
three subjects were enrolled into SB-728-1101 ¥atwation of the effect of the optimal dose of Gegtn. We expect to present additional data
from the SB-728-1101 study in 2015.

In 2014, we filed an IND application and initiatachew Phase 2 clinical trial, SB-728mR-T-1401, liick we are using electroporation
of MRNA to deliver the CCR5-specific ZFNs to thel&ed T-cells. This trial incorporates severalifioations and improvements in the
process developed from our previous studies wéstells, including the delivery of ZFNs using mRMAich enables the administration of
multiple doses of cells into the subjects. We agedrall nine subjects into the trial in 2014 andestfgo have initial data from this study in late
2015.

We also have a program to investigate this appréatteat HIV in hematopoietic stem progenitor e¢HHSPCs), again using
electroporation of mMRNA to deliver the ZFNs. Wedi an IND application in 2014 and expect to begiPhase 1 clinical trial in the first half
2015 in subjects infected with HIV who have low C8gunts despite successful viral control by ARFecabbed immunologic non-responders.
In October 2009, we and our collaborators at Citiope Medical Center and the University of South€alifornia received partial funding f
the preclinical development of this program frofioar-year $14.5 million Disease Team Research Awardtgcioy the California Institute fi
Regenerative Medicine (CIRM), a State of Califoraity. We have received $5.2 million in funditgdugh December 31, 2013, which is
total prescribed amount under the agreement. In 204y, CIRM agreed to fund a $5.6 million Stratd@artnership Award for clinical studies
of this program at City of Hope.

Programs Partnered with Biogen
Hemoglobinopathies: Sickle cell disease and E-thalassemia

Mutations in the gene encoding beta-globin, thegexycarrying protein of red blood cells, lead tmbglobinopathies such as SCD and
beta-thalassemia. The mutation that gives ris€D Sauses the red blood cells to form an abnorioklesor crescent shape. The cells are
fragile and deliver less oxygen to the body’s tEssurhey can also get stuck more easily in smatidblessels and break into pieces that can
interrupt healthy blood flow which further decredise amount of oxygen flowing to body tissues. Adtnall patients with SCD have these
painful vaso-occlusive crises, which can last fioonrs to days and may cause irreversible organ gantzurrent standard of care is to manag
and control symptoms, and to limit the number dfes. Treatments include administration of hydra®ggy blood transfusions, iron-chelation
therapy, pain medications and antibiotics. As df2ahe CDC estimates that there are 90,000 td000mericans living with SCD which
occurs in approximately 1 out of every 500 Africamerican births and 1 out of every 36,000 Hispahigerican births.

There are several forms of beta-thalassemia. Byottth disorder results in greatly impaired proéhrcof healthy red blood cells despite
bone marrow over activity, leading to life-threatgnanemia, enlarged spleen, liver and heart, @ané labnormalities. Beta-thalassemia major
is a severe form of thalassemia that requires aggaften monthly, blood transfusions and subsetjuen-chelation therapy to treat iron
overload. The CDC estimates that 1,000 people hateethalassemia major in the United States, anchknown number carry the genetic trait
and can pass it on to their children. Thalassesiadst common among people of Mediterranean deaoehis also found among people from
Southeast Asia, the Arabian Peninsula, Iran, Afsicd Southern China.

In collaboration with Biogen, we are developing ZHkerapeutics for both SCD and beta-thalassemiadbais the use of our ZFN
genome editing technology to modify a patient’s daatologous) HSPCs. Our ZFN genome editing teagyénables multiple approaches to
the correction of SCD and beta-thalassemia. Batbadies manifest in the months after birth, wheematswitch from producing functional
fetal gamma-globin to a mutant form of adult beti@b@, which results in their condition. Naturatigcurring increased levels of fetal
hemoglobin have been shown to reduce the sevdriigpth SCD and beta-thalassemia disorders. In HS®@sgyenome editing technology can
be used to precisely disrupt key transcriptiongltators, such aBBCL11A, to reverse the switch from expression of the mugault beta-
globin back to the production of functional fetalngma-globin. Alternatively, the technology can sedito precisely insert a new corrected
beta-globin gene to replace the defective copy.
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A bone marrow transplant (BMT), of HSPCs from a tomed” related donor (allogeneic BMT) is curatiee both diseases. However,
this therapy is limited due to the scarcity of neit donors and the significant risk of Graft verdast Disease (GvHD) after transplantatiol
the foreign cells. By performing genome editingi8PCs that are isolated from and subsequentlyneduto the same patient (i.e. an
autologous HSPC transplant), our approach eliménlat¢h the need for a matched donor and the riskcate and chronic GvHD. The goal of
this approach is to develop a one-time curativatinent for SCD and beta-thalassemia.

In May 2013, we were awarded a $6.4 million CIRMa8tgic Partnership Award to develop this potelytiedirative ZFP Therapeutic f
beta-thalassemia. The foyear grant provides additional funds for preclihgtadies that support an IND application and aseHaclinical tria
in transfusion-dependent beta-thalassemia patidrediled our IND application for beta-thalassennm&014 and expect to begin the Phase 1
clinical trial in the first half of 2015. Our gom to file an IND application in 2016 for our SCogram.

ZFP Therapeutic Preclinical Stage Programs
Programs Partnered with Shire
Hemophilia

Hemophilia, a rare bleeding disorder in which thaod does not clot normally, is an example of a aganic disease (a disease that is
caused by a genetic defect in a single gene). Tdrerseveral types of hemophilia caused by mutaiioigenes that encode factors which help
the blood clot and stop bleeding when blood vess®snjured. Individuals with hemophilia experiertdeeding episodes after injuries and
spontaneous bleeding episodes that often leadribdisease such as arthritis. The most prevateant bf the disease, hemophilia A, is caused
by a defect in clotting Factor VIII, while defedtsclotting Factor IX lead to hemophilia B. The mesvere forms of hemophilia affect males.
According to the National Hemophilia Foundation dimel World Federation of Hemophilia, hemophilia écars in about one in every 5,000
male births in the US with approximately 16,000 esadurrently affected in the US, and hemophiliaa Bbout 1 in every 25,000 male births
with approximately 4,000 males currently affect€de standard treatment for individuals with hembahs replacement of the defective
clotting factor with regular infusion of recombirtanotting factors or plasma concentrates. Theseafies are expensive, carry the risk of
transmission of blood-borne diseases such as lisgatd other viral infections and sometimes stateithe body to produce antibodies agains
the factors that inhibit the benefits of treatménthese situations, other clotting factors suglractor VII and X may be used to treat patients

As part of our collaboration, Shire has selected fgene targets, clotting factors VII, VI, IX andfor the development of ZFP
Therapeutics to treat hemophilia. Using our ZFNiextogy we are pursuing two approaches in the dpweént of these therapeutics: addition
of a new correct copy of the Factor VIl or IX geinéo a safe-harbor site, the Albumin gene or lpaising our In Vivo Protein Replacement
Platform (IVPRP), and correction of the diseasesing mutation in the endogenous copy of thedradtl or IX gene. We have published d:
demonstrating functional correction of the humastdalX gene in the liver by direct intravenousidety of AAV encoding ZFNs in a mouse
model of the diseaseNature 475, 217-221, 14 July 20.PPreclinical studies of our IVPRP approach, hdemonstrated that therapeutic
levels of Factor IX could be generated in a doggeddent manner in non-human primates (NHPs). Tlwere no significant alterations in
circulating albumin levels. Studies in mice alsobnstrated stable Factor IX production for ovgedr. The IVPRP is designed to be a
broadly applicable strategy for gene replacemaeattuhill provide a permanent correction for thetlifige of the patient and would reduce or
eliminate the need for chronic infusions of reptaeat proteins or clotting factor products. Our geab submit IND applications for our ZFP
Therapeutic program in hemophilia B in 2015, andhiemophilia A in 2016.

Huntington’s disease

HD is an inherited, progressive neurologic disdasvhich there is no treatment or cure. The diseasaused by a particular type of
mutation in a single gene, thEF' T gene. Most patients inherit one normal and onectigfeor mutant copy of thdTT gene, which caused HD.
The mutation is characterized by expansion of aatgul stretch of DNA sequence within the gene @@I&CAG repeat.” A normal copy of the
HTT gene usually has 10 to 29 of these CAG repeata bafective copy has many more—generally greaser 89 repeats. While the protein
produced by the normal copy of the gene appedrs &ssential for development (mice lacking the gkneot survive to birth), the product of
the mutated gene is damaging to nerve cells. Symgptwhich include deterioration of muscle contooignition and memory, usually develop
between 35 and 44 years of age. It is known thegtkeater the number of CAG repeats, the earleeotiset. HD is usually fatal within 10 to 20
years after the onset of symptoms. The diseasa hagh prevalence for an inherited disorder. Actwrdo the Huntingto's Disease Society of
America (HDSA) one in 10,000 people in the U.S. H&s(approximately 30,000 people). In additiorisiestimated that approximately
200,000 people in the U.S. are at risk of develgpie disease.

Research in animal models of the disease has stimtiowering the levels of the mutant HTT proteam prevent, or even reverse,
disease progression. However, to date most “HT Tetavg” methods decrease levels of both the normdlrautant forms of HTT, raising
potential safety concerns given the importanceoofrral HTT protein. In collaboration with Shire, \aee developing ZFP TFs that can
selectively repress the expression of the muta®adie-causing form of HTT while leaving expresserls of the
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normal gene unchanged. Preclinical studies in dnimogels of the disease are ongoing and our gdalfite an IND application for a ZFP
Therapeutic for HD in 2016.

Proprietary Preclinical Programs
Lysosomal Storage Disorde

Lysosomal storage disorders (LSDs) are a heteragsngroup of inherited disorders including Fabigedise, Gaucher disease, Hunter
syndrome and Hurler syndrome and many others. aheegaused by defects in genes that encode préi@ingn as enzymes, which break
down and eliminate unwanted substances in the aktlee body. These enzymes are found in structabsd lysosomes which act as recyc
sites in cells, breaking down unwanted material 8inple products for the cell to use to build maaterials. A defect in a lysosomal enzyme
leads to the accumulation of toxic levels of thestance that the enzyme would normally eliminat rasulting cell damage which can lead to
serious health problems. There are nearly 50 afetldésorders altogether and they may affect diftgparts of the body, including the skeleton,
brain, skin, heart and CNS. While their individiradidence tends to be rare, this group as a whadeah incidence of more than 1:5,000 live
births according to the National Institute of Ndogical Disorders and Stroke.

There are no cures for LSDs, and treatments haivgetdeen developed for many of these diseasexdfin disorders, including
Gaucher, Fabry, Hunter and Hurler, enzyme replaottherapies (ERTs) are available. However, thegaire frequent administration, are
costly and there is a risk that over time patiel@gelop an immune response to the administere@iprigssening its efficacy.

Our IVPRP has the potential to provide a broadlyliapble genetic approach to enzyme replacemergdeeral LSDs. Beginning with
Hurler syndrome (mucopolysaccharidosis | or MP&nij Hunter syndrome (mucopolysaccharidosis Il oSNIPour aim is use this approach
to enable the patient’s liver to produce therapegtiantities of the corrective enzymes, alpha-Llradidase and iduronate-2-sulfatase,
respectively. Both Hunter and Hurler syndromeslteésuhe accumulation of complex sugars calledcgbaminoglycans that lead to a variet
problems. Symptoms are not present at birth bpapin early childhood and may include delayecettigyment, enlarged internal organs,
cardiovascular disorders, stunted growth and skiedétnormalities in the case of Hunter syndromd,abmormal bones in the spine, halted
growth, deafness, joint disease and progressiedientual disability in the case of Hurler syndrome

We are in preclinical development for these prdprieprograms and our goal is to file IND applioat for product candidates for MPS
I and MPS 1l in 2015 and two additional IND appticas for other LSDs in 2016.

ZFP Therapeutic Research Progran

We have research stage programs in other monodmaases, in CNS disorders and in cancer immuregtlger

AAV-NGF Therapeutic Clinical Stage Program
Clinical Development Programs Acquired from Ceregen

CERE-110 (AAV-NGF), a gene therapy approach fortthatment of AD designed to deliver nerve grovetttdér (NGF) directly to the
brain using an AAV vector, was developed by Ceregéine program and ongoing Phase 2 clinical tredenassets that we acquired from
Ceregene in October 2013. In November 2013, waselk preliminary data from a Phase 1 dose esaakttidy of CERE-110 demonstrating
that surgical delivery of CERE-110 to the brainutesin the long-term expression of bioactive N@fe therapeutic protein. Clinicians also
observed apparent stabilization of brain cell mefiatactivity in treated subjects, as determined®T-scans measuring glucose use, which
may reflect a slowing of cell deterioration. Theaiment was well-tolerated at all dose levels. Fhase 2 clinical trial is fully accrued and is
being carried out in collaboration with the Alzheiris Disease Cooperative Study (ADCS) based at/thieersity of California San Diego
(UCSD) and funded by a grant from the Nationalitas on Aging (NIA). Forty-nine (49) patients withild to moderate AD have been treatec
with a single administration of CERE-110 at temiclal sites throughout the U.S. Approximately tddlthe patients received CERE-110 while
the other half received an appropriate sham surgganyrol treatment. Patients are being followedafaninimum of two years with respect to
safety, brain imaging as well as standard testd isAlzheimer’s clinical trials to measure cognéifunction and quality of life. Enroliment
was completed in March 2013 and we expect to hate fitom this study in 2015.

CORPORATE RELATIONSHIPS

We have established collaborative and strategimeeships for our ZFP Therapeutic programs andimtherapeutic areas. We will
continue to pursue further partnerships when apjatgpwith selected pharmaceutical, biotechnolagy ehemical companies to fund internal
research and development activities and to assfioiduct development and commercialization. We are
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applying our ZFP technology platform to several ocwencial applications in which our products provideand our strategic partners and
collaborators with potential technical, competitared economic advantages.

Therapeutic Collaborations
Collaboration and License Agreement with Biogen tdiic. in Human Therapeutics and Diagnostics

In January 2014, we entered into an exclusive wadd collaboration and license agreement with Biotgedevelop therapeutics for
hemoglobinopathies, focused on beta-thalassemi&aml Under the agreement, the two companies ewitly conduct two research
programs: the beta-thalassemia program and the@@@am. In the beta-thalassemia program, we aporesible for all discovery, research
and development activities through the first huralmical trial. In the SCD program, both parties aesponsible for research and developmen
activities through the submission of an IND apgimafor ZFP therapeutics intended to treat SC@gehn reimburses us for agreed upon
internal and external program-related costs.

Under both programs, Biogen is responsible for sgbent worldwide clinical development, manufactgr@amd commercialization of
licensed products developed under the agreemetthefdgnd of specified research terms for each progrr under certain specified
circumstances, Biogen retains the right to stegmith take over any of our remaining activities. Remnnore, we have an option to co-promote it
the U.S. any licensed product to treat beta-thatagsand SCD developed under the agreement, amgBiwill compensate us for such co-
promotion activities. Subject to the terms of thee@ment, we have granted Biogen an exclusiveltyelgaaring license, with the right to grant
sublicenses, to use certain ZFP and other techypaogtrolled by Sangamo for the purpose of reséagchileveloping, manufacturing and
commercializing licensed products developed undemgreement. We have also granted Biogen a ndaséxe, worldwide, royalty-free, fully
paid license, with the right to grant sublicensdgur interest in certain other intellectual prageleveloped pursuant to the agreement.

Under the agreement, we received an upfront lickesef $20.0 million and are eligible to receiva/dlopment milestone payments
upon the achievement of specified regulatory, cihdevelopment and commercialization milestonég tbtal amount of potential regulatory,
clinical development, commercialization and saléestone payments, assuming the achievement spatiified milestones in the agreement,
is $293.8 million, including Phase 1 milestone pawits of $7.5 million for each of the betamlassemia and SCD programs. In addition, we
also receive royalty payments for each licensedyxbthat are a tiered double-digit percentagenatial net sales of each product.

The Agreement may be terminated by (i) us or Bidigerthe uncured material breach of the other pdiifyus or Biogen for the
bankruptcy or other insolvency proceeding of tHeeoparty; (iii) Biogen, upon 180 days’ advancetigri notice to us and (iv) Biogen, for
certain safety reasons upon written notice to,aftet consultation with, us. As a result, actualifa milestone payments could be lower than
the amounts stated above.

Collaboration and License Agreement with Shire Imtetional GmbH (formerly Shire AG) in Human Therapgics and Diagnostics

In January 2012, we entered into a collaboratiahlamense agreement with Shire, pursuant to whietave collaborating to research,
develop and commercialize human therapeutics aaghdstics based on our ZFP technology. Under theeatent, the two companies may
develop potential human therapeutic or diagnostidpcts for seven gene targets. The initial fouregergets are blood clotting Factors VI,
VIII, IX and X, and products developed for suchtisdigene targets would be used for treating ogulising hemophilia. In June 2012, Shire
selected a fifth gene target for the developmerat 8FP therapeutic for treating HD. Shire has ifkty subject to certain limitations, to
designate two additional gene targets. Pursudtietagreement, we have granted Shire an exclusiwdg-wide, royalty-bearing license, with
the right to grant sublicenses, to use our ZFPrtelclgy for the purpose of developing and commeimied human therapeutic and diagnostic
products for the gene targets.

The initial research term of the agreement is siarg and is subject to extensions upon mutual agneeand under other specified
circumstances. We are responsible for all reseaetiities through the submission of an IND or Epgan Clinical Trial Application (CTA),
while Shire is responsible for clinical developmant commercialization of products generated frioenresearch program from and after the
acceptance of an IND or CTA for the product. Shéienburses us for agreed upon internal and exteesalrch program-related costs.

Under the agreement, we received an upfront liceeesef $13.0 million. In addition, for each geaeget, we are eligible to receive
$33.5 million in payments upon the achievementpeicfied research, regulatory, clinical developnraitestones, as well as $180 million in
payments upon the achievement of specified comederaiion and sales milestones. The total amoupbténtial milestone payments for each
of the seven gene targets, assuming the achievarhahtspecified milestones in the Agreement,24%5 million. The milestone payments for
each gene target through the acceptance of an INIXA submission total $8.5 million. We will alseaeive royalty payments that are a tierec
double-digit percentage of net sales of producteld@ed under the
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collaboration. In the third quarter of 2014 we iieed a $1.0 million milestone payment from Shirkated to toxicology studies for our
hemophilia B program.

The agreement may be terminated by (i) us or Simnehole or in part, for the uncured material loteaf the other party, (ii) us or Shire
for the bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedihthe other party and (iii) Shire, in its entirebeginning 24 months after the effective dat
the agreement upon 90 days’ advance written ndticaddition, Shire may terminate the agreemertt vaspect to an individual gene target at
any time, and under certain circumstances may datg replacement gene target for a terminatee @eget. As a result, actual future
milestone payments could be lower than the amaiated above.

Strategic Partnerships in Non Therapeutic Applicatons of the Technology

Agreement with Sigm-Aldrich Corporation in Laboratory Research ReagentTransgenic Animal and Commercial Protein Prodian
Cell-line Engineering

In July 2007, we entered into a license agreeméhtSigma. Under the license agreement, we ageedolvide Sigma with access to
our proprietary ZFP technology and the exclusigéatrio use the technology to develop and commézeiatsearch reagents products and
services in the research field, excluding certgiricaltural research uses that we previously lieent® DAS. Under the agreement, we and
Sigma agreed to conduct a three-year researchagmoigr develop laboratory research reagents using R technology during which time we
assisted Sigma in connection with its efforts takmtand sell services employing our technologtharesearch field. We transferred the ZFP
manufacturing technology to Sigma.

In October 2009, we expanded the license agreewinSigma. In addition to the original terms oétlicense agreement, Sigma
received exclusive rights to develop and distritdf€-modified cell lines for commercial productiohprotein pharmaceuticals and certain
ZFP-engineered transgenic animals for commercigliggtions. Under the terms of the agreement, Sigrade an upfront cash payment of
$20.0 million, consisting of a $4.9 million purcleasf 636,133 shares of our common stock, valu&d & million, and a $15.1 million upfront
license fee. Under the terms of the agreement,ravelaible to receive commercial license fees®mD3nillion based on a percentage of net
sales and sublicensing revenue and thereaftenageddoyalty rate of 10.5% of net sales and sufditgy revenue. During the term of the
license agreement, Sigma is obligated to pay ugnmim annual payments, a share of certain reveragesved by Sigma from sublicensees
royalty payments on the sale of licensed produntksservices. Sigma also has the right to sublicéms@FP technology for research
applications and we will receive 50% of any subigiag revenues in the first two years and 25% gfsblicensing revenues thereafter. We
retain the sole right to use and license our ZERrtelogy for GMP production purposes, for the paigin of materials used in or administered
to humans, and for any other industrial commenesal. In addition, upon the achievement of certamuwative commercial milestones Sigma
will make milestone payments to us up to an agdeegb$25.0 million. The agreements may be ternaithdty Sigma at any time with a 90-day
notice or by either party upon an uncured matéri@hch of the other party. As a result, actualriutailestone payments could be lower than
the amounts stated above. In the event of any textion, all rights to use our ZFP technology wélvert to us, and Sigma will no longer be
permitted to practice our ZFP technology or to dgwer, except in limited circumstances, commeingaany products derived from our ZFP
technology.

Other Programs and Partners in Transgenic Animal difCommercial Protein Production Cell-line Engineery

Prior to our agreement with Sigma, we marketedzét® TF and ZFN technology and intellectual propértgroducts and areas outside
ZFP Therapeutics directly to the pharmaceuticallziintechnology industry. We established agreemiendsl! line engineering for
pharmaceutical protein production with Genentedhiarthe development of transgenic animals with Ol®noclonal Technology, Inc.
(OMT) and F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and HoffmannRache Inc. (collectively, Roche).

Genentech has continuing obligations to pay usnania technology access fee and, for each produetidped by Genentech contain
a protein expressed by the modified cell line @éatsing our ZFN technology, aggregate milestoryengats of up to $5.4 million upon
achievement of specified milestones relating todeelopment and commercialization of such products

For any given OMT product, OMT has the right to lmuy its future royalty payment obligations unde ticense agreement by paying a
lump sum fee to us. Roche will pay milestone paythapon the achievement of certain clinical develept milestones relating to products
produced under such commercial license, and logieidigit royalties on sales of such products. aggregate milestone payments for
therapeutic products will not exceed $5.8 millibnf the diagnostics milestone payments are notasitpicapped. Under the research and
license agreement, on a product-by-product basish&has the right to buy out its future royaltymant obligations by paying specified fixed
amounts.

Agreement with Dow AgroSciences in Plant Agriculi

We and our collaborators have shown that ZFNs dfel ZFs can be used to regulate and modify genglaus. The ability to regulate
gene expression with engineered ZFP TFs may letitetoreation of new plants that increase cropgidbwer production
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costs and are more resistant to herbicides, pdsticand plant pathogens, which could permit theldement of branded agricultural products
with unique nutritional and processing charactesstin addition, ZFNs may be used to facilitate #ificient and reproducible generation of
transgenic plants.

In October 2005, we entered into an exclusive coriakicense with DAS. Under this agreement, wevited DAS with access to our
proprietary ZFP technology and the exclusive righise the technology to modify the genomes or #itnucleic acid or protein expressior
plant cells, plants, or plant cell cultures. We énastained rights to use plants or plant-derivextipcts to deliver ZFNs and ZFP TFs into
humans or animals for diagnostic, therapeutic roplpylactic purposes. Our agreement with DAS preditbr an initial three-year research
term. In June 2008, DAS exercised its option urtderagreement to obtain a commercial license tgsadiucts incorporating or derived from
plant cells generated using our ZFP technologyuding agricultural crops, industrial products giant-derived biopharmaceuticals.

We agreed to supply DAS and its sublicensees wiiNsZand ZFP TFs for both research and commerogabuer the initial three year
period of the agreement and have amended and exéehid provision. The agreement also providesrfimimum sublicense fees each year
to us every October, provided the agreement isemotinated by DAS. Annual fees range from $250@0$3.0 million and total $25.3 million
over 11 years. Furthermore, DAS has the right isense our ZFP technology to third parties fog irsplant cells, plants, or plant cell
cultures, and we will be entitled to 25% of anylcasensideration received by DAS under such subdieenWe do not have any performance
obligations with respect to the sublicensing atiigito be conducted by DAS. DAS has the righetminate the agreement at any time;
accordingly, our actual sublicense fees over tha t&f the agreement could be lower than $25.3 amillin addition, each party may terminate
the agreement upon an uncured material breacteaigteement by the other party. In the event oftamyination of the agreement, all right
use our ZFP technology will revert to us, and DA mo longer be permitted to practice our ZFP tadgy or to develop or, except in limit
circumstances, commercialize any products derivath our ZFP technology.

Funding from Research Foundations
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine

In October 2009, CIRM granted a $14.5 million Dsedeam Research Award to develop an HIV therapgdan the application of
ZFN genome editing technology in HSCs. The foumrygant supports an innovative research projecticoted by a multidisciplinary team of
investigators, including investigators from the uiity of Southern California, City of Hope Nat&@dMedical Center and Sangamo
BioSciences. Through December 31, 2014, we hawsved total funding of $5.2 million, which is thetal amount awarded to us as prescri
in the agreement. The award was intended to suirtariund our research and development efforlateel to the agreement. The State of
California has the right to receive, subject totdmens and conditions of the agreement, paymeats frs or our collaborators, resulting from
sales of a commercial product resulting from reseand development efforts supported by the graitio exceed two times the amount we
receive in funding under the agreement with CIRM.

In May 2013, CIRM granted us a $6.4 million Strategartnership Award to develop a potentially ceaZFP Therapeutic for beta-
thalassemia based on the application of our ZFM@enediting technology in HSCs. The four year gmovides matching funds for
preclinical work that will support an IND applicati and a Phase 1 clinical trial in transfusion-aeleat betehalassemia patients which will
carried out at Children’s Hospital & Research Ceftekland, and City of Hope in collaboration witlirgoartner in this program, Biogen. The
State of California has the right to receive, sabje the terms and conditions of the agreementdsn us and CIRM, payment from us, or our
collaborators, from sales of a commercial prodastitting from research and development efforts stpg by grants, in accordance with Title
17, California Code of Regulations, Section 100600.

In May 2014, CIRM agreed to fund a $5.6 milliongégic Partnership Award to fund clinical studiés potentially curative ZFP
Therapeutic for HIV/AIDS based on the applicatidroor ZFN genome editing technology in HSPCs. T fyear grant provides matching
funds to support evaluation of our stem cell-bag€g Therapeutic in a clinical trial in HIV-infecteddividuals conducted at City of Hope.

ACQUISITION OF CEREGENE

In October 2013, we acquired Ceregene, a privételg biotechnology company focused on the developmiEAAV gene therapies,
pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger (thegbteAgreement). The acquired assets include &@llesegene’s therapeutic programs,
including CERE-110, an AA\NGF for the treatment of AD that is currently ifPhase 2 clinical trial. In addition to the clinigalsets acquire
we acquired certain intellectual property rightsitiag to the manufacturing of AAV, and certainitidogy data and safety and efficacy data
from Ceregene’s human clinical trials, which wid bsed in the preparation and filing of IND apgiizas for ourin vivo ZFP Therapeutics,
particularly those that target the brain.
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Under the Merger Agreement, the aggregate congiderpaid by us at closing consisted of 100,000eshaf our common stock, with
approximate fair value of $1.2 million. In additiome may be required to make contingent earnpayments to the stockholders of Cerege
follows:

. If we grant a third-party license to develop anchatercialize Ceregene’s CERE-110 for the treatm&ADbor CERE-120 for
the treatment of Parkinson’s diseases or HD (the-BEaut Products), we are required to pay a doulgé-plercentage of any
upfront and milestone payments we receive for $igelnse, subject to certain reductions based orresgs incurred by us in the
development of the Ea-Out Products; an

. If we commercialize any Earn-Out Product ourselvesare required to pay, for each Earn-Out Produowglty-like payments
as a percentage of net sales that range in thedolwle-digits depending upon the amount of netssalgbject to certain
reductions by us

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND TECHNOLOGY LICENSES

Patents and licenses are important to our busi@assstrategy is to file or license patent appiaad to protect technology, inventions
and improvements to inventions that we consideitgmt for the development of our technology. Weksgatent protection and licenses that
relate to our technology and candidates in ourlipipend/or may be important to our future. We hfileel numerous patents and patent
applications with the United States Patent and 8ireatk Office (USPTO) and foreign jurisdictions. proprietary intellectual property
includes methods relating to the design of zingdin TALE (Transcription activator-like effector)gteins and CRISPR (Clustered Regularly
Interspaced Short Palindromic Repeats)/Cas editistems, therapeutic applications of genome edi@ngnology, enabling technologies
related to our platform and the use of genomeregldicross a variety of applications. We rely owmmlgination of patent, copyright, trademark,
proprietary know—how, continuing technological imations, trade secret laws, as well as confidettiabreements, materials transfer
agreements, research agreements and licensingragmes, to establish and protect our proprietarytsig

Technology Licenses

We have licensed intellectual property directethtodesign, selection, and use of ZFPs, ZFNs aii 45 for genome editing and gene
regulation from the Massachusetts Institute of Tiebbgy, Johnson & Johnson, The Scripps Researtituties Harvard University, the Medic
Research Council, the California Institute of Teaogy, City of Hope and the University of Utah. Bledicenses grant us rights to make, use
and sell ZFPs, ZFNs and ZFP TFs under 12 familigmtent filings. As of February 4, 2015, theseepafilings have resulted in 20 issued L
patents and 50 granted foreign patents, with 4eatiyr pending U.S. patent applications and 10 pendpplications in foreign patent offices.

We believe that these in-licensed patents and papmatications include several of the early andantgnt patent filings directed at the
design, selection, composition and use of ZFPs, &M ZFP TFs, particularly the agreements witiMhssachusetts Institute of Technology,
Johnson & Johnson and The Scripps Research lestitut

We have licensed intellectual property directethtocomposition of two AAV vectors (AAV5 and AAV®&om the National Institute of
Health and the University of Washington, respedgivEhe AAV5 license from the National Institute Id€alth is a nonexclusive license that
will expire in 2021. The AAV6 license from the Ueissity of Washington is also a non-exclusive ligeand will expire in 2017. Additionally,
Sangamo has licensed intellectual property from\tagonal Institutes of Health (NIH) relating to theds of production of production of
AAV. This license will expire in 2021.

Johns Hopkins University

We entered into a license agreement with the Jblopgins University, or JHU, on June 29, 1995, dsssquently amended, whereby
JHU granted us a worldwide exclusive license thnetogy and patents relating to nuclease and gegeting technology for all fields of use,
including the right to sublicense. This licenseesgment was terminated in August 2014.

Massachusetts Institute of Technolog

We entered into a patent license agreement withvidiesachusetts Institute of Technology, or MIT May 9, 1996, as subsequently
amended, whereby MIT granted us a worldwide exetiBtcense to technology and patents relating ¢odisign, selection and use of ZFPs for
all fields of use, including the right to sublicent/nder the patent license agreement, we areatbtigo pay an annual license fee, low single-
digit royalties of product sales, an up-front soéfise and annual sublicense fees, a percentaggesobiicense revenues, and milestone
payments upon achievement of certain commercialdpment milestones. The aggregate milestone pagnueder the patent license
agreement are $450,000, of which $150,000 has jp&ieln The patent license agreement expires upoexgieation of the last patent covered
by the patent license agreement. Based on currissthed patents and currently filed patent apptioat the patent license agreement will
terminate on or about September 23, 2025. MIT reayinate the license
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agreement upon a material default by us that resnaicured following written notice. We may termaéte license agreement at any time
upon six months’ written notice.

Johnson & Johnson

We entered into a sublicense agreement with Joh&slmhnson on May 9, 1996, whereby Johnson & Jamgsanted us a worldwide
exclusive sublicense to technology and patentthforesearch, development and commercializatidruofan and animal therapeutic and
diagnostic products using engineered ZFPs, inctuthie right to sublicense. These patents wererilgi exclusively licensed by Johnson &
Johnson from The Scripps Research Institute. Utsesublicense agreement, we will pay low singtgtdbyalty payments based upon sales
of license products by us or our sublicensees andestone payment upon the achievement of a cocialetevelopment milestone. The
sublicense agreement expires upon the expiratidineofast patent covered by the sublicense agree®ased on currently issued patents and
currently filed patent applications, the subliceagezsement will terminate on or about June 5, 20@Bnson & Johnson has the right to
terminate the sublicense agreement upon a breaséfault by us that remains uncured following verithotice of such default. We may
terminate the sublicense agreement at any time spondays’ written notice.

The Scripps Research Institute

We entered into a license agreement with The Serfifgsearch Institute on March 14, 2000, as subadg@nended, whereby The
Scripps Research Institute granted us a worldwkdtusive license to technology and patents forrésearch, development and
commercialization of products and services usirgjrexered ZFPs, excluding the use of these engide##®'s in plant agriculture, therapeutics
and diagnostics. Under the license agreement, &veeguired to pay a low-single digit royalty onesabf licensed products by us and our
sublicensees, subject to an annual minimum. Tleadie agreement expires upon the expiration offtephtent covered by the license
agreement. Based on currently issued patents anehtly filed patent applications, the license &gnent will terminate on or about June 5,
2018. Each party may terminate the license agreeupam a material default by the other party tleatains uncured following written notice.

Sangamo Intellectual Property

In addition to our in-licensed patent portfolio,ddebruary 4, 2015, we had 133 families of Sarm@mned or co-owned patent filings,
including 120 issued U.S. patents, 437 granteddorpatents, 90 pending U.S. patent applications4a® pending foreign patent applications.
These patent filings are directed to the desigmpmsition and use of ZFPs, ZFNs, ZFP TFs and TAtdigins. Sangamo’s acquisition of
Ceregene’s patent estate has also brought patiagsfrelating to AAV, needle technology and spieaifiethods of treating diseases of the CN
and ocular diseases. The Sangamo Ceregene patantresyv comprises 6 patent families, comprisings$ded U.S. patents, 26 issued foreigr
patents, 1 pending U.S. Patent applications aneh8ipg foreign patent applications.

The earliest patents in our portfolio are set tgithexpiring in 2015, with the average expiratidroor currently issued patents expiring
being mid-2023. However, these patents in our pliotinay be subject to Patent Term Adjustment (dugelays in patent prosecution by the
USPTO), Patent Term Extension (due to review cdtemted product by a regulatory agency) or terndisdlaimer. Additionally, patents that
may be issued from our pending applications witker the patent exclusivity of our patent estatecokdingly, all dates given above for paten
expirations are estimates and the actual datespafadions may differ.

We believe that our licensed patents and patedicapipns, as well as the issued Sangamo patedipamding Sangamo patent
applications, in the aggregate, will provide ushwédtsubstantial intellectual property position im oommercial development of ZFP
technology. In this regard, patents issued to pglied for by us, or exclusively and non-exclusp/étensed to us, cover the following types of
inventions, processes and products:

« ZFP and ZFN design, engineered nucleases, and csitigts: includes DNA target site selection and zinc fingerding
domain design and nuclease domain design (see nesulgd US8771986), DNA nickases (see newly istlfir03489), target
site arrays, ZFP libraries databases and methodsnstruction, as well as methods to increasefiiger binding specificity,
nuclease activity (see newly issued US8772008 &B@l/1d2009), linker designs (see newly issued US8&3)24nd methods of
making modified plant zinc finger proteir

«  ZFP targeted regulation of endogenous gemasthods relating to activation and inhibition oflegenous cellular genes,
identification of accessible regions within chromaand regulation of endogenous plant ge

o  ZFP TherapeuticsTreatment of Huntington’s disease (see newly issl©8841260), cancer therapeutics, treatment of hadd
neck cancer, glioblastoma, pain (see newly issdé6367), modulation of cardiac contractility andtihoels to regulate the
glucocorticoid receptor, treatments for HIV (see8268618 and US patent publication US20120294¢
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o ZFN TherapeuticsTreatments for HIV (see newly issued EP24472793%8871905), SCD and beta-thalassemia , In Vivo
Protein Replacement Platform for treatment of hemi@pand lysosomal storage diseases (see patéticaton US
20130177983 and 20140017212), genome editing @ab/mssued US8524500, US8349810 and US8409861detndor
Parkinson’s Disease (see US patent publication W&2092301), regulation of the expression of PDiléck PD1-dependent
immune suppression in both chronic infectious diseand malignancies (see newly issued US8563

. Nor-Therapeutic Applications of ZFPklentification of genes, analysis of gene regutgtgiructure and biological function,
methods of agricultural biotechnology, methodsltdring cellular differentiation state, and methadisntroducing exogenous
nucleic acids of interest into a safe harbor lo

. Nor-Therapeutic Applications of ZFNBlethods for identification of regulatory DNA seques, prediction of patient response
to drug therapeutics, and development of cell lfioesmproved protein production , (see newly issWsS8772025)

. Donor DNA designMethods for designing optimal donors for transgdelkévery (see newly issued EP2281050 and US
8936936);

o  TALE protein methods of design and (s&e newly issued US8912138); and
. Methods of use with stem ce(see newly issued US8735153).

We have been advised that certain aspects of canééogy can give us and our collaborators indepeoe from third party patent
claims to gene sequences. In general, under USliags patent law, a patent may be obtained fonanyand useful process, machine,
manufacture, or composition of matter. An undeyiheme of U.S. patent law, as related to bioteldyyo is that the sequence of a gene, as i
exists in the chromosome, is not new, even wheryndiscovered, unless it is isolated or modifieaifrits normal chromosomal context. As a
result, patent courts have held that a DNA sequancst be purified, isolated or modified to be p#béfe. Accordingly, U.S. patent claims to
DNA sequences can cover only isolated, purifiechodified nucleic acid sequences (e.g., a purifidADragment or a DNA sequence insel
into a vector). We have been advised that U.Snpataims to DNA sequences do not, and cannot,rageee sequences as they exist in their
natural chromosomal environment, and internatipaéént law is even more stringent than U.S. pdsewin this regard. Most current methods
for over-expression of a gene or protein involve ititroduction into a cell of a vector containin@sA encoding the protein to be over-
expressed. Since such a vector contains isolatpeeaees which encode the protein, it would be @by any patent claims to those
sequences. In contrast, our methods for over-esioresitilize ZFP TFs that target endogenous geséisey exist in the chromosome. As a
result, our gene regulation methods do not regbeause of isolated DNA sequences encoding theiprtd be oveexpressed and, our coun
has advised us, do not infringe patent claims th sequences. Notwithstanding this advice, wezedliat others could take a contrary pos|
that could result in litigation. While we believeat we would prevail in any such litigation, thecartainties involved in litigation generally
make it impossible to provide assurance as to ltimaate outcome of such matters. SRésk Factors—Because it is difficult and costly to
protect our proprietary rights, and third partiesave filed patent applications that are similar tors, we cannot ensure the propriet:
protection of our technologies and produ”

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldyy firms, including our patent position, are artain and involve complex legal
and factual questions for which important legaktsrare largely unresolved. Patent applications madyesult in the issuance of patents an
coverage claimed in a patent application may beifségntly reduced before a patent is issued. Altiftowe have filed for patents on some
aspects of our technology, we cannot provide assesthat patents will be issued as a result sktipending applications or that any patent
that has been or may be issued will be upheld.l&le of some foreign countries may not protectgroprietary rights to the same extent a
the laws of the United States. Our issued US pal&&153399 has emerged from a re-examination puweeglith minor claim modifications.
In addition, an opposition has recently been fflmdour issued European patent EP2281050. We dknoat what the outcome of this
procedure will be. The claims of this patent mayabeended such that claim scope is reduced or teatpaay be revoked as a result of this
procedure.

In the future, third parties may assert patentydgpt trademark, and other intellectual propeights to technologies that are important
to our business. Any claims asserting that our petslinfringe or may infringe proprietary rightstbfrd parties, if determined adversely to us,
could significantly harm our business. SBésk Factors—Because it is difficult and costlypimtect our proprietary rights, and third parties
have filed patent applications that are similaraiars, we cannot ensure the proprietary protectibour technologies and products.”
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Estimated Licensing and Other Contingent Expenses

If we are successful in the development and comiadezation of our products, we will be obligated byr license agreements to make
sublicensing, milestone and royalty payments toesomall of the licensors mentioned above, inclgdgayments due pursuant to the
acquisition of Ceregene. We plan to continue terge and generate intellectual property interralyering the design, selection, composition
and use of ZFPs; the genes encoding these proteeapplication of ZFPs, ZFNs and ZFP TFs in ZFerapeutics; and non-therapeutic
applications of the technology including applicasan research and plant agriculture, and intelkdgbroperty relating to TALE design and (

COMPETITION

We, and our licensed partners, are the leadeteinesearch, development, and commercializati@N\o& binding proteins for genome
editing and regulation of gene expression. We a@ra of several companies focused on other metlooesliting genes and regulating gene
expression and a limited number of commercial araiamic groups pursuing the development of ZFP gegaation and genome editing
technology. The field of applied gene regulatiod ganome editing is highly competitive and we expeenpetition to persist and intensify in
the future from a number of different sources,udahg pharmaceutical, agricultural, and biotechggloompanies; academic and research
institutions; and government agencies that wilkdeedevelop ZFPs as well as technologies thatagithpete with our ZFP technology
platform, such as TALE proteins and the CRISPR/Ggs®em.

Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtajnpatent protection, receiving FDA approval, omegercializing ZFP Therapeutics
or other competitive products before us. If we caanoe commercial product sales, we may be compatjagst companies with greater
marketing and manufacturing capabilities, areasgtiith we have limited or no experience. In additiany product candidate that we
successfully develop may compete with existing potsithat have long histories of safe and effeaise

Although we are in the clinical development phakep®rations and have no current therapeutic prioskles, we believe the following
companies, products and/or technologies may palgntie competitive with our technology or our puets under development:

. Small molecules in development from both in-housgdliscovery programs of pharmaceutical compasues as Pfizer, Inc.,
GlaxoSmithKline (GSK), Novartis, Merck & Co., Inas well as from biotechnology companies with etiperand capabilities
in small molecule discovery and development sucBiesad and Genzym

. Monoclonal antibody companies and product cand&ifiiten certain biotechnology firms such as Gendntew. and Amgen.

. Protein pharmaceuticals under development at phaeuatial and biotechnology companies such as Pigzetter, Bayer, Novo
Nordisk, Genzyme, Shire, BioMarin, Biogen, Acceleend numerous other pharmaceutical and biotecgpdions.

. Gene therapy companies developing gene-based gsadudinical trials. uniQure’s product for lipagein lipase deficiency
(LPLD) was recently approved in Europe but no offreducts have yet been approved. Our competibaitsis category may
include but not be limited to uniQure, BioMarinubbird bio, RegenX, Asklepios and Spe

. Cell therapy companies developing cell-based prsd@ur competitors in this category may includevéttis, Adaptimmune,
bluebird bio, Cellectis SA, Juno Therapeutics, Kterma and Lion Biotechnologit

. Nuclease technologies, under development for tieetapapplications of genome modification includoc@mpanies such
Editas Medicine, CRISPR Therapeutics, Caribou Bie&mes and Intellia Therapeutics developing theSFHR/Cas9 system,
Cellectis SA developing TALE nucleases and megaasas, bluebird developing Homing EndonucleasedfayaTALs and
Precision BioSciences, Inc. that is developing megkeases

« Antisense therapeutics and RNA interference tedgylincluding RNAi and microRNA, which are techogies that may
compete with ZFP Therapeutics in the developmenbetl therapeutic products acting through the letgn of gene
expression. These technologies are being develmpsdveral companies including Alnylam Pharmacaigijdnc., Isis
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Genzyme (a Sanofi Compamy)Regulus Therapeutics, LL

We expect to face intense competition from othenganies for collaborative arrangements with phasutcal and biotechnology
companies; for establishing relationships with @raid and research institutions; and for licensqwéprietary technology. These competitors,
either alone or with their collaborative partnemsy succeed in developing technologies or prodhetsare more effective or less costly than
ours.
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Our ability to compete successfully will dependpart, on our ability to:
. develop safe, efficacious and commercially attv@cfiroprietary products;
. obtain access to gene transfer technology on coniatigrreasonable terms;
. obtain required regulatory approvals;
. attract and retain qualified scientific and proddetelopment personnel;

. enter into collaborative and strategic partnershijlk others, including our competitors, to devetap technology and product
candidates

. obtain and enforce patents, licenses or other @@py protection for our products and technologies
. formulate, manufacture, market and sell any prothattwe develop; and

. develop and maintain products that reach the mdirketand are technologically superior to or aféoaver cost than other
products in the marke

GOVERNMENT REGULATION

The research, testing manufacturing and marketifgiman therapeutics are extensively regulatetiérlinited States and the rest of the
world.

Before marketing in the United States, any therdapeu pharmaceutical products we develop must tgwlegorous preclinical testing
(generally conducted in animals) and clinical &i@ humans and an extensive regulatory clearammegs implemented by the FDA under the
federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act. The FDA retgdaamong other things, the development, testiragpufacture, safety, efficacy, record
keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertismgmotion, sale and distribution of biopharmaceltfroducts. The regulatory review and
approval process, which includes preclinical tegtind clinical trials of each product candidatdergthy, expensive and uncertain. Securing
FDA approval requires the submission of extensieelmical and clinical data and supporting infotima including manufacturing informatic
and stability data to the FDA for each indicatiorestablish a product candidate’s safety and efficihe approval process takes many years,
requires the expenditure of substantial resouings|ves post-marketing surveillance and may ineawvgoing requirements for post-
marketing studies.

Before commencing clinical investigations in humanthe United States, we must carry out precliniesting. In addition, our propos:
clinical studies that are conducted at a clinigal that carries out NIH-sponsored research reqewview from the Recombinant DNA Advisory
Committee (RAC), which is the advisory board to Mi&l, focusing on clinical trials involving geneatrsfer. We typically submit a proposed
clinical protocol and other product-related infotioa to the RAC three to six months prior to th@eosted IND application filing date.

Preclinical tests include laboratory and animatiigs to evaluate product characteristics, potentifdty and efficacy. The results of tt
studies must be submitted to the FDA as part dN&hApplication, which must be reviewed by the FbAfore proposed clinical testing in
humans can begin. The FDA has 30 days to commetiteoapplication and if the agency has no commergyr our clinical partner may
begin clinical trials.

Clinical trials are lengthy and are typically coothd in three sequential phases, but the phase®wealap or be combined. At each
stage of testing, the proposed clinical protocoshing reviewed by the FDA and reviewed and apprdwyeah independent ethics committee or
institutional review board of each participatingitas before it can begin. Phase 1 usually invotkiesnitial introduction of the investigational
drug into small numbers of healthy volunteers digpés to evaluate certain factors, including @&fety and dose tolerance. Phase 2 usually
involves trials in a limited patient populationgwaluate dosage tolerance and appropriate dosbgeify possible adverse effects and safety
risks, and evaluate preliminary efficacy of theglfar specific indications. Phase 3 trials usuéligher evaluate clinical efficacy and test
further for safety by using the drug in its finahin in an expanded patient population. Phase Baridls must be registered in a government
database of clinical trials. Later clinical triatgy fail to support the findings of earlier trialghich can delay, limit or prevent regulatory
approvals. We filed a Phase 1 clinical protocolriariew by the RAC in the fourth quarter of 2004,IND application in January 2005, and
Phase 2 protocols for review by the FDA in 2008)28nd 2009 for our first product candidate, SB;568the potential treatment of diabetic
neuropathy. In addition, in 2008 we filed an INDphpation for SB-509 for the treatment of ALS. 188, we also filed an IND for our HIV
program using SB-728-T, as well as Phase 1 andePtidlinical protocols for review by the RAC fbis program. In October 2010 and
January 2012 we initiated Phase 1/2 clinical tréeild a Phase 2 trial of this ZFP Therapeutic ifesib infected with HIV. In 2014, we filed .
IND application for SB-728mR-T to expand our HI\bgram using mRNA for gene delivery to T-cells exoyian IND application for use of
our ZFP Therapeutic for HIV in HSPCs using mRNAidely and an IND and RAC submission for SB-BCLmMRRES using mRNA gene
delivery to HSPCs, for beta-thalassemia.
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As part of the acquisition of Ceregene, we acquénedl assumed sponsorship of two INDs on file at FaérAhe use of AAV to deliver
NGF. CERE-110 is an investigational agent using AAV delivefyhuman NGF to the brain for the treatment of &l is currently being
evaluated in a fully enrolled Phase 2 clinicalltf2ERE-120 uses AAV delivery of human neurturirtie brain for treatment of Parkinson’s
disease. Subjects are undergoing long-term follpvetoservation after being treated in completed ®hand 2 studies.

The results of the preclinical and clinical testofga pharmaceutical product are submitted to DA k the form of a New Drug
Application (NDA), or a Biologic License Applicatio(BLA), for approval to commence commercial salegesponding to an NDA or a BLA,
the FDA may grant marketing approval, grant condgi approval (such as an accelerated approvgl)est additional information or deny the
application if the FDA determines that the appimatdoes not provide an adequate basis for apprd@dt research and development projects
fail to produce data sufficiently compelling to éfeprogression through all of the stages of dgyakent and to obtain FDA approval for
commercial sale. See als@Ur potential therapeutic products are subject temgthy and uncertain regulatory process, and veg encounte
unanticipated toxicity or adverse events or faitlEmonstrate efficacy, causing us to delay, suspeterminate the development of a ZFP
Therapeutic. If these potential products are nqtraged, we will not be able to commercialize thosmlucts.” under “Risk Factors” below in
Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon receiving marketing atitation from the appropriate
regulatory authorities. The requirements govertirgconduct of clinical trials, marketing authotina, pricing, and reimbursement vary
widely from country to country. At present, foreigrarketing authorizations are applied for at aareti level; although, within the European
Union (EU), a centralized registration proceduravailable to companies wishing to market an “AdethTherapiesproduct in more than ol
EU member state. If the regulatory authority isspreéed with adequate evidence of safety, quality,edficacy, they will grant a marketing
authorization. This foreign regulatory approvalqass involves all of the risks associated with Fid#arance discussed above.

We have hired personnel with expertise in predihénd clinical development of therapeutic progracfisical manufacturing and
regulatory affairs to assist us in developing awgpams and obtaining appropriate regulatory apgeoas required. We also intend to work
with collaborators who have experience in clindalelopment to assist us in obtaining regulatopreyals for collaborative productSee Ris
Factor—"Our potential therapeutic products are subjeciattengthy and uncertain regulatory process, arttiélse potential products are not
approved, we will not be able to commercialize ¢hpducts and—Regulatory approval, if granted, t@yimited to specific uses or
geographic areas which could limit our ability tergerate revenue’

EMPLOYEES

As of February 1, 2015, we had 102 full-time empleg, all of whom are located at our headquarteRahmond, California. None of
our employees are represented by a collective bangaorganization or covered by a collective bamgay agreement, nor have we experier
work stoppages. We believe that our relations withemployees are good.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We were incorporated in June 1995 in the stateatare.

Sangamo can be found on the internet at http://veamgamo.com. We make available free of charger émaugh our internet site, our
annual, quarterly, and current reports and any dments to those reports filed or furnished purstasection 13(a) of the Exchange Act as

soon as reasonably practicable after we electrbyifile such material with, or furnish it to, tH#EC. Information contained in our internet site
is not part of, nor incorporated by reference itiig report.

ITEM 1A — RISK FACTORS

This Form 10-K contains forward-looking informatibased on our current expectations. Because oualaetsults may differ materially
from any forwardiooking statements made by or on our behalf, thisisn includes a discussion of important factbet tould affect our actL
future results, including, but not limited to, aevenues, expenses, net loss and loss per share.

Risks Relating to Development, Commercialization ath Regulatory Approval of our Products and Technolog

ZFP Therapeutics have undergone limited testingiomans and our ZFP Therapeutics may fail safety dtes in clinical trials.

We are conducting an on-going Phase 2 clinicdl {8B-728mR-T-1401) of our ZFP Therapeutics for tteatment of HIV/AIDS.
Preliminary data from these studies demonstratastbatment of aviremic HIV-infected subjects witB-728-T has been well-tolerated. In
addition, data from Phase 1 and several Phasai2allirials of our ZFP Therapeutic, SB-509, faaluftic
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neuropathy and ALS demonstrated that the drug vedistalerated in these studies. However, if onewfZFP Therapeutic fails one of its
safety studies, it could reduce our ability toadtmew investors and corporate partners.

All of these studies are designed primarily to eass the safety and tolerability of this ZFP Theta approach. Our clinical studies
a highly visible test of our ZFP Therapeutics andiavestors assess the value of our technologgapily based on the continued progress of
ZFP Therapeutic products into and through clinigals. If clinical trials of our ZFP Therapeuticquucts were halted due to safety concerns,
this would negatively affect our operations andvthkie of our stock.

Our progress in early Phase 1 and Phase 2 trialsymat be indicative of long-term efficacy in latéagye clinical trials.

The results in early phases of clinical testinglaaeed upon limited numbers of patients and aduhibllow-up period. Typically, our
Phase 1 clinical trials for indications of safetyal less than 25 patients. Our Phase 2 and tage<linical trials generally enroll a larger
number of patients. Accordingly, any positive dalidained in early Phase 1 and Phase 2 trials milyenimdicative of long-term efficacy in
late-stage clinical trials.

In September 2011, we announced preliminary data fsur Phase 1 clinical program to develop SB-7Z8¢The treatment of
HIV/AIDS. The data demonstrated a statisticallynifigant relationship between SB-728-T and the otidm of HIV viral load. In January
2012, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical study (SB-%928, Cohort 5) and a Phase 1/2 clinical study {8B-1101) for the treatment of HIV/AID¢
In December 2013, we presented data from all cetudrthese two clinical trials. Three of seven aable subjects in Cohort 5 showed a
decrease of greater than one log in their virad Idaring a sixteen week treatment interruption (¥ith one subject achieving a transiently
undetectable viral load during the Tl period and sanbject achieving control of their viral load itgr T1 for a prolonged period (>70 weeks as
of January 2015). In subjects in which viral loatietased, a measurable anti-HIV immune responsalaa®bserved. Additional data were
presented from the Company’s Phase 1 study (SB3028-Cohorts 1-3) that demonstrated a long-termedese in the peripheral blood
mononuclear cell (PBMC) HIV reservoir using a sémsitest for integrated HIV DNA in nine of ninelgacts over a 36 month period (median
decrease 0.9 logs). Additional subjects were esalahito the SB-728-1101 study to define the optindase of Cytoxan required to safely
enhance engraftment and an additional 12 subjests been enrolled to further test this dose inclgidiine subjects in an ongoing Phase 2
clinical trial (SB-728mR-T-1401) that is also tesfirepeat dosing of modified @ells. However, there is no guarantee that thedeotrer futur
studies of SB-728-T in later stage trials involviagger patient groups may produce positive orlsimmesults as those obtained in earlier trials

A number of companies in the pharmaceutical antebimology industries have suffered significanbaeks in late stage clinical trials
even after achieving promising results in earltags clinical trials. If a larger population of jgaits does not experience positive results, or if
these results are not reproducible, our producismoareceive approval from the FDA. Failure to foon favorable results from earlier trials
by demonstrating the safety and effectiveness pZ&® Therapeutic products in late stage clinidalg with larger patient populations could
have a material adverse effect on our businesswhald cause our stock price to decline signifigant

Our potential therapeutic products are subject tdemgthy and uncertain regulatory process, and wayrencounter unanticipated
toxicity or adverse events or fail to demonstraféoacy, causing us to delay, suspend or termin#ite development of a ZFP Therapeutic. If
these potential products are not approved, we wit be able to commercialize those products.

The FDA must approve any human therapeutic prooleiire it can be marketed in the United States.pFbeess for receiving
regulatory approval is long and uncertain, andtemal product may not withstand the rigors ofitesunder the regulatory approval
processes.

Before commencing clinical trials in humans, we traugomit an IND application to the FDA. The FDA lgsdays to comment on the
application, and if the agency has no commentsovaair commercial partner may begin clinical triddhile we have stated our intention to
file additional IND applications in the future, $his only a statement of intent, and we may naltile to do so because the associated produci
candidates may not meet the necessary preclireqairements. In addition, there can be no assuthiateonce filed, an IND application will
result in the actual initiation of clinical trial€linical trials are subject to oversight by ingtibnal review boards and the FDA. In addition, our
proposed clinical studies require review from tlec&nbinant DNA Advisory Committee (RAC), which Ieetadvisory board to the National
Institutes of Health (NIH), focusing on clinicaldis involving gene transfer. We will typically sulit a proposed clinical protocol and other
product-related information to the RAC three tormignths prior to the expected IND application filidate.

Clinical trials:

. must be conducted in conformance with the FDA'scholinical practices, within the guidelines of tiiernational Conference
on Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Reegfion of Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) atiér applicable
regulations

. must meet requirements for Institutional Review BIO@RB) oversight;
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. must follow Institutional Biosafety Committee (IB@&hd NIH RAC guidelines where applicable;
. must meet requirements for informed consent;

. are subject to continuing FDA oversight;

. may require oversight by a Data Safety Monitorirgpl (DSMB);

. may require large numbers of test subjects; and

. may be suspended by a commercial partner, the BDAs at any time if it is believed that the sut§garticipating in these
trials are being exposed to unacceptable heakhk asif the FDA finds deficiencies in the IND ajmaition or the conduct of
these trials

While we have stated our goal is to file IND apmitons for several ZFP Therapeutic programs in tfigture, we may encounter
difficulties that may delay, suspend or scale bamk efforts.

We have previously announced a strategy for our Piétapeutic programs that enables the poteniiiad fof two to four new IND
applications per year in the foreseeable futuree fireparation and submission of IND applicati@tgiires us to conduct rigorous and time-
consuming preclinical testing, studies, and docuatam relating to, among other things, the toyic#tafety, manufacturing, chemistry and
clinical protocol of new ZFP Therapeutic produtite may experience unforeseen difficulties that da@dlay or otherwise prevent us from
executing this strategy successfully. For examptemay encounter problems in the manufacturinguofZi-P Therapeutic products and fail to
demonstrate consistency in the formulation of theydOur preclinical tests may produce negativimoonclusive results, which may lead us to
decide, or regulators may require us, to conduditiatal preclinical testing. If we cannot obtaiogitive results in preclinical testing, we may
decide to abandon the projects altogether. In maigliour ability to complete and file certain INP@ications depends on the support of our
partners and the timely performance of their obigges under relevant collaboration agreementsutfgartners are not able to perform such
obligations or if they choose to slow down or dellag progress, we may not be able to prepare #nthé intended IND applications on a
timely basis or at all. Furthermore, the filingsafveral IND applications involves significant casd labor, and we may not have sufficient
resources and personnel to complete the filindlafiended IND applications, which may force ussttale back the number of IND
applications or forego potential IND applicatiohattwe believe are promising. Any delay, suspensiarduction of our efforts to pursue our
preclinical and IND strategy could have a mateadlerse effect on our business and cause our ptaekto decline.

We may not be able to find acceptable patients @yrexperience delays in enrolling patients for oclimical trials.

We may experience difficulties or delays in redngjitand enrolling a sufficient number of patiem$articipate in our clinical trials due
to a variety of reasons, including competition frother clinical trial programs for the same indicat failure of patients to meet our enrollm
criteria and premature withdraws of patients priothe completion of clinical trials. The FDA anwsiitutional review boards may also require
large numbers of patients, and the FDA may redgbimewe repeat a clinical trial. Any delay resudtimom our failure to enroll a sufficient
number of patients on a timely basis may have @nahtdverse affect on our business.

As we cannot predict whether or when we will obtaggulatory approval to commercialize our produa@rdidates, we cannot predict
the timing of any future revenue from these produzdndidates.

We cannot commercialize any of our ZFP Therapettigenerate revenue until the appropriate regojlatathorities have reviewed and
approved the applications for the product candi&latée cannot ensure that the regulatory agenciésamplete their review processes in a
timely manner or that we will obtain regulatory apgal for any product candidate that we or ouratmiirators develop. Satisfaction of
regulatory requirements typically takes many yeiardependent upon the type, complexity and nowdlthe product and requires the
expenditure of substantial resources. Regulatopyayal processes outside the United States indlld# the risks associated with the FDA
approval process. In addition, we may experientaydeor rejections based upon additional governmeguilation from future legislation or
administrative action or changes in FDA policy dgrihe period of product development, clinicall&riand FDA regulatory review.

We have limited experience in conducting clinicaials.

Our most advanced clinical programs are ongoing®Ratrials to evaluate the safety and efficacg aFP Therapeutic for HIV/AIDS
and of AAV-NGF (CERE10) for AD. However, the FDA will require additiahclinical testing which involves significantlyeater resource
commitments and expertise and so it is likely thatwould need to enter into a collaborative retship with a pharmaceutical company that
could assume responsibility for late-stage devekmmand commercialization.

We have limited experience in conducting advandieical trials and may not possess the necessapurees and expertise to complete
such trials. We have entered into collaborativeeagrents with Shire and Biogen to provide funding assistance in the development of our
ZFP Therapeutics through the clinical trial procéssder the agreement with Shire, we are respanéiblall
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activities through submission of IND applicatiomslé&European CTAs and Shire is responsible foradinilevelopment and commercialization
of products arising from the alliance. Under theeagnent with Biogen, we are responsible for akkaesh and development through the first
human clinical trial for the treatment of beta-tsemia and both parties are responsible for dsead development through the submission
of IND for ZFP Therapeutics to treat sickle ceBetse (SCD). However, there is no guarantee thatiliee able to enter into future
collaborative relationships with third parties thah provide us with the funding and expertisddter stage trials.

Regulatory approval, if granted, will be limited &pecific uses or geographic areas, which coulditiour ability to generate revenues.

Regulatory approval will be limited to the indicdtese for which we can market a product. Furtheceaegulatory approval for a
product is obtained, the product and its manufactare subject to continual review. Discovery aypously unknown problems with a product
or manufacturer may result in restrictions on thedpct, manufacturer, and manufacturing facilingliding withdrawal of the product from t
market. In Japan and Europe, regulatory agencsessait or approve prices.

Even if regulatory clearance of a product is grdntkis clearance is limited to those specificesatnd conditions for which the product
is useful, as demonstrated through clinical tridfe cannot ensure that any ZFP Therapeutic pratkwaloped by us, alone or with others, will
prove to be safe and effective in clinical triatslavill meet all of the applicable regulatory reguents needed to receive marketing clearanc
in a given country.

Outside the United States, our ability to markpt@duct is contingent upon receiving a marketinthaxization from appropriate
regulatory authorities; therefore we cannot predicether or when we would be permitted to comméreeiaur product. These foreign
regulatory approval processes include all of teksriassociated with FDA clearance described above.

Commercialization of our technologies will depenid,part, on strategic partnering with other compags. If we are not able to find
partners in the future or if our partners do not lijently pursue product development efforts, we nrat be able to develop our technolog
or products, which could slow our growth and decssathe value of our stock.

We expect to rely, to some extent, on our stratpgitners to provide funding in support of our eesh and to perform independent
research and preclinical and clinical testing. @ghnology is broad-based, and we do not currgruthsess the resources necessary to fully
develop and commercialize potential products thaey nesult from our technologies or the resourcesapabilities to complete the lengthy
marketing approval processes that may be requinetthé products. Therefore, we plan to rely ontsgia partnerships to help us develop and
commercialize ZFP Therapeutic products. If we arable to find partners or if the partners we fisulch as Shire and Biogen, are unable or
unwilling to advance our programs, or if they da ditigently pursue product approval, this may slow progress and adversely affect our
ability to generate revenues. In addition, ourmens may sublicense or abandon development programe may have disagreements or
disputes with our partners, which would cause aasst product development to slow or cease. Intaxhdithe business or operations of our
partners may change significantly through restmiety acquisition or other strategic transactiondecisions that may negatively impact their
ability to advance our programs. There can be sarasce that we will be able to establish furtheategic collaborations for ZFP Therapeutic
product development. We may require significanktiim secure collaborations or partners becauseceg to effectively market the benefits of
our technology to these future collaborators amnthpas, which may direct the attention and resaiofeur research and development
personnel and management away from our primarynbasioperations. Further, each collaboration dneang arrangement will involve the
negotiation of terms that may be unique to eaclabotator or partner. These business developméstemay not result in a collaboration or
partnership.

The loss of partnering agreements would not onlgyder terminate the potential development or comumaézation of products we may
derive from our technologies, but it may also delayerminate our ability to test ZFP Therapeutiadidates for specific genes. If any partner
fails to conduct the collaborative activities sussfally or in a timely manner, the preclinical ¢inical development or commercialization of
affected product candidates or research progranis b@ delayed or terminated.

Under typical partnering agreements, we would ekfmereceive revenue for the research and developofea ZFP Therapeutic product
based on achievement of specific milestones, asasebyalties based on a percentage of saleseafdimmercialized products. Achieving th
milestones will depend, in part, on the effort®of partner as well as our own. If we, or any partfail to meet specific milestones, then the
partnership may be terminated, which could redure@enues. For more information on risks relatmgur third party collaborative
agreements, see “Risks Relating to our Collabced®&elationships.”

We may be unable to license gene transfer techn@sghat we may need to commercialize our ZFP teclogy.
In order to regulate or modify a gene in a celt, #FP must be efficiently delivered to the cell. Wée licensed certain gene transfer
technologies for our ZFP in research including Aavd mRNA technology. We are evaluating these systamd other technologies that may

need to be used in the delivery of ZFP into celldrf vitro andin vivoapplications, including ZFP
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Therapeutics. However, we may not be able to lie¢hs gene transfer technologies required to dpvehdl commercialize our ZFP
Therapeutics. We have not developed our own gamsfier technologies, and we rely on our abilitgmeer into license agreements to provide
us with rights to the necessary gene transfer tdolgg. Our approach has been to license appropgateology as required. The inability to
obtain a license to use gene transfer technolagithsentities which own such technology on reasémabmmercial terms, if at all, could delay
or prevent the preclinical evaluation, drug devetept collaborations, clinical testing, and/or comeraization of our therapeutic product
candidates.

Our gene regulation and genome editing technologyélatively new, and if we are unable to use ttéshnology in all our intended
applications, it would limit our revenue opportumgs.

Our technology involves a relatively new approazhene regulation and genome editing. Although axelgenerated ZFPs for
thousands of gene sequences, we have not creaRsifdFall gene sequences and may not be able, dehsch could limit the usefulness of
our technology. In addition, while we have demaatsil the function of engineered ZFNs and ZFP Thsdammalian cells, yeast, insects,
plants and animals, we have not yet demonstratedall efficacy of this technology in a controlletinical trial in humans, and the failure to
so could restrict our ability to develop commelgiaiable products. If we, and our collaboratorstrategic partners, are unable to extend our
results to new commercially important genes, expenital animal models, and human clinical studiesnvay be unable to use our technology
in all its intended applications.

The expected value and utility of our ZFNs and 4R is in part based on our belief that the tarjetiting of genes or specific regulation
of gene expression may enable us to develop almeageutic approach as well as to help scientistertunderstand the role of genes in disease
and to aid their efforts in drug discovery and depment. We also believe that ZFP-mediated targgéedme editing and gene regulation will
have utility in agricultural applications. Thereoisly a limited understanding of the role of spieaifenes in all these fields. Life sciences congs
have developed or commercialized only a few praducany of these fields based on results from ganecesearch or the ability to regulate gene
expression. We, our collaborators or our stratpgitners, may not be able to use our technologdetttify and validate drug targets or to develop
commercial products in the intended markets.

Effective delivery of ZFNs and ZFP TFs into the agpiate target cells and tissues is critical ® $hccess of the therapeutic
applications of our ZFP technology. In order todavmeaningful therapeutic effect, the ZFP Therapawust be delivered to sufficient
numbers of cells in the targeted tissue. The ZFRF® TF must be present in that tissue for suffictene to effect either modification of a
therapeutically relevant gene or regulation o&itpression. In our current clinical and preclinippdgrams, we administer our ZFP
Therapeutics as a nucleic acid that encodes thedfA¥P TF. We use different formulations to delitlee ZFP Therapeutic depending on the
required duration of expression, the targeted ¢issud the indication that we intend to treat. Hosvethere can be no assurances that we w
able to effectively deliver our ZFNs and ZFP TF@toduce a beneficial therapeutic effect.

We are conducting proprietary research to disco#P Therapeutic product candidates. These prograimsrease our financial risk
of product failure, may significantly increase ouesearch expenditures, and may involve conflictshafuture collaborators and strategic
partners.

Our proprietary research programs consist of rebettiat is funded solely by us or by grant fundamgl in which we retain exclusive
rights to therapeutic products generated by suskareh. This is in contrast to certain of our regearograms that may be funded by corporat
partners in which we may share rights to any respjtroducts. Conducting proprietary research @ogr may not generate corresponding
revenue and may create conflicts with our collatmsaor strategic partners over rights to our latglial property with respect to our
proprietary research activities. Any conflict wihr collaborators or strategic partners could reduar ability to enter into future collaboratic
or partnering agreements and negatively impactelationship with existing collaborators and parsndat could reduce our revenue and d
or terminate our product development. As we comtittufocus our strategy on proprietary researchtla@dpeutic development, we expect to
experience greater business risks, expend significgreater funds and require substantial commitief time from our management and
staff.

Even if our technology proves to be effective,titl snay not lead to commercially viable products.

Even if our collaborators or strategic partnerssarecessful in using our ZFP technology in drugaliery, protein production,
therapeutic development or plant agriculture, timay not be able to commercialize the resulting petelor may decide to use other methods
competitive with our technology. To date, no comphas received marketing approval or has developedmmercialized any therapeutic or
agricultural products based on our technology. 8hour technology fail to provide safe, effectivseful or commercially viable approache:
the discovery and development of these produdtsytbuld significantly limit our business and fugugrowth and would adversely affect our
value.
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Even if our product development efforts are sucdessnd even if the requisite regulatory approvadse obtained, our
ZFP Therapeutics may not gain market acceptance amg@hysicians, patients, healthcare payers and thedical community

A number of additional factors may limit the marketeptance of our ZFP Therapeutic products inatuthe following:
. rate of adoption by healthcare practitioners;
. rate of a product’s acceptance by the target ptipata
« timing of market entry relative to competitive pumts;
. availability of alternative therapies;
. price of our product relative to alternative théesp
. availability of third-party reimbursement;
. extent of marketing efforts by us and third-pairistributors or agents retained by us; and

« side effects or unfavorable publicity concerning products or similar products.

Therefore, even after we have obtained the requégdlatory approval for our ZFP Therapeutic praduewe may not be able to
commercialize these products successfully if wenoaachieve an adequate level of market acceptance.

We currently rely on third parties to conduct soroeall aspects of manufacturing of our ZFP Therapéa product candidates for
preclinical and clinical development.If one of our third-party manufacturers fails to porm adequately or fulfill our needs, we may be
required to incur significant costs and devote sificant efforts, to find new suppliers or manufactars.

W e currently have limited experience in, and we dbawn facilities for, clinical-scale manufacturiofjour product candidates and we

rely upon third-party contract manufacturing orgarions to manufacture and supply drug producbtorpreclinical and clinical studies

The manufacture of pharmaceutical products in canpk with the FDA’s current good manufacturingatices (cGMP), requires significant
expertise and capital investment, including theefigwment of advanced manufacturing techniques amceps controls. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products often encounter difficaltreproduction, including difficulties with prodiiecn costs and yields, quality control,
including stability of the product candidate andlify assurance testing, shortages of qualifiedqanel, as well as compliance with strictly
enforced cGMP requirements, other federal and statidlatory requirements and foreign regulatioheulr manufacturers were to encounter
any of these difficulties or otherwise fail to campvith their obligations to us or under applicabdgulations, our ability to provide study drt

in our clinical studies would be jeopardized. Argfay or interruption in the supply of clinical suchaterials could delay the completion of out
clinical studies, increase the costs associatdd méintaining our clinical study programs and, dejieg upon the period of delay, require u
commence new studies at significant additional agpeor terminate the studies completely.

All manufacturers of our product candidates mushgly with cGMP requirements enforced by the FD/Aothgh its facilities inspection
program. These requirements include, among otliegshquality control, quality assurance and thénteaance of records and documentation
Manufacturers of our product candidates may be lertatcomply with these cGMP requirements and witier FDA, state and foreign
regulatory requirements. The FDA or similar forerggulatory agencies may also implement new statsdarany time, or change their
interpretation and enforcement of existing stansidod manufacture, packaging or testing of produgte have little control over our
manufacturers’ compliance with these regulatiorss standards. A failure to comply with these requieats may result in fines and civil
penalties, suspension of production, suspensiakelay in product approval, product seizure or lemalvithdrawal of product approval. If the
safety of any product supplied is compromised dueur manufacturergailure to adhere to applicable laws or for otheasons, we may not
able to obtain regulatory approval for or succdisfiommercialize our products and we may be hialdlé for any injuries sustained as a re
Any of these factors could cause a delay of clinstadies, regulatory submissions, approvals orraensialization of our product candidates,
entail higher costs or impair our reputation.

Our current agreements with our suppliers do notige for the entire supply of the drug productessary for all anticipated clinical
studies or for full scale commercialization. If wed our suppliers cannot agree to the terms anditomms for them to provide the drug product
necessary for our clinical and commercial supplgdse we may not be able to manufacture the prazhuadidate until a qualified alternative
supplier is identified, which could also delay thevelopment of, and impair our ability to commelizig our product candidates.

The number of third-party suppliers with the neaegsnanufacturing and regulatory expertise andifes is limited, and it could be
expensive and take a significant amount of timartange for alternative suppliers, which could haveaterial adverse effect on our business.
New suppliers of any product candidate would beliregl to qualify under applicable regulatory reguients and would need to have suffic
rights under applicable intellectual property laewshe method of manufacturing the product
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candidate. Obtaining the necessary FDA approvatdhar qualifications under applicable regulat@guirements and ensuring non-
infringement of thirdparty intellectual property rights could resultisignificant interruption of supply and could reguithe new manufactur
to bear significant additional costs which may keged on to us

We do not currently have the infrastructure or calpidity to manufacture, market and sell therapeutproducts on a commercial scale.

In order for us to commercialize our therapeutizdorcts directly, we would need to develop, or abthrough outsourcing arrangeme
the capability to manufacture, market and sellmroducts on a commercial scale. Currently, we ddawe the ability nor the financial
resources to establish the infrastructure and @gtons needed to execute these functions, inetusgiich infrastructure needed for the
commercialization of any product from our HIV/AIDB AD programs, which can be complex and costlydfare unable to establish adeq
manufacturing, sales, marketing and distributiopatslities, we will not be able to directly commialize our therapeutics products, which
would limit our future growth.

We may not be able to fully realize the expectedddits from the acquisition of Ceregene, Inc., atigde operation of the new business
of Ceregene, Inc. may subject us to additional "sk

In October 2013, we acquired Ceregene, includihgfals therapeutic programs and related intellatproperty and other assets.
Although we expect to realize strategic, operatiamal financial benefits as a result of the acdjoisj we cannot be certain whether, and to
what extent, such benefits will be achieved infttiare. In particular, the success of the acquisitvill depend on our ability to develop
Ceregene’s business, including the prosecutiots(ZERE-110 Phase 2 clinical trial, and to applye@ene’s technology to advance our ZFP
Therapeutics. There is no guarantee that any egisind future clinical trials of Ceregene’s prodeemdidates, including CERE-110 for the
treatment of AD, will produce positive results, dadure to do so may adversely affect our abitdayalidate the AAV delivery technology and
apply such technology to our ZFP products as veeliegatively impact our stock price. In April 20C%regene reported that its top line data
for the CERE-120 Phase 2b clinical trial for Paskin's disease did not demonstrate statisticallyifsaant efficacy in the primary endpoint. In
November 2013, we presented early positive data fPhase 1 clinical trial of CEF-110 demonstrating that the drug was well-tolerated
resulted in appropriate delivery of the therapeutiowever, even if we obtain positive data fromtsalinical trials, there is no guarantee that
the AAV delivery technology can be applied to otFZTherapeutics safely and effectively.

The acquisition of Ceregene also subjects us tdgiaddl operational and financial risks, includitige following:

. additional costs that we may need to incur in otderonduct and complete Ceregene’s therapeutgranas, including the
CERE-110 Phase 2 clinical trial, and to comply with negulatory requirement

. difficulties acquiring and developing the necessapertise to continue the development of AAV taibgies and other
acquired assets of Cerege

. difficulties in coordinating research and developirextivities;
. uncertainties in the business relationships withomliaborators and suppliers due to the acquisitio

. lack of previous experiences in conducting Phasi&l of a gene therapy based on AAV vector dejisystem.

Risks Relating to our Industry
If our competitors develop, acquire, or market tegilogies or products that are more effective thamrs, this would reduce or
eliminate our commercial opportunity.

Any products that we or our collaborators or sgat@artners develop by using our ZFP technologgf@tm will enter into highly
competitive markets. Even if we are able to gereZ&tP Therapeutics that are safe and effectivéhir intended use, competing technologies
may prove to be more effective or less expensivechy to the extent these competing technologibg&ae market acceptance, will limit our
revenue opportunities. In some cases, competifgntdagies have proven to be effective and lessresipe. Competing technologies may
include other methods of regulating gene expressianodifying genes. ZFNs and ZFP TFs have broafiGgiion in the life sciences industry
and compete with a broad array of new technologinesapproaches being applied to genetic researaiieby companies. Competing
proprietary technologies with our product developtrfecus include but are not limited to:

. For ZFP Therapeutics:
« small molecule drugs;
« monoclonal antibodies;

« recombinant proteins;
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« gene therapy/cDNAs;
« antisense;
« siRNA and microRNA approaches, exon skipping;
« CRISPR/Cas9 technology;
o TALE proteins and MegaTALs; and
« meganucleases.
. For our Non-Therapeutic Applications:

»  For protein productiongene amplification, meganucleases, TALE technolotgylator technology, mini-
chromosomes and CRISPR/Cas9 technol

«  For target validation:antisense, siRNA, TALE technology and CRISPR/Cas#rology;

« For plant agriculture:recombination approaches, mutagenesis approackgsnmucleases, TALE technology,
CRISPR/Cas9 technology, m-chromosomes; ar

«  For transgenic animalssomatic nuclear transfer, embryonic stem cell, TACRISPR/Cas9 technology and
transposase technologi

In addition to possessing competing technologiescompetitors include pharmaceutical and biotetdgyocompanies with:
«  substantially greater capital resources than ours;
. larger research and development staffs and faslttian ours; and

. greater experience in product development and tailming regulatory approvals and patent protection.

These organizations also compete with us to:
. attract qualified personnel;
. attract parties for acquisitions, joint ventureotrer collaborations; and

. license the proprietary technologies of academitrasearch institutions that are competitive with technology, which may
preclude us from pursuing similar opportuniti

Accordingly, our competitors may succeed in obtagrnpatent protection or commercializing productei®us. In addition, any produs
that we develop may compete with existing prodoctservices that are well established in the matieé.

Adverse public perception in the field of gene thpy may negatively impact regulatory approval of demand for, our potential
products.

Our potential therapeutic products are deliveregiients as gene-based drugs, or gene therapyliffeal and commercial success of
our potential products will depend in part on palaslcceptance of the use of gene therapy for theeption or treatment of human diseases.
Public attitudes may be influenced by claims treategtherapy is unsafe, and, consequently, our pteduoay not gain the acceptance of the
public or the medical community. Negative publiaaton to gene therapy in general could resulr@ater government regulation and stricter
labeling requirements of gene therapy productdudieg any of our products, and could cause a dserén the demand for any products we
may develop.

Laws or public sentiment may limit the productiori genetically modified agricultural products, andhése laws could reduce our
partner's ability to sell such products.

Genetically modified products are currently subjegbublic debate and heightened regulatory sorusither of which could prevent or
delay production of agricultural products. We hawesearch license and commercial option agreewitmDAS through which we provide
DAS with access to our proprietary ZFP technologg the exclusive right to use our ZFP technologntmlify the genomes or alter the nuc
acid or protein expression of plant cells, plantplant cell cultures. The field-testing, produatiand marketing of genetically modified plants
and plant products are subject to federal, stata| land foreign governmental regulation. Regulaémencies administering existing or future
regulations or legislation may not allow producteomd marketing of our genetically modified produata timely manner or under technically
or commercially feasible conditions. In additioagulatory action or private litigation could resinltexpenses, delays or other impediments to
our product development programs or the commetreitdin of resulting products.
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The FDA currently applies the same regulatory statislto foods developed through genetic engineasrifose applied to foods
developed through traditional plant breeding. Giea#ly engineered food products, however, will béject to pre-market review if these
products raise safety questions or are deemed fimodeadditives. Governmental authorities coul@ater social or other purposes, limit the
use of genetically modified products created with gene regulation technology.

Even if the regulatory approval for genetically rifiedl products developed under our agreement wAls Was obtained, our success
will also depend on public acceptance of the usgeogtically modified products including drugs,mita and plant products. Claims that
genetically modified products are unsafe for cornstimm or pose a danger to the environment may énfbe public attitudes. Our genetically
modified products may not gain public acceptande Jubject of genetically modified organisms hagireed negative publicity in the United
States and particularly in Europe, and such puplitas aroused public debate. The adverse publiciurope could lead to greater regulation
and trade restrictions on imports of geneticaltgrald products. Similar adverse public reactiosesttiment in the United States to genetic
research and its resulting products could resugréater domestic regulation and could decreasdehmand for our technology and products.

Risks Relating to our Finances

We have incurred significant operating losses sirineeption and anticipate that we will incur contired losses for the foreseeable
future.

We have generated operating losses since we bggaations in 1995. Our net losses for the yearseémkecember 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012 were $26.4 million, $26.6 million and $22.3lion, respectively. The extent of our future lossed the timing of profitability are
uncertain, and we expect to incur losses for thesieeable future. We have been engaged in devglopinZFP technology since inception,
which has and will continue to require significaesearch and development expenditures. To datbawegenerated our funding from issue
of equity securities, revenues derived from coltabion agreements, other strategic partnershipsintherapeutic applications of our
technology, federal government research grantgeamts awarded by research foundations. As of Dbeefil, 2014, we had an accumulated
deficit of $328.6 million. Since our IPO in 2000ewave generated an aggregate of approximately.4$33llion in gross proceeds from the
sale of our equity securities. We expect to comtittuincur additional operating losses for the rsexteral years as we continue to advance ou
ZFP Therapeutic product candidates. If the timelireq to generate significant product revenuesaatieve profitability is longer than we
currently anticipate or if we are unable to gerestigjuidity through equity financing or other soesoof funding, we may be forced to curtail or
suspend our operations.

We may be unable to raise additional capital, whislould harm our ability to develop our technologyn@ products.

We have incurred significant operating losses aghtive operating cash flows since inception ana mt achieved profitability. We
expect capital outlays and operating expenditurésdrease over the next several years as we exqandfrastructure and research and ZFP
Therapeutic product development activities. Whikelvelieve our financial resources will be adeqt@aiustain our current operations at least
through 2016, we may need to seek additional sswteapital through equity or debt financing. tiddion, as we focus our efforts on
proprietary human therapeutics, we will need tkge2A approval of potential products, a process$ tloalld cost in excess of hundreds of
millions of dollars per product. Furthermore, weynexperience difficulties in accessing the capitarket due to external factors beyond our
control such as volatility in the equity markets émerging biotechnology companies and generala@oanand market conditions both in the
United States and abroad. We cannot be certaimthatill be able to obtain financing on terms a¢abfe to us, or at all. Our failure to obtain
adequate and timely funding will materially advéysaffect our business and our ability to develeop chnology and ZFP Therapeutic
products. Furthermore, any sales of additionaltgagcurities may result in dilutions to our stogkters and any debt financing may include
business and financial covenants that restrict©parations.

We are at the development phase of operations aay not succeed or become profitable.

We began operations in 1995 and are in the eadggmof ZFP Therapeutic product development, anldawe incurred significant
losses since inception. To date, our revenues bese generated from collaboration agreements, otilaborations in non-therapeutic
applications of our technology, federal governnrestarch grants and grants awarded by researctgtons. Our focus on higher-value
therapeutic product development and related colltlom requires us to incur substantial expensescisted with product development. In
addition, the preclinical or clinical failure of msingle product may have a significant effectlom &ctual or perceived value of our stock. Our
business is subject to all of the risks inhererthandevelopment of a new technology, which inciutle need to:

. attract and retain qualified scientific and teclahgtaff and management, particularly scientifaffstvith expertise to develop c
early-stage technology into therapeutic produ

. obtain sufficient capital to support the expensdeafeloping our technology platform and developbegting and
commercializing product:
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. develop a market for our products; and

« successfully transition from a company with a resedocus to a company capable of supporting coroialeactivities.

Risks Relating to our Relationships with Collaborabrs and Strategic Partners

If conflicts arise between us and our collaboratoos strategic partners, these parties may act ieittselfinterest, which may limit ou
ability to implement our strategies.

If conflicts arise between our corporate or acadernilaborators or strategic partners and us, ther@arty may act in its self-interest,
which may limit our ability to implement our strgtes. Some of our academic collaborators and gicapartners are conducting multiple
product development efforts within each area théhé subject of the collaboration with us. Outatmbrators or strategic partners, however,
may develop, either alone or with others, prodirctelated fields that are competitive with thegwots or potential products that are the
subject of these collaborations. Competing prodwitser developed by the collaborators or stratpgitners or to which the collaborators or
strategic partners have rights, may result in thiedsawal of partner support for our product carmadéd.

Some of our collaborators or strategic partnergccalso become our competitors in the future. Qullaborators or strategic partners
could develop competing products, preclude us feotering into collaborations with their competitdial to obtain timely regulatory
approvals, terminate their agreements with us preraly, or fail to devote sufficient resourceslte tlievelopment and commercialization of
products. Any of these developments could harmpooduct development efforts.

Our collaborators and strategic partners may cortaspects of our clinical trials, which could resuin delays and other obstacles in
the commercialization of our proposed products.

For some programs, we depend on third party colitbes and strategic partners to design and coraiuatlinical trials. As a result, we
may not be able to conduct these programs in thenareor on the time schedule we currently contetapighich may negatively impact our
business operations. In addition, if any of thesl&aborators or strategic partners withdraws supfaorour programs or proposed products or
otherwise impair their development; our businesgdabe negatively affected.

In January 2012, we entered into a collaborativeement with Shire, pursuant to which we are enggaui a joint program with Shire
research, develop and commercialize human therapeartd diagnostics for hemophilia, Huntington'sedise and other monogenic diseases
based on our ZFP technology. Under this agreemanére responsible for all research activitiesugtothe submission of an IND or CTA,
while Shire is responsible for clinical developmant commercialization of products generated frioenresearch program from and after the
acceptance of an IND or CTA for the product.

In addition, in January 2014, we entered into abolrative agreement with Biogen for the clinical’dlopment and commercialization
of therapeutics based on our ZFP technology fordgdobinopathies, including beta-thalassemia and S@ider the agreement, we are
responsible for all discovery, research and devetop activities through the first human clinicahltfor the first ZFP Therapeutic developed
for the treatment of beta-thalassemia. In the S@&ignam, both parties are responsible for researdrdavelopment activities through the
submission of an IND.

Under these agreements with Biogen and Shire wliéhave control and broad discretion over alkertain aspects of the clinical
development and commercialization of any produgetised under the agreements, and we will have,liftany, influence on how these
programs will be conducted. Our lack of control iotree clinical development in our agreement witbdgin and Shire could cause delays or
other difficulties in the development and commdizadion of our product candidates, which may preves from completing the intended IND
filings in a timely fashion and receiving any milase, royalty payments and other benefits undeagiieement. In addition, under their
respective agreement(s), Biogen and Shire havaigeights to terminate the agreements by providisgvith advance notices, therefore, the
actual milestone payments that we may receive uthése agreements may be lower than the full arsatated above.
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Our collaborators or strategic partners may deciteadopt alternative technologies or may be unatdalevelop commercially viable
products with our technology, which would negatiyeémpact our revenues and our strategy to develogse products

Our collaborators or strategic partners may adbetreative technologies, which could decrease theketability of ZFP technology.
Additionally, because many of our collaboratorstategic partners are likely to be working on mthian one development project, they could
choose to shift their resources to projects othan those they are working on with us. If they dptkis would delay our ability to test our
technology and would delay or terminate the dewelemt of potential products based on our ZFP teagyolFurther, our collaborators and
strategic partners may elect not to develop pradaigsing out of our collaborative and strategidmpering arrangements or to devote sufficient
resources to the development, manufacturing, maker sale of these products. If any of these &veocur, we may not be able to develop
our technologies or commercialize our products.

If we do not successfully commercialize ZFP-basedearch reagents, ZFP-modified cell lines for commeial protein production, or
ZFP-engineered transgenic animals under our licenseregment with Sigma-Aldrich Corporation or ZFP-basedyricultural products with
Dow AgroSciences, or if Sign-Aldrich Corporation or Dow AgroSciences terminatesir agreements, our ability to generate revenueden
these license agreements may be limited.

In July 2007, we entered into a license agreeméhtSigma to collaborate in the application andelegment of ZFRsased products fi
use in the laboratory research reagents marketsagireement provides Sigma with access to our &tihblogy and the exclusive right to use
our ZFP technology to develop and commercializelpets for use as research reagents and to offé@cesiin related research fields. Under
agreement, Sigma has exclusive rights to develddatribute ZFP-modified cell lines for commergibduction of protein pharmaceuticals
and, certain ZFRengineered transgenic animals for commercial agfiins. In addition, under our license agreemettt WAS relating to plar
agriculture, DAS has the exclusive right to devedgpicultural products using our ZFP technologplemnt cells, plants or plant cell cultures.
Both Sigma and DAS have the right to sublicenset@chinology in their respective areas. In additnpfront payments, we may also receive
additional license fees, shared sublicensing rezgmoyalty payments and milestone payments depgruh the success of the development
and commercialization of the licensed products ser@ices covered under both agreements. The corraheritestones and royalties are
typically based upon net sales of licensed products

We cannot be certain that we or our collaboratiarirgers will succeed in the development of comnadlsciziable products in these fiel
of use, and there is no guarantee that we or dlabowation partners will achieve the milestonesfegh in the respective license agreements.
To the extent we or our collaboration partners dibsnicceed in developing and commercializing préslacif we or our collaboration partners
fail to achieve such milestones, our revenues amefits under the license agreements will be lichite addition, the respective license
agreements may be terminated by Sigma and DASydirae by providing us with a 90-day notice. In #aent Sigma or DAS decides to
terminate the license agreements, our ability tegate revenue under such license agreementseaiiec

Our collaborations with outside scientists may heébgect to change, which could limit our access t@ir expertise.

We work with scientific advisors and collaboratatsacademic research institutions. These sciemtisteaot our employees and may h
other commitments that would limit their availatyilto us. Although our scientific advisors generalfiree not to do competing work, if a
conflict of interest between their work for us ahdir work for another entity arises, we may Idseitservices. Although our scientific advis
and academic collaborators sign agreements nast¢tode our confidential information, it is possitthat some of our valuable proprietary
knowledge may become publicly known through themmictv may cause competitive harm to our business.

Risks Relating to our Intellectual Property and Busness Operation

Because it is difficult and costly to protect ourgprietary rights, and third parties have filed patt applications that are similar to
ours, we cannot ensure the proprietary protectiohonr technologies and products.

Our commercial success will depend in part on olgi patent protection of our technology and susftdly defending any of our
patents that may be challenged. The patent positbpharmaceutical and biotechnology companiesednighly uncertain and can involve
complex legal and factual questions. No consigtefity regarding the breadth of claims allowed iotéchnology patents has emerged to date
Accordingly, we cannot predict the breadth of ckaiatiowed in patents we own or license.

We are a party to various license agreements thatug rights under specified patents and pateplicgtions. Our current licenses, as
our future licenses frequently will, contain perfance obligations. If we fail to meet those obligag, the licenses could be terminated. If we
are unable to continue to license these techndagiecommercially reasonable terms, or at all, g be forced to delay or terminate our
product development and research activities.

32




With respect to our present and any future suldiesnsince our rights derive from those grantemitesublicensor, we are subject to the
risk that our sublicensor may fail to perform itsigations under the master license or fail to infais of useful improvements in, or additions
to, the underlying intellectual property owned hg briginal licensor.

We are unable to exercise the same degree of ¢awvieointellectual property that we license framrd parties as we exercise over our
internally developed intellectual property. We dxi control the prosecution of certain of the patguplications that we license from third
parties; therefore, the patent applications maybeqgtrosecuted as we desire or in a timely manner.

The degree of future protection for our proprietagits is uncertain, and we cannot ensure that:
« we or our licensors were the first to make the intians covered by each of our pending patent agiidios;
« we or our licensors were the first to file patepplications for these inventions;
« the patents of others will not have an adverseceéfe our ability to do business;

. others will not independently develop similar adeatative technologies or reverse engineer anyiopmoducts, processes or
technologies

. any of our pending patent applications will resultssued patents;

. any patents issued or licensed to us or our calébrs or strategic partners will provide a basiscommercially viable produc
or will provide us with any competitive advantag

. any patents issued or licensed to us will not kmlehged and invalidated by third parties; or

« we will develop additional products, processescohhologies that are patentable.

Others have filed and in the future are likelyite patent applications that are similar to our® §ve aware that there are academic
groups and other companies that are attempting\eldp technology that is based on the use offaiger, TALE, CRISPR/Cas9 and other
DNA-binding proteins, and that these groups andpames have filed patent applications. Severalnpsiteave been issued, although we have
no current plans to use the associated inventlbtizese or other patents issue, it is possiblettimholder of any patent or patents granted on
these applications may bring an infringement actigainst our collaborators, strategic partnersisoclaiming damages and seeking to enjoin
commercial activities relating to the affected prot$ and processes. The costs of litigating thenat@uld be substantial. Moreover, we cannot
predict whether we, our collaborators, or strat@gicners would prevail in any actions. In additidrthe relevant patent claims were upheld as
valid and enforceable and our products or processes found to infringe the patent or patents, aald be prevented from making, using, or
selling the relevant product or process unlessawddcobtain a license or were able to design ardhagatent claims. We can give no
assurance that such a license would be availabb®mmercially reasonable terms, or at all, or tiatvould be able to successfully design
around the relevant patent claims. There may befgignt litigation in the genomics industry regengl patent and other intellectual property
rights, which could subject us to litigation. If secome involved in litigation, it could consumsudbstantial portion of our managerial and
financial resources.

We rely on trade secrets to protect technology winer believe patent protection is not appropriatebdainable. Trade secrets, howe
are difficult to protect. While we require emplogeacademic collaborators and consultants to @mteconfidentiality agreements, we may
be able to adequately protect our trade secretther proprietary information or enforce these amnitiality agreements.

Our collaborators, strategic partners, and scierdaivisors have rights to publish data and infaramain which we may have rights. If
we cannot maintain the confidentiality of our tectogy and other confidential information in connentwith our collaborations and strategic
partnerships, then we may not be able to receitenparotection or protect our proprietary inforioat

If we use biological and hazardous materials in aanmer that causes injury or violates laws, we mayllable for damages.

Our research and development activities involvectirgrolled use of potentially harmful biologicahterials as well as hazardous
materials, chemicals, and various radioactive camgs typically employed in molecular and cellulaidgy. We routinely use cells in culture
and gene delivery vectors, and we employ small antsoof radioisotopes in trace experiments. Althoughmaintain up-to-date licensing and
training programs, we cannot completely eliminagisk of accidental contamination or injury freéine use, storage, handling, or disposal of
these materials. In the event of contaminatiompury, we could be held liable for damages thatiiteand any liability could exceed our
resources. We currently carry insurance coverimgameclaims arising from our use of these matsribllowever, if we are unable to maintain
our insurance coverage at a reasonable cost ahdddtguate coverage, our insurance may not coydradility that may arise. We are subji
to federal, state, and local laws and regulatianeging the use, storage, handling, and dispddhkse materials and specified waste
products. To date, we have not experienced sigmificosts in complying with regulations regarding tise of these materials.
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Failure to attract, retain, and motivate skilled pgonnel and cultivate key academic collaborationglwdelay our product development
programs and our research and development effo

Our success depends on our continued ability tadftretain, and motivate highly qualified managetrand scientific personnel and
ability to develop and maintain important relatibips with leading research and academic institgtenmd scientists. Competition for personne
and academic and other research collaboratiomseese. We have experienced a rate of employeeverithat we believe is typical of
emerging biotechnology companies. If we lose theises of personnel with the necessary skills,udilg the members of our senior
management team, it could significantly impedeatleievement of our research and development obgsctif we fail to negotiate additional
acceptable collaborations with academic and ozarch institutions and scientists, or if our taxiscollaborations are unsuccessful, our ZFF
Therapeutic development programs may be delayeshgrnot succeed.

Risks Relating to our Common Stock and Corporate Oganization

Our stock price has been volatile and may contirteebe volatile, which could result in substantialdses for investors.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 20t4¢losing price of our common stock, as reporiethe NASDAQ Global Select
Market, ranged from a low of $9.85 to high of $Z.Buring the fiscal year ended December 31, 26@Bcommon stock price fluctuated,
ranging from a low of $6.15 to a high of $14.38afiity in our common stock could cause stockhodd® incur substantial losses. An active
public market for our common stock may not be sosth and the market price of our common stock maatinue to be highly volatile. The

market price of our common stock has fluctuatedifigantly in response to various factors, somevhich are beyond our control, including
but not limited to the following:

. announcements by us or collaborators providing tgsdaen the progress or development status of ZEPapeutics;
. data from clinical trials;

. initiation or termination of clinical trials;

. changes in market valuations of similar companies;

. overall market and economic conditions, including €quity markets for emerging biotechnology congmn

. deviations in our results of operations from thalgace given by us;

. announcements by us or our competitors of new bamced products, technologies or services or sogmf contracts,
acquisitions, strategic relationships, joint veatuor capital commitment

. announcement of changes in business and operdyomsr collaborators and partners;
. regulatory developments;
. additions or departures of key personnel;

«  future sales of our common stock or other secugrltieus, management or directors, liquidation sfifational funds that
comprised large holdings of our stos

. decreases in our cash balances; and

. changes, by one or more of Sangamo’s security sisaliyn recommendations, ratings or coverage obtnak.
Our stock price is also influenced by public per¢em of gene therapy and government regulation aftpntial products.

Reports of serious adverse events in a retroveakdransfer trial for infants with X-linked seve@mbined immunodeficiency (Kaked
SCID) in France and subsequent FDA actions putifaged trials on hold in the United States hagyaificant negative impact on the public
perception and stock price of certain companieslired in gene therapy. Stock prices of these comepateclined whether or not the specific
company was involved with retroviral gene tran$ferthe treatment of infants with X-linked SCID, whether the specific company’s clinical
trials were placed on hold in connection with thegents. Other potential adverse events in thd 6Ebene therapy may occur in the future
could result in greater governmental regulationwf potential products and potential regulatonagglrelating to the testing or approval of our
potential products. These external events may havegative impact on public perception of our besén which could cause our stock price to
decline.
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Anti-takeover provisions in our certificate of ineporation and Delaware law could make an acquisitiof the Company more
difficult and could prevent attempts by our stockders to remove or replace current management.

Anti-takeover provisions of Delaware law and in oertificate of incorporation and our bylaws magadiurage, delay or prevent a
change in control of our company, even if a changm®ntrol would be beneficial to our stockholddrsaddition, these provisions may frusti
or prevent any attempts by our stockholders tca@pbr remove our current management by makingierdifficult for stockholders to repla
members of our board of directors. In particulaiier our certificate of incorporation our boarddofctors may issue up to 5,000,000 share
preferred stock with rights and privileges that ntige senior to our common stock, without the caheéthe holders of the common stock.
Moreover, without any further vote or action on fiaet of the stockholders, the board of directoosiM have the authority to determine the
price, rights, preferences, privileges, and retsbms of the preferred stock. This preferred stdicit,is ever issued, may have preference over,
and harm the rights of, the holders of common stédthough the issuance of this preferred stock iquovide us with flexibility in
connection with possible acquisitions and othepomate purposes, this issuance may make it mdiieuiffor a third party to acquire a
majority of our outstanding voting stock.

Similarly, our authorized but unissued common stisckvailable for future issuance without stockleoldpproval.

In addition, our bylaws:
»  state that stockholders may not act by written enhbut only at a stockholders’ meeting;

. establish advance notice requirements for nominatior election to the board of directors or propgsnatters that can be ac
upon at stockholde’ meetings; an

. prohibit stockholders from calling a special megtiri stockholders.
We are also subject to Section 203 of the Delaéaneeral Corporation Law, which provides, subjeatddain exceptions, that if a

person acquires 15% of our voting stock, the peisam “interested stockholder” and may not engagbusiness combinations” with us for a
period of three years from the time the person imedu.5% or more or our voting stock.

ITEM 1B — UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2 — PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters occupies approxima®B0P square feet of research and office spaceédded 501 Canal Boulevard in
Richmond, California. The lease expires in Augds2@l9. We also entered into a lease to occupyceqapately 7,700 square feet of research
and office space located at 1003 West Cutting Ba@ubkin Richmond, California in December 2014. Tdaese expires in January of 2018. We
believe such facilities are sufficient for the feeeable future.

ITEM 3 — LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are not a party to any material pending legat@eding. From time to time, we may be involvetegal proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business.

ITEM 4 — MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not Applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM 5 - MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Our common stock has traded on the NASDAQ Glob#@dMarket under the symbol “SGMO” since our ialitpublic offering on
April 6, 2000.

The high and low closing prices of our common stfmeckeach quarterly period during the last twodisgears as reported by the
NASDAQ Global Select Market were as follov

Common Stock

Price
High Low
Year ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte! $ 23.8¢ $ 13.2¢
Second Quarte $ 179t % 11.71
Third Quartel $ 16.4C $ 10.77
Fourth Quarte $ 16.52 $ 9.8%
Year ended December 31, 2C
First Quarte! $ 10.8C $ 6.15
Second Quarte $ 10.65 $ 7.31
Third Quartel $ 11.2¢ $ 7.92
Fourth Quarte $ 143t % 9.18

Holders

As of February 1, 2015, there were 67 holders obnme of Sangamo’s common stock. This number doesnlude “street name” or
beneficial holders, whose shares are held of reloptohnks, brokers, financial institutions and oth@minees.

Dividends

Sangamo has not paid dividends on its common stoakcurrently does not plan to pay any cash didden the foreseeable future.

Stock Trading Plans

Our directors, executive officers and other empdsyéncluding Edward O. Lanphier I, President &&D, have adopted stock trading
plans pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 of the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as amended, and have made Balastime to time, pursuant to such
plans.
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Stock Performance Graph

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*®

Among Sangamo BioSciences, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
andthe MASDAQ Biotechnology Index
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*5100 invested on 12/31/09 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

The above Stock Performance Graph and relatedimdion shall not be deemed “soliciting material” tw be “filed” with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall gifohmation be incorporated by reference into antufe filing under the Securities Act of
1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each anded, except to the extent that the Company glgifincorporates it by reference into
such filing.
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ITEM 6 — SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following Selected Financial Data should balr@aconjunction with “Item 7—Management’s Discussand Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and “Item 8xdficial Statements and Supplementary Datziided elsewhere in this Annual Repori
Form 10-K.

Selected Financial Data

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 4587( $ 2413: $ 21658 $ 10,31¢ $ 20,80¢
Operating expense
Research and developmt 56,74 36,97¢ 31,70¢ 32,09¢ 33,15¢4
General and administrati 15,677 13,80( 12,144 14,04z 12,58¢
Change in fair value of contingent liabili 230 60 — — —
Total operating expens 72,651 50,83¢ 43,85¢ 46,14( 45,74C
Loss from operation (26,787) (26,706 (22,199 (35,82)) (24,93%)
Other income/(expens 364 82 (66) 71 81
Net loss $ (26,417 $ (26,629 $ (22,264 $ (35,750 $ (24,859
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.39) $ (0.48) $ (042 $ (0.71) $ (0.55)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshare 67,022 55,97¢ 52,741 50,512 45,167

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(In thousands)

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents, marketable securitiesindecst

receivable $ 226,64 $ 13181+ $ 76,321 $ 84,462 $ 60,627
Working capital 169,997 87,14: 59,57¢ 78,48¢ 54,22z
Total asset 243,21: 140,83¢ 82,53: 87,33¢ 62,99¢
Accumulated defici (328,55() (302,139 (275,509 (253,245 (217,495
Total stockholders' equi 206,63 121,71( 64,89¢ 80,13z 55,907

ITEM 7 — MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FI NANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The discussion in “Management’s Discussion and ysialof Financial Condition and Results of Operagiocontains trend analysis,
estimates and other forward-looking statementsiwitie meaning of Section 27A of the Securities 8fct933, as amended, and Section 21E
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amernitlieelse forward-looking statements include, witHomitation, statements containing the
words “believes,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “contia,” and other words of similar import or the négabf those terms or expressions. Such
forward-looking statements are subject to known @mchown risks, uncertainties, estimates and ddetors that may cause the actual results
performance or achievements of the Company, orsinguesults, to be materially different from anyure results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forwaoklthg statements. Actual results could differ matly from those set forth in such
forward-looking statements as a result of, butlinoited to, the “Risk Factors” described in Parttém 1A. You should read the following
discussion and analysis along with the “Selecteduiéial Data” and the financial statements andsnat&ched to those statements included
elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical companyded on the research, development and commeatiah of engineered DNA-
binding proteins for the development of novel tipenatic strategies for unmet medical needs. Ounsfiand business development
endeavors currently focus on the engineering oghmwc finger DNA-binding proteins (ZFPs) for gene editing and gene regulation. Our
strategy is to develop highly specific ZFP nuclea@Ns) and ZFP transcription factors (ZFP TFs)ulgh early stage clinical testing and
strategically partner with biopharmaceutical comearmt points of value inflection to execute latage clinical trials and commercial
development. In the longer-term, our goal is tedgmate manufacturing, development and commerciadatipns to capture the value of our
proprietary ZFP Therapeutic products.
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We have incurred net losses since inception andatxp incur losses in the future as we continueresearch and development
activities. To date, we have funded our operatfmsarily through the issuance of equity securjtiesenues from corporate collaborations
research grants.

Our revenues have consisted primarily of revent@a bur corporate partners for ZFNs and ZFP TFstraotual payments from
strategic partners for research services and @seaitestones, and research grant funding. We éxpegenues will continue to fluctuate from
period to period and there can be no assurancaématollaborations or partner funding will continbeyond their initial terms or that we are
able to meet the milestones specified in thesecageats.

In the development of our ZFP technology platfowe,are focusing our resources on higher-value Zié@dpeutic product
development. We are conducting a Phase 2 cliniedltd evaluate a ZFP Therapeutic for the treatnoémi|V/AIDS. Development of novel
therapeutic products is costly and is subjectlengthy and uncertain regulatory process by the FOér future products will be gene-based
therapeutics. Adverse events in both our own dinicogram and other programs may have a negatigadt on regulatory approval, the
willingness of potential commercial partners toegrihto agreements and the perception of the public

In January 2012, we established a collaborativinpeship with Shire International GmbH, formerlyit®hAG, (Shire) to research,
develop and commercialize some of our preclinidad® Z herapeutic development programs, including iamg in hemophilia, Huntington’s
disease (HD) and other monogenic diseases. In 3aB0&4, we established a collaborative partnersfiipp Biogen Idec Inc. (Biogen) to
discover, develop, seek regulatory approval for@mmercialize therapeutics based on our ZFP tdegndor hemoglobinopathies, including
beta thalassemia and sickle cell disease (SCD)aMéehave proprietary preclinical programs in lgsoal storage disorders (LSDs). In
addition, we have research stage programs in atlbeogenic diseases, in central nervous system (@dN8jders and in cancer
immunotherapy.

We believe the potential commercial applicationZBPs are broabbased and we have entered into strategic partpsrshfields outsid
human therapeutics to facilitate the sale or ligensf our ZFP platform as follows:

« We have a license agreement with the researchmeagmpany Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (Sigma). Sigmaa the exclusive
rights to develop and market high value laboratesearch reagents based upon our ZFP technologglbas ZFP-modified
cell lines for commercial production of protein pmaceuticals and ZFP-engineered transgenic anif@@ma is marketing
ZFN-derived genome editing tools under the trademank@r® .

«  We have a license agreement with Dow AgroScierdss,(DAS), a wholly owned subsidiary of Dow Chermli€orporation.
Under the agreement, we have provided DAS withsst®our ZFP technology and the exclusive rightsse it to modify the
genomes or alter protein expression of plant cgléts, or plant cell cultures. DAS markets ouNaEchnology under the
trademark EXZACT" Precision Technology. We have retained rights toplants or plant-derived products to deliver ZF3 T
or ZFNs into human or animals for diagnostic, thergic or prophylactic purpose

On October 1, 2013, we acquired Ceregene, Ince@@sre), a privately held biotechnology company $ecuon the development of
adeno-associated virus (AAV) gene therapies. Theieed assets include all of Ceregene’s therapgutigrams, including CERE-110, for the
treatment of Alzheimes disease (AD) that is currently in a Phase 2d@dirtrial, certain intellectual property rightsaghg to the manufacturil
of AAV, certain toxicology data and safety and edfty data from Ceregene’s human clinical trials. Mfkeve that these additional assets
provide valuable reference materials for us ingheparation and filing of IND applications for darvivo ZFP Therapeutics, particularly those
that target the brain.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we incurpethsolidated net loss of $26.4 million, or $0.89 ghare, compared to a
consolidated net loss of $26.6 million, or $0.48 geare, for the same period in 2013. As of DecerBhe2014, we had cash, cash equivalent:
marketable securities and interest receivableitgt&#i226.6 million compared to $131.8 million asDeEfcember 31, 2013. As of December 31,
2014, we had an accumulated deficit of $328.6 ailli

The accompanying discussion and analysis of oanfiial condition and results of operations are thag®n our consolidated financial
statements and the related disclosures, which bese prepared in accordance with accounting pieigenerally accepted in the United
States. The preparation of these financial statésrequires us to make estimates, assumptionsuagdnients that affect the reported amounts
in our consolidated financial statements and ace@myipg notes. We base our estimates on historigaréence and on various other
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable uhdeaircumstances, the results of which form th&sbfor making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities thatreotreadily apparent from other sources. Actualltesnay differ from these estimates under
different assumptions or conditions. We believefttl®wing policies to be the most critical to anderstanding of our financial condition and
results of operations because they require us t@rastimates, assumptions and judgments aboutmn#tt are inherently uncertain.
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Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Revenue Recognitio

Revenues from research activities made under gicgpartnering agreements and collaborations a@grézed as the services are
provided when there is persuasive evidence thatrmmgement exists, delivery has occurred, thepsifixed or determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue ggedrfrom research and licensing agreements typicaludes upfront signing or license fe
cost reimbursements, research services, minimuticenbe fees, milestone payments and royaltiesiamd licensee’s product sales.

Multiple Element Arrangements prior to the adoptadrASU No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition — Mulbgliverable Revenue
Arrangements (ASU 20-13). For revenue arrangements entered into beforeadpiy 2011, that include multiple deliverableg #tements ¢
such agreement were divided into separate unasadunting if the deliverables met certain criteinaluding whether the fair value of the
delivered items could be determined and whetheethas evidence of fair value of the undeliveredhis. In addition, the consideration was
allocated among the separate units of accountisgdan their fair values, and the applicable regaeaognition criteria are considered
separately for each of the separate units of adomurPrior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13, we rgized nonrefundable signing, license or
non-exclusive option fees as revenue when rightséothe intellectual property related to the Iggewere delivered and over the period of
performance obligations if we had continuing perfance obligations. We estimated the performandegbat the inception of the arrangem
and reevaluated it each reporting period. Charg#sese estimates were recorded on a prospectsie ba

Multiple Element Arrangements after the adoptioASU 2009-13ASU 2009-13 amended the accounting standards ftaicenultiple
element revenue arrangements to:

. provide updated guidance on whether multiple elémexist, how the elements in an arrangement shmikkparated, and how
the arrangement consideration should be allocatéluktseparate elemen

. require an entity to allocate arrangement consiierdo each element based on a selling price fubya also called the relative
selling price method, where the selling price foreéeement is based on vendor-specific objectivdende (VSOE), if available;
third-party evidence (TPE), if available and VS@Hot available; or the best estimate of sellingegp(ESP), if neither VSOE
nor TPE is available; ar

. eliminate the use of the residual method and recirentity to allocate arrangement consideratsamguthe selling price
hierarchy.

For revenue agreements with multiple element agamnts, such as license and development agreeraatésed into on or after
January 1, 2011, we will allocate revenue to eamfreontingent element based on the relative sefiifae of each element. When applying the
relative selling price method, we determine thérggprice for each deliverable using VSOE of sgjlprice or TPE of selling price. If neither
exists the Company uses ESP for that deliveratdeeRue allocated is then recognized when the f@siaevenue recognition criteria are met
for each element. The collaboration and licenseegent entered into with Shire in January 2012Biaden in January 2014 were evaluated
under these updated accounting standards.

Additionally, we recognize milestone payments, héce subject to substantive contingencies, upamptation of specified milestones,
which represents the culmination of an earningsgss, according to contract terms. Fees from leesnspon sublicensing our technologies b
them to third parties (sublicense fees) are reasghas revenue in the period such fees are duémMiin annual sublicense fees are also
recognized as revenue in the period in which saek fire due. Royalty revenues are generally revegjmihen earned and collectability of the
related royalty payment is reasonably assured.afegnize cost reimbursement revenue under colliberagreements as the related researc
and development costs for services are renderddried revenue represents the portion of researlibemse payments received which have
not been earned.

Our research grants are typically multi-year agresisiand provide for the reimbursement of qualiégdenses for research and
development as defined under the terms of the gigretement. Revenue under grant agreements isnigedgvhen the related qualified
research expenses are incurred.

Business Combination

We accounted for the acquisition of Ceregene im@ance with Accounting Standards Codification (AS@Gpic 805, Business
Combinations. ASC Topic 805 establishes principled requirements for recognizing and measuringata¢ consideration transferred to and
the assets acquired, liabilities assumed and amycoaotrolling interests in the acquired target inginess combination. ASC Topic 805 also
provides guidance for recognizing and measuringlgdbacquired in a business combination; requpeechased in-process research and
development to be capitalized at fair value asigitale assets at the time of acquisition; requaguisition-related expenses and restructuring
costs to be recognized separately from the bustwsbination; expands the definition of what cangtis a business; and requires the acquire
to disclose information that users may need touataland understand the financial effect of theéness combination.
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Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts for financial instruments éstirsg of cash and cash equivalents, accountsvalske, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate fair value dueheit short maturities. Marketable securities angtiogent consideration liabilities are stated at
their estimated fair values. The counterpartiethéoagreements relating to our investment secsigmsist of the U.S. Treasury, governmenta
agencies, various major corporations and finanegitutions with high credit standing.

Research and Development Expent

We expense research and development expensesiagthdResearch and development expenses consiseof and research-related
allocated overhead costs such as facilities ceataries and related personnel costs, and mageriesupply costs. In addition, research and
development expenses include costs related taalitrials, validation of our testing processes pratedures and related overhead expenses
Research and development costs incurred in cormmewith collaborator-funded activities are expenasdncurred. Costs to acquire
technologies that are utilized in research and ldpwneent that have no alternative future use areres@d as incurred. Expenses resulting from
clinical trials are recorded when incurred baseplart on factors such as estimates of work perfdrmatient enrollment, progress of patient
studies and other events. We make good faith etgiihat we believe to be accurate, but the actsis and timing of clinical trials are highly
uncertain, subject to risks and may change depgngion a number of factors, including our clinidalelopment plan.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expensk $twek-based payment awards made to our emplayee@slirectors, including
employee stock options, employee stock purchasatedeto the Employee Share Purchase Plan (ESRIREatricted stock units (RSUs), on
estimated fair values. The fair value of stock-leseards is amortized over the vesting period efavard using a straight-line method over
the requisite service period.

To estimate the value of a stock option award amdhases related to ESPP, we use the Black-Schptes pricing model. This model
requires inputs such as expected life, expecteatilih and risk-free interest rate. These inputs subjective and generally require significant
analysis and judgment to develop. While estimatexpected life and volatility are derived primgritom our historical data, the risk-free rate
is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in eff¢the time of grant commensurate with the expklifie assumption. To estimate the value of
RSUs, we use the closing market value of our comstock on the date the award is issued. Furthegre@equired to estimate forfeitures at
the time of grant and revise those estimates isement periods if actual forfeitures differ fromose estimates. If factors change and differer
assumptions are employed in determining the fdirevaf stock-based awards, the stéieilsed compensation expense recorded in futureds
may differ significantly from what was recordedtle current period.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Revenue:
Year Ended December 31
% %
2014 2013 Change Change 2013 2012 Change Change
(In thousands, except percentage values)

Revenues

Collaboration agreemen $43,88( $21,67¢ $22,20:- 102% $21,67¢ $18,18¢ $ 3,49 19%
Research gran 1,99C  2,45¢ (465) (19%) 2,455 3,465 (1,019 (29%)
Total revenue $45,87( $24,13: $21,73i 90% $24,13: $21,65¢ $ 2,47¢ 11%

Total revenues consisted of revenues from collalmragreements and research grants. We anticipataues over the next several
years will be derived primarily from our collabamat agreements with Shire, Biogen, Sigma and C

Revenues from our corporate collaboration agreesngate $43.9 million in 2014, $21.7 million in 2048d $18.2 million in 2012. The
increase in revenue from collaborations in 2014 gamad to 2013 was primarily due to an increasel8fBmillion in revenues from Biogen
and $9.5 million in revenues from Shire relatedesearch services and research milestones, padféet by a decrease of $1.4 million in
revenues from Sigma. The increase in revenue frdtaborations in 2013 compared to 2012 was primatile to an increase of $5.4 million in
revenues from Shire, partially offset by a decrezsgl.7 million in revenues from DAS related teearch and manufacturing services.
Revenues related to Biogen and Shire includedgaecognition of a $20.0 million and $13.0 milliapfront license payment, respectively, as
well as for research services provided.
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Research grant revenues were $2.0 million in 2824 million in 2013 and $3.5 million in 2012. THecrease of $0.5 million in 2014
from 2013 was primarily due to the recognition bfr@avenues related to funding from a 2009 resegreint from the California Institute for
Regenerative Medicine (CIRM) for our HIV/AIDs pra@gn. The decrease was partially offset by revenelased to new grant agreements with
CIRM for our beta-thalassemia program. The decref$&.0 million in 2013 from 2012 was mainly duethe termination of our agreements
with the CHDI Foundation, Inc. (CHDI) and the JuNemiabetes Research Foundation International @DR 2012. The decrease was
partially offset by increased revenues relatedtheiogrant agreements.

During 2014, revenues related to Shire and Biogpresented 57% and 28%, respectively, of totalmees. During 2013, revenues
related to Shire and DAS represented 68% and 1@8pectively, of total revenues. During 2012, reesmelated to Shire, Sigma and DAS
represented 51%, 11% and 22%, respectively, of tex@nues.

Operating Expenses

Year Ended December 31
% %
2014 2013 Change Change 2013 2012 Change Change
(In thousands, except percentage values)

Operating expense

Research and developme $56,74¢ $36,97¢ $19,76¢ 53% $36,97¢ $31,70¢ $ 5,27C 17%
General and administratiy 15,677  13,80(C 1,877 14% 13,80C 12,14« 1,65€ 14%
Change in fair value of contingent liabili 230 60 170 283% 60 — 60 100%
Total operating expens: $72,651 $50,83¢ $21,812 43% $50,83¢ $43,85: $ 6,98€ 16%

Research and Development Expenses

We expect to continue to devote substantial regsui@ research and development in the future apeatxesearch and development
expenses to increase in the next several years #re/ successful in advancing our HIV/AIDS progiarthe clinic and if we are able to
progress our earlier stage ZFP therapeutic prochraiidates into clinical trials including our pragrs under collaboration with Shire and
Biogen. Pursuant to the terms of the agreementsS¥itre and Biogen, certain expenses related &arels and development activities will be
reimbursed to Sangamo, including employee and exteesearch costs. The reimbursement funds ret&em Shire and Biogen is
recognized as revenue as the costs are incurredadiadtion is reasonably assured. We also contiadelfill our obligations under the terms
of our non-therapeutic collaborations with Sigmd &#AS. In addition, to the extent we continue toeige royalties from Sigma, we will incur
fees related to certain technologies that we haieénsed.

Research and development expenses were $56.7miill2014, $37.0 million in 2013 and $31.7 millizn2012. The increase of $19.8
million in research and development expenses i@ 2@ds primarily due to an increase of $16.2 millieinternal and external research
expenses related to our preclinical ZFP Therap@utigrams, including our programs under our coltabons with Shire and Biogen.
Additionally, personnel related expenses, includiataries and stock-based compensation expensesased by $3.4 million in 2014 as
compared to 2013.

The increase of $5.3 million in research and dgwalent expenses in 2013 was primarily due to areas® in internal and external
research expenses related to our preclinical ZFRapeutic programs, including our programs undeicollaboration with Shire, of $5.0
million. Additionally, personnel related expensesjuding salaries and stock-based compensatioarsqgs, increased by $1.2 million. These
increases were partially offset by a decreaseinical and manufacturing expenses of $1.1 milljimarily related to our HIV/AIDS program

Drug development is inherently uncertain and treesssful completion of our development progranssilgect to numerous
technological challenges and risks and we canrestgmtly estimate anticipated completion datestigrad our programs. Material cash inflows
associated with the sale of products, if any, whegult from our research efforts are not expefdedt least five years. See Risk Factors—
“Our potential therapeutic products are subjectadengthy and uncertain regulatory process, arttiélse potential products are not approved
we will not be able to commercialize these produatsl “Our gene regulation and gene modificatiorthamology is relatively new, and if we
are unable to use this technology in all our inted@pplications, it would limit our revenue opparities.”
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The table below shows research and developmenhsgpdor our primary clinical development progr&B;7287, expenses associal
with other clinical stage programs as well as egpsielated to our preclinical and research steggrams, including our therapeutic programs
under collaboration with Shire and non-therapecitaborations.

Year Ended
December 31
(In thousands)

Programs 2014 2013 2012

SB-72&-T clinical programs $ 8,33¢ $ 7,071 % 9,11¢
Other clinical program 801 867 510
Preclinical and research progra 47,604 29,041 22,084
Total research and development expe! $ 56,74  $ 36,97¢ $ 31,70¢

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynafrsalaries and personnel related expensescEnutive, finance and administrative
personnel, stock-based compensation expensessgiarial fees, allocated facilities expenses, pgiergecution expenses and other general
corporate expenses. As we pursue commercial dewelopof our therapeutic leads we expect the busiaggects of the Company to become
more complex. We may be required in the futuredid personnel and incur additional costs relateti¢anaturity of our business.

General and administrative expenses were $15.1mith 2014, $13.8 million in 2013 and $12.1 miflim 2012. The increase in gene¢
and administrative expenses of $1.9 million in 2@&& primarily due to an increase of $1.4 milliarpersonnel related expenses, including
salaries and stock-based compensation expensesiandrease in professional services expenses.4frillion.

The increase of $1.7 million in 2013 from 2012 wasnarily due to an increase of $0.9 million in g@nnel related expenses, including
salaries and stock-based compensation expenseanandrease in professional services expense8.8frfillion.

Other income (expense), net

Other income was $0.4 million in 2014 and $0.1iomllin 2013. Other expense was $0.1 million in 20@ther income in 2014 and 2C
was comprised of interest income. The expense 12 as primarily related to disposal of fixed asspartially offset by interest income of
$0.1 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
Since inception, we have incurred significant wssks and we have funded our operations primaribugh the issuance of equity
securities, payments from corporate collaboratodssirategic partners and research grants.

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash, cash equigalmarketable securities and interest receivialdding $226.6 million compared
to $131.8 million as of December 31, 2013, withititease primarily attributable to the completaran underwritten public offering of the
Company’s common stock in March 2014, in which 4,444 shares of Sangamo common stock were solgutilec offering price of $22.50
per share. The net proceeds to the Company frorsaleeof shares in this offering, after deductinderwriting discounts and commissions anc
other offering expenses, were approximately $93IBom

Our most significant use of capital pertains t@gabk and benefits for our employees and exteasalarch and development expenses,
such as manufacturing, clinical trials and prechhiactivity, related to our ZFP Therapeutic progsaOur cash and investment balances are
held in a variety of interest bearing instrumesluding obligations of U.S. government agenci¢§. Treasury debt securities, corporate
securities and money market funds. Cash in exdassneediate requirements is invested in accordavite our investment policy with a view
toward capital preservation and liquidity.
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In January 2012, we entered into a collaboratiahlmense agreement with Shire, pursuant to whietave collaborating with Shire to
research, develop and commercialize certain gegettin human therapeutics and diagnostics foropéitia, HD and other monogenic
diseases based on our ZFP technology. Under tieemgnt, we received an upfront license fee of $dllon. Shire reimburses us for agreed
upon costs incurred in connection with researchdawlopment activities conducted by us. We are @ligible to receive milestone payments
based on our achievement of specified researchlategy, clinical development, commercializatiordazales milestones, which depends upon
ours and Shire’s ability to continue to progresspnograms under collaboration. During the twelhenths ended December 31, 2014 we
recognized a $1.0 million milestone related to leeimophilia program. We will also be eligible toeae royalty payments that are a tiered
double-digit percentage of net sales of producteld@ed under the collaboration, if any.

In January 2014, we entered into a collaboratiahlmense agreement with Biogen, pursuant to whietare collaborating with Biogen
to discover, develop, seek regulatory approvaafat commercialize therapeutics based on our ZRihtdagy for hemoglobinopathies,
including beta-thalassemia and SCD. Under the aggaewith Biogen, we received an upfront licensed€$20.0 million. Biogen also
reimburses us for agreed upon costs incurred inection with research and development activitiegloated by us. In addition, we are elig
to receive development milestone payments upoath&vement of specified regulatory, clinical depehent and commercialization
milestones. We will also be eligible to receiveramental royalties for each licensed product thatatiered double-digit percentage of annual
net sales of such product, if any.

In October 2013, we acquired Ceregene’s therapputigrams, including a Phase 2 clinical trial f&RE-110 for the treatment of AD.
The operations of Ceregesdjusiness, including the conduct of clinical &jare funded by an award granted by the NIH, amdiovnot expe«
to incur significant cash expenditure to continuehsoperations.

Cash Flow

Operating activitiesFor all periods, net cash used in operating a@s/iprimarily reflects our net operating lossesistiid for non-cash
items including stock-based compensation expensecath used in operating activities was $5.7 onilin 2014 compared to $19.5 million in
2013. The decrease in net cash used in operatid2®14 was primarily due to an increase in deferesénues in 2014 related to the $20.0
million upfront payment from Biogen pursuant to ttadlaboration and license agreement, partiallgetfby an increase in research and
development expenses related to our preclinicalares programs.

Net cash used in operating activities was $19.5aniin 2013 compared to $8.1 million in 2012. Tiherease in net cash used in
operations in 2013 was primarily due to an incréagesearch and development expenses related foreclinical research programs and an
increase in deferred revenues in 2012 relatedet@ 3.0 million upfront payment from Shire pursuianthe collaboration and license
agreement.

Investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activities was $100/fianiin 2014 and $68.1 million in 2013. Net cagioyided by
investing activities was $11.3 million in 2012. Gdkws from investing activities for all periodsiparily related to purchases, sales and
maturities of marketable securities.

Financing activities.Net cash provided by financing activities was $208illion in 2014, $76.1 million in 2013 and $1.7llion in
2012. Net cash provided by financing activitie2@14 was primarily attributable to $93.8 millionriet proceeds from a public offering of the
Company’s common stock in March 2014, as well as@eds from the issuance of common stock upon isges€ stock options. Net cash
provided by financing activities in 2013 was prifhaattributable to $69.5 million in net proceedsrh a public offering of the Company’s
common stock in September 2013, as well as prodeauaisthe issuance of common stock upon exercistonk options. Net cash provided by
financing activities in 2012 primarily related toopeeds from the issuance of common stock uporcisecof stock options.

Operating Capital and Capital Expenditure Requirernse

We anticipate continuing to incur operating loseesat least the next several years. While we eixpecrate of cash usage to increase ir
the future, in particular to support our productelepment endeavors, we believe that the availeddé resources as well as funds received
from corporate collaborators, strategic partnetsrasearch grants will enable us to maintain ouretuly planned operations through 2016.
Future capital requirements will be substantial émdir capital resources are insufficient to megtire capital requirements, we will need to
raise additional capital to fund our operationsjuding ZFP Therapeutic development activitiesptigh equity or debt financing. We regularly
consider fund raising opportunities and may dediaden time to time, to raise capital based on wasitactors, including market conditions and
our plans of operation. Additional capital may hetavailable on terms acceptable to us, or alf @itlequate funds are not available, or if the
terms of potential funding sources are unfavoratule business and our ability to develop our tettmoand our ZFP Therapeutic products
would be harmed. Furthermore, any sales of additiequity securities may result in dilutions to stwckholders, and any debt financing may
include covenants that restrict our business.

44




Our future capital requirements will depend on maoward looking factors, including the following:

« theinitiation, progress, timing and completiorciical trials for our product candidates and poigd product candidates;
- the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory appreyval

« the success of our collaboration agreements witte &imd Biogen;

. delays that may be caused by changing regulatoryinements;

« the number of product candidates that we pursue;

« the costs involved in filing and prosecuting pat@nplications and enforcing and defending pateaibht;
« the timing and terms of future in-licensing and-icensing transactions;

« the cost and timing of establishing sales, margetimanufacturing and distribution capabilities;

« the cost of procuring clinical and commercial siggbf our product candidates;

« the extent to which we acquire or invest in bussessproducts or technologies; and

« the possible costs of litigation.

There is no provision for income taxes because ave lonly incurred losses since our inception. ABedember 31, 2014, we had net
operating loss carryforwards for federal and stateme tax purposes of approximately $330.9 milkol $278.1 million, respectively. If not
utilized, the net federal and state operating @@ssyforwards will start to expire in 2018 and 20déspectively. We also have federal and state
research tax credit carryforwards of $6.7 milliod&7.0 million, respectively. The federal reseanadits will begin to expire in 2018 while
the state research credits have no expiration tiilezation of our net operating loss carryforwarahd research tax credit carryforwards may
be subject to substantial annual limitations dutagoownership change limitations provided by thiednal Revenue Code and similar state

provisions. The annual limitation could resultlie texpiration of the net operating loss carryfodsgaand research tax credit carryforwards
before use.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As of December 31, 2014, we had contractual ohbgatand commercial commitments as follows (in #ands):

Payments Due by Perioc

Less Than 1-3 4-5 More Than
Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Operating lease $ 393 $ 865 $ 2577 $ 496 $ —
License obligation 2,16¢ 323 918 425 503
Total contractual obligatior $ 6,107 $ 1,18¢ $ 349 $ 921 $ 503

Operating leases consist of base rents for fagslitve occupy in Richmond, California. License cdddiigns consist of ongoing license
maintenance fees associated with cancelable indax patent agreements.

ITEM 7A — QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our exposure to market risk relates to our cas$h eguivalents and investments. The goals of aigsiment policy are preservation of
capital, fulfillment of liquidity needs and captng a market rate of return based on our investpelity parameters and market conditions.
select investments that maximize interest incontbeeextent possible within these guidelines. Tee our goals, we maintain a portfolio of
cash equivalents and investments in securitiesgbf ¢redit quality and with varying maturities tatoh projected cash needs.

The securities in our investment portfolio are leoeraged, are classified as available-for-saleaagaddue to their short-term nature,
subject to minimal interest rate risk. Our investitisecurrently consist of U.S. Treasury securiti¢s§. government-sponsored enterprise
securities and corporate notes. Our investmentyadipproved by our Board of Directors, limits #trmount we may invest in any one type of
investment issuer, thereby reducing credit riskcemtrations. All investments have a fixed interagt and are carried at market value, which
approximates cost. We do not use derivative firenastruments in our investment portfolio. We di helieve that a change in interest rates
would have a material negative impact on the vafumur investment portfolio.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Sangamo BioSciences, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. as of Dexedibh 2014 and 2013, and
related consolidated statements of operations, celmepsive loss, stockholders’ equity, and cashdlaw each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company’s managemeat responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBigUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. as of December 31, 20d2@13, and the consolidated results of its opsratand its cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 20 hnformity with U.S. generally accepted accoogiprinciples.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), Sangamo
BioSciences, Inc.’s internal control over finanaigborting as of December 31, 2014, based on ierigstablished in Internal Control-Integratec
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@mgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 frantkjvand our report dated
February 25, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015
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Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie

Interest receivabl
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenst
Restricted cas
Other current asse

Total current asse
Marketable securities, n-current
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, -process research and developn

Goodwill
Other asset
Total asset

Current liabilities:

SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Accrued compensation and employee ben

Escrow liability
Deferred revenue

Total current liabilities
Deferred revenues, n-current
Contingent consideration liabilit

Deferred tax liability
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Stockholders' equity

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 160,000,000 andd80000 shares authorized as of
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, regpl¢i69,062,394 and 62,243,892
shares issued and outstanding at December 24, December 31, 2013,

respectively

Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated defici

Accumulated other comprehensive income (li

Total stockholders' equi

Total liabilities and stockholders' equ

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLERS' EQUITY

December 31,

December 31,

2014 2013
(In thousands, except share and per share
amounts)
$ 6,03C 10,18¢
172,93 82,621
423 338
10,36¢ 3,15¢
623 457
320 320
183 191
190,87¢ 97,274
47,26( 38,66:
1,47¢ 1,40¢
1,87C 1,87C
1,58t 1,58t
139 40
$ 243,21 140,83¢
$ 8,704 4,38(
2,858 3,194
275 275
9,05( 2,282
20,882 10,131
13,14¢ 6,67¢
1,80C 1,57C
748 748
36,57¢ 19,12¢
690 622
534,51¢ 423,20¢
(328,55() (302,139
(25) 12
206,63 121,71(
$ 243,21 140,83¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ents.
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SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Collaboration agreemen $ 43,88 $ 21,67¢ % 18,18¢
Research gran 1,99C 2,45k 3,46¢
Total revenue 45,87( 24,13 21,65
Operating expense
Research and developmt 56,744 36,97¢ 31,70¢
General and administrati 15,671 13,80(C 12,144
Change in fair value of contingent liabili 230 60 —
Total operating expens 72,651 50,83¢ 43,85:
Loss from operation (26,78]) (26,706 (22,199
Other income (expense), r 364 82 (66)
Net loss $ (26,417 $ (26,629 $ (22,269
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.39) $ (0.48) $ (0.42)
Shares used in computing basic and diluted netdesshare 67,022 55,974 52,741

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financaé®ents.
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SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)
Net loss $ (26,417 $ (26,629 $ (22,26Y)
Change in unrealized gain (loss) on avail-for-sale securitie (37) (14) 14
Comprehensive los $ (26,459 $ (26,63¢) $ (22,250)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié¢®ents.
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SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balances at December 31, 2(

Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options and in connection with
restricted stock unit

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase p

Stocl-based compensatic

Comprehensive los

Net unrealized gain on marketable securi

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Balances at December 31, 2(

Issuance of common stock in connection
with underwritten public offering, net
of issuance cos

Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmpanc

in connection with restricted stock un

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase p

Issuance of common stock in connection
with acquisition of Ceregene, Ir

Stoclk-based compensatic

Comprehensive los

Net unrealized loss on marketa
securities

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Balances at December 31, 2(

Issuance of common stock in connection
with underwritten public offering, net
of issuance cos

Issuance of common stock upon exercise
of stock options and in connection with
restricted stock unii

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock purchase p

Stoclk-based compensatic

Comprehensive los

Net unrealized loss on marketa
securities

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Balances at December 31, 2(

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-in Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income/ (Loss) Equity

(In thousands, except share date

52,554,79! $ 526 $332,83¢ $ (253,24 $ 12 $ 80,13:
328,35¢ 3 1,21¢ — — 1,21¢
175,37¢ 2 455 — — 457
— 5,33¢ — — 5,33¢€
— — — — 14 14
_ — — (22,26¢) — (22,269
— — — — — (22,250)
53,058,52! $ 531 $339,84¢ $ (275,509 $ 26 $ 64,89¢
7,015,00( 70 69,422 — — 69,49:
1,889,81¢ 19 6,09¢ — — 6,11¢€
180,551 1 495 — — 496
99,99¢ 1 1,19¢ — — 1,20C
_ — 6,14¢€ — — 6,14¢€
— — — — (14) (14)
_ — — (26,622) — (26,629
_ — — — (26,63¢)
62,243,89. $ 622 $423,20¢ $ (302,137 $ 12 $ 121,71C
4,444,44 44  93,75: — — 93,79¢
2,266,85! 23 7,51C — — 7,53%
107,20: 1 847 — — 848
— — 9,20C — — 9,20C
— — — — (37) (37)
— — —  (26,417) — (26,417
— — — — — (26,45
69,062,39: $ 690 $534,51¢ $ (328,550 $ (25) $ 206,63

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financié®ents.
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SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Operating Activities:
Net loss $
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of premium on marketable securit
Stoclk-based compensatic
Net loss on disposal of property and equipn
Change in fair value of contingent consideratiaibility
Net changes in operating assets and liabili
Restricted cas
Escrow liability
Interest receivabl
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other as
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit
Accrued compensation and employee ben
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activit

Investing Activities:
Purchases of marketable securi
Maturities of marketable securiti
Proceeds from sales of investme
Acquistion of Ceregene, Inc., net of cash rece
Purchases of property and equipir

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing actg

Financing Activities:
Proceeds from public offering of common stock, afassuance cos
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of yquitirds
Proceeds from issuance of common st

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe

Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing drsui
Fair value of shares of common stock issued putgsoahe
acquisition of Ceregene In $

Year ended December 31
2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

(26,417 $ (26,629 $ (22,269
549 569 660
1,09¢ 912 889
9,20C 6,14¢€ 5,33¢
— — 123
230 60 —
— (320) —
— 275 —
(85) (148) 141
(7,219 1,00¢ (3,414
(258) (160) 14
4,324 269 (1,502)
(341) 721 800
13,23¢ (2,190 11,13¢
(5,675) (19,487) (8,082)
(227,80%) (118,899 (91,42¢)
127,76¢ 51,12¢ 103,47(
— 79 —
(621) (432) (723)
(100,65¢) (68,11¢) 11,31¢
93,79¢ 69,492 —
(4,55€) (2,015) —
12,937 8,63( 1,67€
102,17 76,107 1,67€
(4,156) (11,499 4,917
10,18¢ 21,67¢ 16,76¢
6,03C $ 10,18¢ $ 21,67¢
- $ 1,20C $ -

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financa¢®ents.
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SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT AC COUNTING POLICIES
Sangamc

Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. (the Company or Sangesa®)ncorporated in the State of Delaware on J@nd 295 and is focused on the
research, development and commercialization of Intveeapeutic strategies for unmet medical needsg&mo’s gene regulation and genome
editing technology platform is enabled by the emgiing of a class of transcription factors knowzias finger DNA-binding proteins (ZFPs).
Potential applications of Sangamo’s technologyudeldevelopment of human therapeutics, plant dtwireuand enhancement of
pharmaceutical protein production. Sangamo wilurexjadditional financial resources to completedbeelopment and commercialization of
its products including ZFP Therapeutics.

Sangamo is currently working on a number of lomgatdevelopment projects that will involve experirtediechnology. The projects
may require several years and substantial experdito complete and ultimately may be unsuccesshd.Company plans to finance
operations with available cash resources, collalmrsiand strategic partnerships funds, reseamttgand from the issuance of equity or deb
securities. Sangamo believes that its available,ash equivalents and investments as of DeceBih@014, along with expected revenues
from collaborations, strategic partnerships andassh grants, will be adequate to fund its openatat least through 2016. Sangamo will need
to raise substantial additional capital to funds&duent operations and complete the developmertandhercialization of its products.
Additional capital may not be available on termsegtable to the Company, or at all. If adequatel$uere not available, or if the terms of
potential funding sources are unfavorable, the Gomgjs business and ability to develop its technology 2RP Therapeutic products would
harmed. Furthermore, any sales of additional eqgturities may result in dilutions to the Comparstockholders, and any debt financing
may include covenants that restrict the CompanySrtess.

Sangamo acquired Ceregene, Inc. (Ceregene) in &c8d3. Under the merger agreement, Sangamo ebt&iaregene’s therapeutic
programs, including certain intellectual propeights relating to the manufacturing of AAV, andteén toxicology data and safety and effic
data from Ceregene’s human clinical trials whicl emhance and expand the application of Sangamo/sro ZFP Therapeutics, particularly
those that target the brain.

Basis of Presentatiol

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith generally accepted accounting principleguises management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the amoeptsted in the financial statements and the accagipg notes. Actual results could differ
from those estimates. The consolidated financéestents include the accounts of Sangamo and tiywdwned subsidiaries, Ceregene and
Gendagq Limited, after elimination of all interconmyebalances and transactions.

Business Combination

The Company accounted for the acquisition of Carege accordance with Accounting Standards Codifioa(ASC) Topic 805,
Business Combinatiol(ASC Topic 805). ASC Topic 805 establishes priresphnd requirements for recognizing and measuniegotal
consideration transferred to and the assets achuiabilities assumed and any non-controlling ieggs in the acquired target in a business
combination. ASC Topic 805 also provides guidarmadcognizing and measuring goodwill acquired bbuainess combination; requires
purchased in-process research and developmentdapitalized at fair value as intangible asseth@time of acquisition; requires acquisition-
related expenses and restructuring costs to bgméxed separately from the business combinatiopaeds the definition of what constitutes a
business; and requires the acquirer to disclosenrdtion that users may need to evaluate and uadérshe financial effect of the business
combination.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Sangamo considers all highly liquid investmentschased with original maturities of three month¢ess at the purchase date to be cas
equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents consigtpddits in money market investment accounts, govent sponsored entity debt securities,
US Treasury debt securities and corporate bankuatso

As part of the acquisition of Ceregene, Sangamore@sired to set aside $0.3 million in an escroeoaat until April 1, 2015. The cash
held in escrow is recorded as restricted cash.
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Marketable Securitie:

Sangamo classifies its marketable securities atablefor-sale and records its investments atrestéd fair value based on quoted
market prices or observable market inputs of alnuesitical assets, with the unrealized holding ga@nd losses included in accumulated othe
comprehensive income.

The Company’s investments are subject to a periotii@irment review. The Company recognizes an impant charge when a decline
in the fair value of its investments below the duessis is judged to be other-than-temporary. The@amy considers various factors in
determining whether to recognize an impairmentgdaincluding the length of time and extent to whige fair value has been less than the
Company’s cost basis, the financial condition aedrrterm prospects of the investee, and the Conpangnt and ability to hold the
investment for a period of time sufficient to alléwr any anticipated recovery in the market vaRealized gains and losses on available-for-
sale securities are included in other (expenseyirg; which is determined using the specific idérgtfon method.

Fair Value Measurements

The carrying amounts for financial instruments dstitsg of cash and cash equivalents, accountsvalle, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities approximate fair value dueheit short maturities. Marketable securities angtiogent consideration liabilities are stated at
their estimated fair values. The counterpartiethéoagreements relating to the Company’s investrseeurities consist of the US Treasury,
governmental agencies, various major corporatioasfimancial institutions with high credit standing

Property and Equipmen

Property and equipment are stated at cost, lessradated depreciation and amortization. DepreaigiSccalculated using the straight-
line method based on the estimated useful livekefelated assets (generally three to five yebms)leasehold improvements, amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method basethershorter of the useful life or the lease terime Tompany reviews its property and
equipment for impairment whenever events or chamgescumstances indicate that the carrying amaidiain asset may not be recoverable.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Revenues from research activities made under gicgpartnering agreements and collaborations a@grézed as the services are
provided when there is persuasive evidence thatramgement exists, delivery has occurred, thepsifixed or determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue ggedrfrom research and licensing agreements typicaludes upfront signing or license fe
cost reimbursements, research services, minimuiicenbe fees, milestone payments and royaltiesitumnd licensee’s product sales.

Multiple Element Arrangements prior to the adoptadrASU No. 2009-13, Revenue Recognition—MultiglévBrable Revenue
Arrangements (ASU 20-13). For revenue arrangements entered into beforeadady 2011, that include multiple deliverableg glements ¢
such agreement were divided into separate unasadunting if the deliverables met certain criteinaluding whether the fair value of the
delivered items could be determined and whetheetivas evidence of fair value of the undeliveredhi. In addition, the consideration was
allocated among the separate units of accountiagdan their fair values, and the applicable regaeaognition criteria are considered
separately for each of the separate units of adoaurPrior to the adoption of ASU 2009-13, the @amy recognized nonrefundable signing,
license or non-exclusive option fees as revenuenwights to use the intellectual property relamthie license were delivered and over the
period of performance obligations if the Compang bantinuing performance obligations. The Compastineated the performance period at
the inception of the arrangement and reevaluateddh reporting period. Changes to these estimaesrecorded on a prospective basis.

Multiple Element Arrangements after the adoptioM8fJ 2009-13ASU 2009-13 amended the accounting standards fa@iganultiple
element revenue arrangements to:

. provide updated guidance on whether multiple elémexist, how the elements in an arrangement shHmikkparated, and how
the arrangement consideration should be allocatélukt separate elemen

. require an entity to allocate arrangement consiaerdo each element based on a selling price fibyawhere the selling price
for an element is based on vendor-specific objeatvidence (VSOE), if available; third-party evider{TPE), if available and
VSOE is not available; or the best estimate ofrsglbrice (ESP), if neither VSOE nor TPE is avdialand

. eliminate the use of the residual method and recairentity to allocate arrangement consideratsamguthe relative selling
price method
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For revenue agreements with multiple element agamnts, such as license and development agreeraatésed into on or after
January 1, 2011, the Company allocates revenuado mon-contingent element based on the relatiiagerice of each element. When
applying the relative selling price method, the @amy determines the selling price for each delbierasing VSOE of selling price or TPE of
selling price. If neither exists the Company us&®HEor that deliverable. Revenue allocated is tkengnized when the basic four revenue
recognition criteria are met for each element. @tléaboration and license agreements entered iittoShire International GmbH, formerly
Shire AG, (Shire) in January 2012 and Biogen ldex (Biogen) in January 2014 were evaluated urteset amended accounting standards.

Additionally, the Company may be entitled to reeetertain milestone payments which are contingpahueaching specified
objectives. These milestone payments are recogaizedvenue in full upon achievement of the milestid there is substantive uncertainty at
the date the arrangement is entered into that tbgscwill be achieved and if the achievement isdobon the Company’s performance.

Minimum annual sublicense fees are also recograze@venue in the period in which such fees areRlogalty revenues are generally
recognized when earned and collectability of thateel royalty payment is reasonably assured. Thepany recognizes cost reimbursement
revenue under collaborative agreements as thedetatearch and development costs for servicegadered. Deferred revenue represents th
portion of research or license payments receiveidiwave not been earned.

Sangamo’s research grants are typically multi-gegeements and provide for the reimbursement dffepebexpenses for research and
development as defined under the terms of the gigretement. Revenue under grant agreements isnigedgvhen the related qualified
research expenses are incurred.

During 2014, revenues related to Shire and Biogeresented 57% and 28%, respectively, of totalmees. During 2013, revenues
related to Shire, Sigma-Aldrich Corporation (Sigraajl Dow AgroSciences LLC (DAS) represented 68%a9%h12%, respectively, of total
revenues. During 2012, revenues related Shire, &mymd DAS represented 51%, 11% and 22% of totahtess, respectively.

Research and Development Expent

Research and development costs are expensed a®dhdesearch and development expenses consigeof and research-related
allocated overhead costs such as facilities ceataries and related personnel costs, and mageribsupply costs. In addition, research and
development expenses include costs related taalitrials, validation of the Comparsytesting processes and procedures and as welladsd
overhead expenses. Research and developmentmastsed in connection with collaborator-funded étigs are expensed as incurred. Costs
to acquire technologies that are utilized in reste@nd development that have no alternative fuiseeare expensed as incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensapensfor all stock-based payment awards madenga®s employees and
directors, including employee share options, ret&td stuck units (RSUs) and employee share purshetsed to the Employee Share Purcl
Plan (ESPP), based on estimated fair values at dede. The fair value of stock-based awards isrtineal over the vesting period of the award
using a straight-line method.

To estimate the value of an award, the Company thgeBlack-Scholes option pricing model. This maggjuires inputs such as
expected life, expected volatility and rifilee interest rate. These inputs are subjectiveganérally require significant analysis and judgtre
develop. While estimates of expected life and vighatire derived primarily from the Company’s hisital data, the risk-free rate is based on
the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the tiohigrant commensurate with the expected life aggiom. Further, the Company is required to
estimate forfeitures at the time of grant and reti®se estimates in subsequent periods if actd@itures differ from those estimates. The
Company uses historical data to estimate pre-vgsiiion forfeitures and record stock-based comgt@ns expense only for those awards tha
are expected to vest.
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Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

As part of the Ceregene acquisition the Companggeized indefinite-lived intangible assets for imgess research and development
and goodwill as further discussed below. ASC 350 @fated updates require companies to test intiefined intangible assets for impairme
annually, and more frequently if indicators of immp@ent exist. ASC 350 includes an optional qualiatassessment for testing indefinite-lived
intangible assets for impairment that permits comgmto assess whether it is more likely than net, @ likelihood of greater than 50%) tha
indefinite-lived intangible asset is impaired. IE@mpany concludes based on the qualitative assesdhat it is not more likely than not that
the fair value of an indefinite-lived intangiblesas or, in the case of goodwill, that the fair \abf the related reporting unit, is less than
carrying value, it would not have to determine déisset’s or reporting unit’s fair value, as applleab

In-Process Research and Development

Intangible assets related to in-process reseamtlil@velopment costs, or IPR&D, are considered tmdefinite-lived until the

completion or abandonment of the associated reseandt development efforts. If and when developrneabmplete, which generally occurs if
and when regulatory approval to market a producbtained, the associated assets would be deenitlived and would then be amortized
based on their respective estimated useful livélsatpoint in time. Prior to completion of the@asch and development efforts, the assets are
considered indefinite-lived. During this periodethssets will not be amortized but will be testadrmhpairment on an annual basis and betwee
annual tests if the Company becomes aware of agytewccurring or changes in circumstances thatdrvodicate a reduction in the fair value
of the IPR&D projects below their respective cangyamounts. During the fourth quarter of 2014,Gloenpany performed an assessment o
gualitative factors affecting the fair value of iIBR&D and concluded that it was not more likelgrimot that the fair value of its IPR&D was
less than carrying value.

Goodwill

Gooduwill represents the excess of the consideratasferred over the estimated fair values oftasseuired and liabilities assumed in
a business combination and is considered to bdimigelived. Goodwill is not amortized but is testfor impairment on an annual basis and
between annual tests if the Company becomes avargy@vents occurring or changes in circumstatitatswould indicate an impairment of
goodwill has occurred. During the fourth quarte61.4, the Company performed an assessment ofitidiagive factors affecting the fair
value of its reporting unit and concluded that éswot more likely than not that the fair valuatefreporting unit was less than carrying value
and that, as a result, it is not more likely thahthat goodwill is impaired..

Contingent Consideration Liability

Under the merger agreement with Ceregene, the Qompay be required to make contingent earn-out gaysif the Company grants
a thirdparty license to develop and commercialize cepaiiuct candidates acquired from Ceregene, oeiftbmpany commercializes any
these product candidates itself. These earn-outpats will become payable in the period they araazh In accordance with ASC Topic 805,
the Company determined the fair value of this ligbfor contingent consideration on the acquisitiate using a probability-weighted
discounted cash flow analysis. Future changesaddin value of the contingent consideration wél determined each period and charged to
expense in the “Changes in fair value of contindiability” expense line item in the Consolidateth®ments of Operations under operating
expenses.

Income Taxes

Income tax expense has been provided using thiéitiabethod. Deferred tax assets and liabilities determined based on the differe
between the financial statement and tax basessetsaand liabilities as measured by the enacterhtax that will be in effect when these
differences reverse. The Company provides a valoailowance against net deferred tax assetssédapon the available evidence, it is not
more likely than not that the deferred tax assétsde realized.

Net Loss Per Shar

Basic net loss per share has been computed byirdiMide net loss by the weighted-average numbshafes of common stock
outstanding during the period. Diluted net lossgyeare is calculated by dividing net loss by théhed average number of shares of commol
stock and potential dilutive securities outstandinging the period.

Because Sangamo is in a net loss position, dilgtdoss per share excludes the effects of comitmamk gquivalents consisting of
options, which are all anti-dilutive. All stock aghs outstanding were excluded from the calculatibdiluted net loss per share. Stock option
outstanding at the end of 2014, 2013 and 2012 &&@6,380, 8,405,864 and 9,184,346, respectively.
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Segment:

The Company operates in one segment. Managemenbnsaneasurement of profitability and does noteggge its business for
internal reporting. As of December 31, 2014 and@ll of the Company’s assets were maintainetiént.S. For the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, substantiallyf a#venues and operating expenses were genenateiticurred in the U.S.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standd@dard issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU)20@4-15 Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continaie a Going Concer(ASU 2014-15). ASU 2014-15 requires managemenvatuate
whether there is substantial doubt about an estability to continue as a going concern and tigerelated footnote disclosures. In doing
companies will have reduced diversity in the timamgl content of footnote disclosures than undectineent guidance. ASU 2014-15 is
effective for the Company in the first quarter 6flB with early adoption permitted. The Company dussbelieve the impact of adopting ASU
2014-15 on its consolidated financial statementshei material.

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrassued ASU 2014-0®Revenue from Contracts with CustomésSU 2014-09).
This standard outlines a single comprehensive miodentities to use in accounting for revenueiaggrom contracts with customers and
supersedes most current revenue recognition guédamduding industry-specific guidance. The maimgiple of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize
revenues when promised goods or services are ¢raedfto customers in an amount that reflects dimsideration that is expected to be
received for those goods or services. ASU 2014¢09iges companies with two implementation meth@dspply the standard retrospectively
to each prior reporting period presented (fullasprective application); or (ii) apply the standegtfospectively with the cumulative effect of
initially applying the standard as an adjustmerthesopening balance of retained earnings of tima@rreporting period that includes the date
of initial application (modified retrospective apgaltion). This guidance is effective for annualadmg periods beginning after December 15,
2016, including interim periods within that repagiperiod, and early application is not permitfBlde Company is currently in the process of
evaluating the impact of the pending adoption ofUA%)14-09 on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 —FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Company measures certain assets and liabditiesr value on a recurring basis, including ceghivalents, available-for-sale
securities and the contingent consideration lighilfhe fair value is determined based on a thiexehierarchy under the authoritative guidance
for fair value measurements and disclosures thatifizes the inputs used in measuring fair valadalows:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markeds are accessible at the measurement datedotiédl, unrestricted assets or
liabilities;

Level 2: Quoted prices in markets that are notvactir inputs which are observable, either directlyndirectly, for substantially
the full term of the asset or liability;

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that regjiriputs that are both significant to the fair walneasurement and unobservable
(i.e., supported by little or no market activity).
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The fair value measurements of cash equivalentsladole-for-sale securities and the contingent ikaration liabilities are identified at
the following levels within the fair value hierascfin thousands):

December 31, 201.
Fair Value Measurements

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 3,182 $ 3,182 $ — 3 —
Total 3,182 3,182 — —
Marketable securitie!
Commercial paper securiti 33,74¢ — 33,74¢ —
Corporate debt securitis 22,81: — 22,81¢ —
U.S. government sponsored entity debt secul 163,63 — 163,63 —
Total 220,19: — 220,197 —
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul $ 223,37¢  $ 3,182 $ 220,19: $ —
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration liabilit $ 1,80C $ —  $ —  $ 1,80C
Total $ 1,80C $ — 3 — 3 1,80C
December 31, 201
Fair Value Measurements
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 6,934 $ 6,934 $ — 3 —
Total 6,934 6,934 — —
Marketable securitie:
U.S. government sponsored entity debt secul 121,29( — 121,29( —
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul $ 128,22¢ $ 6,934 $ 121,29C $ —
Liabilities:
Contingent consideration liabilif $ 157C $ —  $ — 8 1,57C
Total $ 157C $ — $ — 3 1,57C
Investments

The Company generally classifies its debt instruihas Level 2. Instruments can be classified agll2when observable market prices
for identical securities that are traded in ledssaanarkets are used. When observable marketgpfizadentical securities are not available,
such instruments are priced using benchmark cubersxshmarking of like securities, sector groupimgatrix pricing and valuation models.
These valuation models are proprietary to the pgigiroviders or brokers and incorporate a numbérmfts, including, listed in approximate
order of priority: benchmark yields, reported tradaeroker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, two-sidellets, benchmark securities, bids, offers
and reference data including market research matiwits. For certain security types, additional ispuay be used, or some of the standard
inputs may not be applicable. Evaluators may priwriinputs differently on any given day for anggety based on market conditions, and not
all inputs listed are available for use in the aatibn process for each security evaluation ongivisn day.

Contingent Consideration Liability

In October 2013, the Company acquired Ceregeneanuided a liability for the estimated fair valdecontingent consideration
payments to former Ceregene stockholders, as edtlimder the terms of the merger agreement witedese. These contingent payments are
owed if the Company grants a third-party licensddwelop and commercialize certain product candslatquired from Ceregene, or if the
Company commercializes any of such product canelidigdelf. The fair value of this liability is estated using a probability-weighted
discounted cash flow analysis. Such valuationsirecignificant estimates and assumptions includhiagnot limited to: determining the timi
and estimated costs to complete th@ioeess projects, projecting regulatory approwestimating future cash flows and developing appabe
discount rates. The Company has classified tHiditiaas Level 3.

Subsequent changes in the fair value of this cgatihconsideration liability is recorded to the &ige in fair value of contingent
liability” expense line item in the consolidatedtsiments of operations as operating expenses. trintwelve months
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ended December 31, 2014, the recognized amouhedfability for contingent consideration increadsd$0.2 million primarily as the result

the passage of time.

The following sets forth the changes in the estaddair value for our contingent consideration ilipclassified as Level 3 (in

thousands):

Fair value as of December 31, 2(C
Change in fair valu
Fair value as of December 31, 2C

$ 1,57C
230
$ 1,80C

NOTE 3 — MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The table below summarizes the Company’s cash abpuits and available-for-sale securities (in thads

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains (Losses) Fair Value
December 31, 2014
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 3,182 $ —  $ — 9 3,187
Total 3,182 — — 3,182
Available-for-sale securities
Commercial paper securiti $ 33,71t % 33 % — 8 33,74¢
Corporate debt securitis 22,831 — (18) 22,81z
U.S. government sponsored entity debt secul 163,67 — (40) 163,63
Total 220,217 33 (58) 220,19:
Total cash equivalents and availefor-sale securitie $ 223,39¢ $ 33 $ (58) $ 223,37
December 31, 2013
Cash equivalent:
Money market fund $ 6,934 $ —  $ — 8 6,934
Total 6,934 — — 6,934
Available-for-sale securities
U.S. government sponsored entity debt secul 121,27¢ 12 — 121,29(
Total cash equivalents and availe-for-sale securitie $ 128,21 $ 12 $ — $ 128,22«

As of December 31, 2014, all of the Company’s itvents had maturity dates within two years. Appmtadely 79% of the Company’s
available-for-sale securities mature within thetrteselve months of the date of the balance sheggproximately 21% of the Company’s
available-for-sale securities have maturities betwevelve and twenty-four months from the datehefthalance sheet. The Company had no
material realized losses or other-than-temporapainments of available-for-sale securities forykars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012.

NOTE 4 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The following table shows total stock-based compos expense recognized in the consolidated statenof operations (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012

Research and development $ 5064 $ 3,204 $ 2,892
General and administrati\ 4,13€ 2,942 2,44¢
Total stocl-based compensation expel $ 9,20C $ 6,14€ $ 5,33¢
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As of December 31, 2014, total stock-based compiemsaxpense related to unvested stock optiong teebognized in future periods
was $17.2 million, which is expected to be expermest a weighted-average period of 3.04 years.fA¥gember 31, 2014, total stock-based
compensation expense related to unvested RSUsrexbgnized in future periods was $8.5 million, evhis expected to be expensed over a
weighted-average period of 2.30 years. There waspialized stock-based employee compensationnsepas of December 31, 2014.

Valuation Assumptions

The employee stock-based compensation expenseatersnihed using the Black-Scholes option valuatimael. Option valuation
models require the input of subjective assumptansthese assumptions can vary over time.

The Company primarily bases its determination gfeeted volatility through its assessment of théohisal volatility of its common
stock. The Company relied on its historical exer@nd post-vested termination activity for estimgiis expected term for use in determining
the fair value of these options.

The weighted-average estimated fair value per shfasptions granted during 2014, 2013 and 2012 $8a$6, $8.29 and $3.76,
respectively, based upon the assumption in thekBsaholes valuation model. The assumptions usedstimating the fair value of the
employee stock options are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rat 1.6C-1.70%  1.5(-1.88%  0.74-1.34%
Expected life of option (in year 5.2€5.33 5.3¢€-5.38 5.4(-5.58
Expected dividend yield of stor 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 0.6€-0.69 0.88 0.87-0.88

Employees purchased approximately 107,203, 18(581175,375 shares of common stock through the P0ithase Plan at an
average exercise price of $7.92, $2.75 and $2.6&h@ee during 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

The weighted-average estimated fair value of shaueshased under the Company’s ESPP during 20148 206d 2012 were $3.25,
$1.47 and $2.51, respectively, based upon the ggfmms in the Black-Scholes valuation model. Thégiveed—average assumptions used for
estimating the fair value of the ESPP purchasesighe as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rat 0.05-0.30%  0.0%-0.61%  0.0%-0.30%
Expected life of option (in year 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0 0.5-2.0
Expected dividend yield of stor 0% 0% 0%
Expected volatility 0.52-0.75 0.51-0.85 0.93-1.37

NOTE 5 — MAJOR CUSTOMERS, PARTNERSHIPS AND STRATEGIC ALLIANCES
Collaboration Agreements
Collaboration and License Agreement with Biogen ténc. in Human Therapeutics

In January 2014, we entered into an exclusive wadd collaboration and license agreement with Biogedevelop therapeutics for
hemoglobinopathies, focused on beta-thalassemi&&ml Under the agreement, the two companies oiitly conduct two research
programs: the beta-thalassemia program and the@@pam. In the beta-thalassemia program, we aporesible for all discovery, research
and development activities through the first hurolmcal trial. In the SCD program, both parties aesponsible for research and developmen
activities through the submission of an IND appimafor ZFP therapeutics intended to treat SC@gen reimburses us for agreed upon
internal and external program-related costs.

Under the Biogen Agreement, Sangamo and Biogenjairitly conduct two research programs: the betdassemia program and the
SCD program. For the beta-thalassemia program,Zands responsible for all discovery, researchdmalopment activities through the first
human clinical trial for the first ZFP Therapeutieveloped under the Biogen Agreement for the treatraf beta-thalassemia. For the SCD
program, both parties are responsible for reseammdhdevelopment activities through the submissfaandnvestigational New Drug (IND)
application for ZFP Therapeutics intended to t&@D. For both programs, Biogen is responsible titwsssquent world-wide clinical
development, manufacturing and commercializatiolicehsed products developed under the Biogen Agee¢. At the end of specified
research terms for each program or under certa&icifsgd circumstances, Biogen retains the rigtgtép in and take over any remaining
activities of Sangamo. Furthermore, Sangamo hagptaon to co-
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promote in the United States any licensed produtietat beta-thalassemia and SCD developed undd@itiyen Agreement, and Biogen agree:
to compensate Sangamo for such co-promotion desvit

Sangamo received an upfront license fee of $20lllomupon entering into the Biogen Agreement. tidiéion, the Company will also |
eligible to receive $126.3 million in payments ugbe achievement of specified research, regulattinical development milestones, as well
as $167.5 million in payments upon the achievernénpecified commercialization and sales milestoBésgen also reimburses Sangamo for
agreed upon costs incurred in connection with meseand development activities conducted by Sangémaddition, Sangamo is eligible to
receive contingent payments upon the achievemespexified regulatory, clinical development, comaiization and sales milestones. The
total amount of potential regulatory, clinical diagment, commercialization and sales contingentrats, assuming the achievement of all
specified milestone events in the Biogen Agreemisr@#293.8 million, including Phase 1 contingengmpants of $7.5 million for each of the
beta-thalassemia and SCD programs. In additigeroducts are commercialized under this agreemeogied will pay Sangamo incremental
royalties for each licensed product that are &dietouble-digit percentage of annual net sales@f groduct. There have been no licensed
products approved under the Biogen Agreement &eoémber 31, 2014,

All contingent payments under the Biogen Agreemehen earned, will be non-refundable and non-caitit The Company has
evaluated the contingent payments under the agretemith Biogen based on the authoritative guiddioceesearch and development
milestones and determined that certain of thesempajs meet the definition of a milestone and tHaueh milestones are evaluated to
determine if they are considered substantive. Miless are considered substantive if they are cktatevents (i) that can be achieved based ir
whole or in part on either the Company’s perforneaacon the occurrence of a specific outcome reguftom the Company’s performance,
(ii) for which there was substantive uncertaintytest date the Biogen Agreement was entered intahiaevent would be achieved and (iii) thal
would result in additional payments being due ®@ompany. Accordingly, consideration receivectii@ achievement of milestones that are
determined to be substantive will be recognizereasnue in their entirety in the period when théestbnes are achieved and collectability is
reasonably assured. Revenue for the achievemenilegtones that are not substantive will be recogphiover the remaining period of the
Biogen Agreement, assuming all other applicablemee recognition criteria have been met.

Subject to the terms of the Biogen Agreement, Saioggrants Biogen an exclusive, royalty-bearingrigzs with the right to grant
sublicenses, to use certain ZFP and other techypalogtrolled by Sangamo for the purpose of reséaggtileveloping, manufacturing and
commercializing licensed products developed ungeiBiogen Agreement. Sangamo also grants Biogemarclusive, world-wide, royalty
free, fully paid license, with the right to grantblicenses, of Sangamo’s interest in certain atitetlectual property developed pursuant to the
Biogen Agreement.

The Company has identified the deliverables withmarrangement as a license to the technologyasgbing research services
activities. The Company has concluded that thenfieds not a separate unit of accounting as it doebave stand-alone value to Biogen apart
from the research services to be performed purdoghe Biogen Agreement. As a result, the Compamgcognizing revenue from the upfront
payment on a straight-line basis over a forty-mastimated initial research term during which ttempany performs research services. As of
December 31, 2014, the Company has deferred revariiet.9 million related to this Biogen Agreement.

Revenues recognized under the Biogen Agreemeiiiéamvelve months ended December 31, 2014 ardlas/$o(in thousands):

Year ended
December 31
2014
Revenue related to Biogen Collaboration:
Recognition of upfront fe $ 5,313
Research service 7,751
Total $ 13,06¢
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Related costs and expenses incurred under the Bagreement related to the beta-thalassemia prejbath is co-funded with
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine (B4R were $5.2 million during the twelve months eddgecember 31, 2014. Related costs
and expenses for other projects including SCD utideBiogen agreement were $3.5 million duringtthelve months ended December 31,
2014.

Collaboration and License Agreement with Shire Imtetional GmbH, formerly Shire AG, in Human Therapgics and Diagnostics

In January 2012, the Company entered into a calidiom and license agreement (Shire Agreement) 8litine pursuant to which the
Company and Shire collaborate to research, dexssldpcommercialize human therapeutics and diagsofstianonogenic diseases based on
Sangamo’s ZFP technology. Under the Shire AgreentlemtCompany and Shire may develop potential hutimarapeutic or diagnostic
products for seven gene targets. The initial famegtargets selected were blood clotting FactorsWiI, IX and X, and products developed
for such initial gene targets will be used for tieg or diagnosing hemophilia. In June 2012, Skelkected a fifth gene target for the
development of a ZFP therapeutic for Huntington&edse (HD), an inherited neurodegenerative disfeasehich there are currently no
therapies available to slow the disease progresSioine has the right, subject to certain limitatipto designate two additional gene targets.
Pursuant to the Shire Agreement, the Company gieitire an exclusive, world-wide, royalty-bearifgghse, with the right to grant
sublicenses, to use Sangamo’s ZFP technology éoptinpose of developing and commercializing hurhanaipeutic and diagnostic products
for the gene targets. The initial research terihefShire Agreement is six years and is subjeektensions upon mutual agreement and unde
other specified circumstances.

Under the terms of the Shire Agreement, the Comjmmgsponsible for all research activities throtigh submission of an IND or
European Clinical Trial Application (CTA), while 8 is responsible for clinical development and owencialization of products generated
from the research program from and after the aategtof an IND or CTA for the product. Shire reimgms Sangamo for its internal and
external research program-related costs.

Under the Shire Agreement, the Company receivaspmont license fee of $13.0 million. In additiche Company will also be eligible
to receive $33.5 million in payments upon the aabieent of specified research, regulatory, clind@lelopment milestones, including
payments for each gene target through the accepteEran IND or CTA submission totaling $8.5 millicas well as $180 million in payments
upon the achievement of specified commercializatiod sales milestones. The total amount of potemilastone payments for each of the
seven gene targets, assuming the achievementsgeaified milestones in the Shire Agreement, 5352 million. The Company will also be
eligible to receive royalty payments that are eetiedouble-digit percentage of net sales of licdqseduct sold by Shire or its sublicensees
developed under the collaboration, if any. In thiedtquarter of 2014 we received a $1.0 millionesibne payment from Shire related to
toxicology studies for our hemophilia B program. date, no products have been approved and themedoreyalty fees have been earned ul
the Shire Agreement.

All contingent payments under the Shire Agreemehgn earned, will be non-refundable and non-crbtital he Company has
evaluated the contingent payments under the agretemith Shire based on the authoritative guidamcedsearch and development milestone:
and determined that certain of these payments theetefinition of a milestone and that all suchastibnes are evaluated to determine if they
are considered substantive. Milestones are coreidrrbstantive if they are related to events &) tdan be achieved based in whole or in part
on either the Company’s performance or on the geage of a specific outcome resulting from the Canys performance, (ii) for which the
was substantive uncertainty at the date the Shgreé@ment was entered into that the event wouldtbaed and (iii) that would result in
additional payments being due to the Company. Alingly, revenue for the achievement of milestomes are determined to be substantive
will be recognized in its entirety in the period evhthe milestone is achieved and collectabilie@sonably assured. Revenue for the
achievement of milestones that are not substamtiNVé®e recognized over the remaining period of 8tére Agreement.

The Company has identified the deliverables withmarrangement as a license to the technologyaigbing research services
activities. The Company has concluded that thenieds not a separate unit of accounting as it doebave stand-alone value to Shire apart
from the research services to be performed purgoahe Shire Agreement. As a result, the Compangecognizing revenue from the upfront
payment on a straight-line basis over a six-yeiialmesearch term during which the Company pen®research services. As of December 31
2014, the Company has deferred revenue of $6.8&milelated to the Shire Agreement.
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Revenues recognized under the Shire Agreemenhéoygars ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 asdollows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Revenue related to Shire Collaborati
Recognition of upfront fe $ 2,167 $ 2,167 $ 1,98¢
Recognition of mileston 1,00C — —
Research service 22,76F 14,28¢ 9,02¢
Total $ 2593 $ 16,45 $ 11,012

Related costs and expenses incurred under the &eement were $21.1 million, $14.2 million and7dnillion during the twelve
months ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 atbsgly.

Agreement with Sigm-Aldrich Corporation in Laboratory Research ReagentTransgenic Animal and Commercial Protein Prodian
Cell-line Engineering

In July 2007, Sangamo entered into a license agraewith Sigma. Under the license agreement, Saogareed to provide Sigma w
access to Sangamo’s proprietary ZFP technologytemdxclusive right to use the technology to deweind commercialize research reagent
products and services in the research field, exofudertain agricultural research uses that Sangamwously licensed to DAS. Under the
agreement, Sangamo and Sigma agreed to condueteaytbar research program to develop laboratosareh reagents using Sangamo’s ZFP
technology during which time Sangamo agreed tasaSsjma in connection with its efforts to marketl sell services employing the
Company’s ZFP technology in the research field.gg@am has transferred the ZFP manufacturing techpdtn Sigma.

In October 2009, Sangamo expanded its license mgmtewith Sigma. In addition to the original terofghe license agreement, Sigma
received exclusive rights to develop and distritdf€-modified cell lines for commercial productiohprotein pharmaceuticals and certain
ZFP-engineered transgenic animals for commercpliegiions. Under the terms of the agreement, Sigrade an upfront cash payment of
$20.0 million consisting of a $4.9 million purcha#e636,133 shares of Sangamo common stock, vat$d.9 million, and a $15.1 million
upfront license fee. Sangamo is also eligible teree commercial license fees of $5.0 million baspdn a percentage of net sales and
sublicensing revenue and thereafter a reducedtyosgie of 10.5% of net sales and sublicensingmegeln addition, upon the achievement of
certain cumulative commercial milestones Sigma midlke milestone payments to Sangamo up to an aaeref§$25.0 million.

Revenues recognized under the agreement with Sigintlae years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an?|, 26re as follows (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue related to Sigma Collaborati
Royalty revenue $ 344 $ 824 $ 1,28¢
License fee and milestone reven 448 1,351 1,00(C
Total $ 792 $ 2,17 $ 2,28¢

Related costs and expenses incurred under the Sigreament were $0.1 million, $0.2 million and $®8ion during 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.
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Agreement with Dow AgroSciences in Plant Agriculi

In October 2005, Sangamo entered into an exclusivemercial license with DAS. Under this agreem8angamo is providing DAS
with access to its proprietary ZFP technology dredexclusive right to use the technology to mottify genomes or alter the nucleic acid or
protein expression of plant cells, plants, or plzeit cultures. Sangamo has retained rights toles@s or plant-derived products to deliver ZFP
transcription factors (ZFP TFs) or ZFP nucleasé&d\g) into humans or animals for diagnostic, thendipeor prophylactic purposes. The
Company’s agreement with DAS provided for an ihitimee year research term. In June 2008, DAS &eaxtdts option under the agreement tc
obtain a commercial license to sell products inocaing or derived from plant cells generated usigCompany’s ZFP technology, including
agricultural crops, industrial products and plaatided biopharmaceuticals. The exercise of theoogtiggered a one-time commercial license
fee of $6.0 million, payment of the remaining $éhBlion of the previously agreed upon $4.0 milliznresearch milestones, development and
commercialization milestone payments for each pcgdand royalties on sales of products. FurthernidAesS has the right to sublicense
Sangamo’s ZFP technology to third parties for nsglant cells, plants, or plant cell cultures, &ahgamo will be entitled to 25% of any cash
consideration received by DAS under such subliceriseDecember 2010, the Company amended its agrgemith DAS to extend the period
of reagent manufacturing services and researclicesrthrough December 31, 2012.

The agreement with DAS also provides for minimurblisense fees each year due to Sangamo every Ocfobeided the agreement is
not terminated by DAS. Annual fees range from $280,to $3.0 million and total $25.3 million over §éars. The Company does not have
performance obligations with respect to the subbagg activities to be conducted by DAS. DAS hasright to terminate the agreement at an
time; accordingly, the Company’s actual sublicefiess over the term of the agreement could be IohaT $25.3 million. In addition, each
party may terminate the agreement upon an uncuegdrial breach of the agreement by the other phrtthe event of any termination of the
agreement, all rights to use the Company’s ZFPniglolgy will revert to Sangamo, and DAS will no l@arde permitted to practice Sangamo’s
ZFP technology or to develop or, except in limitddtumstances, commercialize any products derivat the Company’s ZFP technology.

Revenues under the agreement with DAS were $3l®mits3.0 million and $4.7 million during 2014, ZRand 2012, respectively.
Related costs and expenses incurred under theragnéevith DAS were $0.0 million, $0.4 million an@.% million during 2014, 2013 and
2012, respectively.

Funding from Research Foundations
California Institute for Regenerative Medicine - i

In October 2009, CIRM, a State of California entdyanted a $14.5 million Disease Team Researchrdteadevelop an HIV/AIDS
therapy based on the application of ZFN genoménediechnology in hematopoietic stem cells (HST&g four year grant supports an
innovative research project conducted by a muttigl;ary team of investigators, including investigrs from the University of Southern
California, City of Hope National Medical CenterdaBangamo BioSciences. Sangamo received fundsmpd.2 million from the total
amount awarded based on expenses incurred forcesaad development efforts by Sangamo as presthibe grant agreement, and subjec
to its terms and conditions. The award is intendeslibstantially fund Sangamo’s research and dpustot efforts related to the grant
agreement. The State of California has the righeteive, subject to the terms and conditions efafjreement between Sangamo and CIRM,
payments from Sangamo resulting from sales of ancercial product resulting from research and devalemt efforts supported by the grant,
not to exceed two times the amount Sangamo receivfesding under the agreement with CIRM. As oftBmber 31, 2013, all revenues un
the award have been recognized and all funds hese keceived.

In May 2014, CIRM agreed to fund a $5.6 milliongégic Partnership Award to fund clinical studiés potentially curative ZFP
Therapeutic for HIV/AIDS based on the applicatidnt® ZFN genome editing technology in hematopaistem progenitor cells (HSPCs). The
four year grant provides matching funds to suppealuation of the Company’s stem cell-based ZFRapw®utic in a clinical trial in HIV-
infected individuals conducted at City of Hope. Tampany expects funding for this grant to commeén&915.

Revenues attributable to research and developneefdrmed under the CIRM grant agreements for H\D'&Iwere $0.0 million, $1.2
million and $1.2 million during 2014, 2013 and 20i&spectively. Related costs during 2014, 2013212 were $1.8 million, $1.8 million
and $1.2 million, respectively.
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California Institute for Regenerative Medicine - Ba- Thalassemia

In May 2013, CIRM granted the Company a $6.4 millgtrategic Partnership Award to develop a potiytiarative ZFP Therapeutic
for beta-thalassemia based on the applicatiors@fN genome editing technology in HSCs. The faarygrant provides matching funds for
preclinical work that will support an IND applicati and a Phase 1 clinical trial in transfusion-aelemt beta-thalassemia patients. The State
California has the right to receive, subject totdmens and conditions of the agreement betweengdangnd CIRM, payments from Sangamo,
or its collaborators, from sales of a commercialdoict resulting from research and development isffarpported by the grant, in accordance
with Title 17, California Code of Regulations, Sent100600.

Revenue attributable to research and developmefurpeed under the CIRM grant agreement for liblassemia were $1.4 million a
$0.1 million in 2014 and 2013, respectively. Redatests during 2014 and 2013 were $1.1 million $&d million, respectively.

CHDI Foundation, Inc.

In April 2011, Sangamo entered into an agreemettt thie CHDI to develop a novel therapeutic for Hi3&d on Sangamo’s proprietary
ZFP technology. The ZFP therapeutic approach tathetgene that causes HD, an inherited neurodejeeedisease, to slow the disease
progression. Under the agreement with CHDI, andestlbo its terms and conditions, CHDI paid the @amy $1.3 million, the total funds due
under the agreement, over a period of one yearhwkimtended to substantially fund the Compang&earch efforts related to the agreement.
During 2012, the agreement with CHDI was amendezktend the project through August 2012 and tosiase total potential funding from
$1.3 million to $2.1 million, plus reimbursement frertain direct expenses related to the projdut. 8greement with CHDI terminated on
August 31, 2012.

Revenues attributable to research and developneefdrmed under the CHDI collaboration agreementevidr. 1 million during 2012.
Related costs during 2012 were $1.1 million. Theeee no such revenues or related costs in 2012@108.

The Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundation Interratal

In October 2006, Sangamo entered into an agreewitinthe Juvenile Diabetes Research Foundationratmnal (JDRF) to provide
financial support for one of Sangamo’s Phase 2 Imuctinical studies of the Company’s product cant#iddB-509, a ZFP Therapeutic that was
in development for the treatment of diabetic neatbp. In January 2010, JDRF and Sangamo amendedghgement and, subject to its terms
and conditions, JDRF agreed to provide additionatiing of up to $3.0 million for a Phase 2b triatiabetic neuropathy.

In October 2011, the Company announced that it dvaot pursue additional clinical development of 8509 program. In March
2012, the Company received a final payment of §tilBon for work performed under the agreement WilbRF. The Company does not ex;
to receive additional funding under this agreement.

Revenues attributable to research and developneénitias performed under the JDRF agreements $@r& million during 2012. Thel
were no such revenues in 2014 and 2013.

NOTE 6 — ACQUISITION OF CEREGENE

In August 2013, Sangamo and its wholly-owned suasgidCG Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Delaware corparatientered into an Agreement
and Plan of Merger (the Merger Agreement) with @eree, and a stockholders’ representative. Pursodahe Merger Agreement, the
Company acquired all outstanding shares of Ceregepsgvately held biotechnology company focusedhendevelopment of AAV gene
therapies. The acquired assets include all of @ereg therapeutic programs, including CERE-11GHertreatment of AD, which is currently
in a Phase 2 clinical trial. In addition to thenadial assets acquired, the Company acquired cerntglectual property rights relating to the
manufacturing of AAV, and certain toxicology datadasafety and efficacy data from Ceregert@iman clinical trials, which will be used in -
preparation and filing of IND applications for Samngo’sin vivoZFP Therapeutics, particularly those that targetitfain. The acquisition
closed in October 2013 (the Closing Date).

Under the Merger Agreement, the aggregate congdiderransferred or transferable by Sangamo to éor@eregene stockholders at
closing consisted of 100,000 shares of Sangamo aonstock, with an approximate fair value of $1.2ion on the Closing Date. In addition,
Sangamo may be required to make contingent earpayuments (the Earn-Out Payments) to the stocki®feCeregene if Sangamo develops
and commercializes Ceregene’s AAV gene therapies.

Also on the Closing Date, Sangamo, Ceregene andic@f Ceregene’s stockholders entered into aarmdty escrow agreement,
pursuant to which $0.3 million of Ceregene remajréash was deposited in an escrow account to beuinél April 1, 2015 for the benefit of
Sangamo to satisfy indemnity obligations of thekbmlders under the Merger Agreement.
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Consideration Transferred

The following table summarizes the estimated falue of the consideration transferred by Sangantibe@eregene stockholders on the
Closing Date (in thousands):

Sangamo shares of common st $ 1,20(
Contingent ear-out 1,51(
Total purchase considerati $ 2,71C

Fair Value Estimate of Assets Acquired and Liabiés Assumed

The following table summarizes the estimated falug of the net assets acquired as of the Closatg {n thousands):

Cash and equivalen $ 79
Accounts receivabl 22
Identifiable intangible asse 1,87C
Goodwill 1,58¢

Total assets acquire 3,55¢€
Deferred tax liability (748)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit (98)

Total liabilities assume (846)
Net assets acquire $ 2,71C

In-Process Research and Development

Intangible assets include IPR&D, which consist€efegene’s two clinical product candidates, CERE¥bt the treatment of AD and
CERE-120 for the treatment of Parkinson’s disedbe.Company determined that the combined Closing Bstimated fair values of CERE-
110 and CERE-120 was $1.9 million. The Company @sethcome approach, which is a measurement girésent value of the net economic
benefit or cost expected to be derived from antasd@bility, to measure the fair value of thea® product candidates. Under the income
approach, an intangible asset’s fair value is etjutiie present value of the incremental aféereash flows (excess earnings) attributable g
to the intangible asset over its remaining useéfel |

A summary of these assets and estimated fair valie® Closing Date is as follows (in thousands):

Value of Intangible
Assets Acquired

CERE-110 for the treatment of Alzheimer's dise $ 1,64C
CERE-120 for the treatment of Parkinson's dise 230
Total identifiable intangible asse $ 1,87C

IPR&D is an intangible asset classified as indéditived until the completion or abandonment of éissociated research and
development effort, and will be amortized over atineated useful life to be determined at the dag¢eprroject is completed. IPR&D is not
amortized until the project is completed or abamdihout rather tested for impairment.

Goodwill

The excess of the consideration transferred owefain values assigned to the assets acquiredaitities assumed was $1.6 million,
which represents the goodwill resulting from thquasition. Goodwill represents benefits that Sangémlieves will result from combining its
operations with the operations of Ceregene andraapgible assets that do not qualify for separategnition, as well as any future, yet
unidentified products.

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductibleificome tax purposes. The Company tests gootlwilmpairment on an annual
basis or sooner, if deemed necessary. There haverimechanges to the assets acquired or liabiiSssmed, including goodwill, since the
Closing Date.

Liability for Contingent Consideratior

In addition to the transfer of shares of Sangammmon stock on the Closing Date, the Company maggeired to make contingent
Earn-Out Payments in the future if the Company grarthird-party license to develop and commemggtiroducts based
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on the technology acquired from Ceregene (the “BatrProducts”) or if the Company commercializeg Barn-Out Products itself. These
payments are a percentage of any upfront or milespayments received in the case Sangamo granitslgarty license to develop and
commercialize the Earn-Out Products, or are a p¢aige of net sales in the case Sangamo developsoamtiercialized the Earn-Out Products
itself. The total maximum payment is not limitether than due to size of any potential upfront destone payments received or by future ne
sales of Earn Out Products, if any.

The fair value of the liability for the contingetinsideration recognized on the Close Date wasi$ilisn. The Company determined
the fair value of the liability for the contingetinsideration based on a probabilitgighted discounted cash flow analysis. The faneaf the
liability for the contingent consideration recogeizas of December 31, 2014 is $1.8 million based probability-weighted discounted cash
flow analysis with the increase in fair value dodte passage of time.

NOTE 7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets for IPR&D consist of two clinipabduct candidates from our acquisition of CeregdéRR&D is an intangible asset
classified as indefinite-lived until the completionabandonment of the associated research antbgevent effort, and will be amortized over
an estimated useful life to be determined at the the project is completed. If the project is atmred, the IPR&D will be expensed at the t
such determination is made.

The carrying values of these intangibles assetasfellows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2014 2013
CERE-110 for the treatment of Alzheimer's dise $ 1,64C $ 1,64C
CERE-120 for the treatment of Parkinson's dise 230 230
Total identifiable intangible asse $ 1,87C $ 1,87C

NOTE 8 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiousands):

December 31

2014 2013

Laboratory equipmer $ 3,665 $ 3,20¢
Furniture and fixture 550 563
Leasehold improvemen 1,168 1,15€
5,37¢ 4,927

Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (3,899) (3,5217)
$ 1,47¢ $ 1,40€

Depreciation and amortization expense was $0.5amilh 2014 and $0.6 million for 2013 and 20122012, the Company disposed of
$0.5 million in fixed assets with associated acclated depreciation of $0.4 million. The Companyogized a $0.1 million loss on the write-
off of these assets.
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NOTE 9 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Sangamo occupies office and laboratory space wmkrating leases in Richmond, California. In Aug2&t3, Sangamo amended its
lease agreement wherein the lease was extendedjthAugust 2019. The Company also entered intaseléor research space located at 100
West Cutting Boulevard in Richmond, California ied@mber 2014. The lease expires in January 201#.dkpenses were $0.7 million in
2014, $0.7 million in 2013, and $0.6 million for20 Future minimum payments under contractual alitigps at December 31, 2014 consist 0
the following (in thousands):

Operating

Fiscal Year: Lease
2015 $ 865
2016 901
2017 928
2018 748
2019 496
Thereaftel —

Total minimum payment $ 3,93¢

Contingencies

Sangamo is not party to any material pending lpgateeding. From time to time, we may be involvetbgal proceedings arising in the
ordinary course of business

NOTE 10 — STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred Stock
The Company has 5,000,000 preferred shares autdorizhich may be issued at the Board of directissretion.

Common Stock

On March 25, 2014, Sangamo completed an underwiitblic offering of its common stock, in which tB@empany sold an aggregate
of 4,444,444 shares of its common stock at a puffering price of $22.50 per share. The net prdes¢e Sangamo from the sale of shares in
this offering, after deducting underwriting discéaiand commissions and other offering expense® agproximately $93.8 million. On
September 23, 2013, Sangamo completed an undemnvpitiblic offering of its common stock, in whiclet@ompany sold an aggregate of
7,015,000 shares of its common stock, including ®1® shares issued to the Underwriters pursuaaB®day overallotment option, at a put
offering price of $10.58 per share. The net prosgedsangamo from the sale of shares in this offerfter deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and other offering expenses, waymaimately $69.5 million.

Stock Incentive Plar

In April 2013, Sangamo’s board of directors adopgdbject to stockholder approval, the Company’s38tock Incentive Plan (the
2013 Plan) as the successor to the Company’s 2@@k Sicentive Plan (the 2004 Plan). At the Anndaleting of Stockholders held on
June 12, 2013, the 2013 Plan was approved by thgp&oy’s stockholders and became effective. In cotiore with the approval by
stockholders of the 2013 Plan, outstanding awandeuthe 2004 Plan were transferred to the 2013. Flae 2004 Plan was terminated and no
further awards will be made pursuant to the 20@h PI

Under the 2013 Plan, the exercise price per stasptions granted will generally not be less th@0 percent of the fair value per share
of common stock on the grant date, and the op&an will not exceed ten years. If the person to mvlibe option is granted is a 10 percent
stockholder, and the option granted qualifies amaeantive Stock Option Grant, then the exerciseepper share will not be less than 110
percent of the fair value per share of common stotkhe grant date, and the option term will natesd five years. Options granted under the
2013 Plan generally vest over four years at acgbf5 percent one year from the grant date andhing-sixth per month thereafter and expire
ten years after the grant, or earlier upon emplaoytrtermination. Certain options previously grantedier the 2004 Plan to the Company’s nor
employee directors are structured so that they Imeagixercised prior to vesting, with the relatedafigubject to Sangamo’s right to repurchas
any shares that have not vested pursuant to thimgeshedule in effect for such award at the egerprice paid if the option holder’s board
service terminates. Approximately 14.1 million dsawere initially reserved for issuance under E32Plan, including 9.7 million shares of
common stock subject to outstanding awards prelyiaranted under the 2004 Plan that were transdeoéhe 2013 Plan, and an additional
4.4 million shares of common stock.
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The number of shares of common stock reserved$oiance under the 2013 Plan will be reduced: (§ d+#for-1 basis for each share of
common stock subject to a stock option or stockepation right granted under the plan, (ii) on-Bod1 basis for each share of common stocl
issued pursuant to a full value award granted utideplan prior to the plan effective date, anil kiy a fixed ratio of 1.33 shares of common
stock for each share of common stock issued putsaanfull-value award granted under the plan pafter the plan effective date.

Shares subject to any outstanding options or @vards under the 2013 Plan that expire or othengiseinate prior to the issuance of
the shares subject to those options or awarddwitlvailable for subsequent issuance under the Rl3t8 Any unvested shares issued under
the 2013 Plan that the Company subsequently pueshasrsuant to repurchase rights under the 2Gg fRill be added back to the number of
shares reserved for issuance under the 2013 Plarldor-1 basis or a 1.33-for-1 basis (dependimghe ratio at which the share reserve was
debited for the original award) and will accordingle available for subsequent issuance in accoedaith the terms of the plan. There are no
net counting provisions in effect under the 201&nPI

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

Sangamo’s 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Ragdtan), which supersedes the 2000 Employee $toahase Plan, provides a
total reserve of 2,100,000 shares of common stocls$uance under the Purchase Plan. Eligible grapbbmay purchase common stock at
85 percent of the lesser of the fair market valuBamgamo’s common stock on the first day of thaliapble two-year offering period or the
last day of the applicable six-month purchase perio

Stock Option Activity

A summary of Sangamo’s stock option activity iSakbws:

Weighted-
Average Weighted Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise per Remaining Intrinsic
Contractual
Shares Share Price Term Value
(In years) (In thousands)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 8,405,86: $ 7.2C
Options grante: 1,694,400 $ 14.1¢
Options exercise (1,959,20) $ 6.17
Options cancele (134,68) $ 8.77
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 8,006,38( $ 8.9C 6.62 $ 50,76¢
Options vested and expected to vest at Decemb&034, 7,526,43( $ 8.67 6.44 $ 49,431
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 492993 $ 7.21 5.07 $ 39,47¢

Newly created shares are issued upon exercisetiohsp There were no shares subject to Sangangtis of repurchase as of
December 31, 2014. The intrinsic value of optioxareised was $20.4 million, $8.9 million and $0.8lion during 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

At December 31, 2014, the aggregate intrinsic \&abfa¢he outstanding and exercisable options wg0e8million and $39.5 million,

respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of mpdivested and expected to vest during 2014, 20d2@12 was $49.4 million, $54.9 million
and $8.5 million, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information withpest to stock options outstanding at December 3142

Options Outstanding and Exercisable Options Exercisable
Number of Number of
Shares of Shares of
common stock  Weighted Average = common stock
subject to Remaining subject to Weighted Average
Range of Exercise Price options Contractual Life options Exercise Price
(In years)
$2.55- $3.45 950,51 4.41 880,721 $ 3.37
$3.80- $5.35 898,39¢ 5.01 874,18¢ $ 5.27
$5.41- $5.41 985, 75¢ 7.90 436,29 $ 5.41
$5.42- $5.42 50,00( 5.24 50,00C $ 5.42
$5.70- $5.70 804,77 5.94 804,771 $ 5.7C
$5.94- $11.03 809,67¢ 5.12 713,46¢ $ 6.7C
$11.35-$11.88 59,25( 2.38 38,75 $ 11.7¢
$12.12- $12.12 942,28 8.95 234,59 $ 12.12
$12.23- $13.99 750,32 4.66 548,82¢ $ 13.97
$14.07- $23.02 1,755,40( 8.67 348,32¢ $ 14.32
8,006,38( 6.62 492993 $ 7.21

Restricted Stock Unit

During 2014 and 2013, the Company awarded 488,86(B82,500 Restricted Stock Units (RSUs), respelstivihe RSUs awarded in
2014 and 2013 had an average grant date fair whlfi24.05 and $12.12, respectively. These awarlvest as follows: onghird of the awart
will vest in a series of three successive equaliahimstallments. The aggregate value of shareedeakiring 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $9.1
million, $4.1 million and $0.1 million, respectiyel

A summary of Sangamo’s RSU activity is as follows:

Number Weighted Average
of Remaining Aggregate Intrinsic
Shares Contractual Term Value
(In years) (In thousands)

RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2 1,063,65
RSUs awarde 488,00(
RSUs release (616,75¢)
RSUs forfeitec (35,499
RSUs outstanding at December 31, 2 899,40: 161 $ 13,68(
RSUs vested and expected to vest at December 34, 754,931 155 $ 11,482

RSUs that vested in 2014, 2013 and 2012 were rageslettled such that the Company withheld shaithsvalue equivalent to the
employees’ minimum statutory obligation for the kqgble income and other employment taxes, andttedhthe cash to the appropriate taxing
authorities. The total shares withheld were appnately 309,102 and 167,138 for 2014 and 2013, ctisiedy, and were based on the value of
the RSUs on their respective issuance dates asvdetal by the Company’s closing stock price. Theeee no such shares withheld in 2012.
Total payments for the employees’ tax obligatianaking authorities were $4.6 million and $2.0limil in 2014 and 2013, respectively, and
are reflected as a financing activity within thesolidated statements of cash flows. These neegw®itlements had the effect of share
repurchases by the Company as they reduced anebrfie number of shares that would have otherdea issued as a result of the vesting
and did not represent an expense to the Company.

As of December 31, 2014, there were 768,044 shiasesved for future awards under the Company’s Zaf and 1,420,560 shares of
common stock reserved for future issuance undelPtiiehase Plan.

NOTE 11 — INCOME TAXES

The Company recorded no income tax expense. Theipai difference between the statutory tax ratd4%6 and the Company’s
effective tax rate is due to the Company permad#ferences related to stock-based compensatioritaietiange in valuation allowance.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettermporary differences between the carrying anmohtssets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts useohfome tax purposes. Significant componentfi@f@ompany’s deferred tax assets are a
follows (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Assets:
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwar $ 90,921 $ 81,94«
Research and development tax credit carryforw 8,64¢€ 7,99¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 8,171 7,927
Deferred revenu 2,69C 3,56:
Other 2,471 1,677
Total deferred tax ass 112,89¢ 103,10
Valuation allowanct (112,899 (103,107
Net deferred tax asse $ — $ —
Liabilities:
Net deferred tax liability related to intangiblesats (748) (748)
Total deferred tax liabilit $ (748) $ (748)

As part of accounting for the acquisition of Cemgehe Company recorded goodwill and intangibsetss The intangible assets
acquired are for the use in a particular reseanchd@velopment project IPR&D and are consideredfinde-lived assets. They will remain
indefinite lived until the completion or abandonmehthe associated research and development &ffdirice the intangible assets acquired
have no tax basis, a deferred tax liability waslaighed due to the difference between the bookanbtases for those assets. The indefinite-
lived asset is not treated as a future sourceaafne and, therefore, no valuation allowance isasdd until the assets are amortized or
abandoned,

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent fytare earnings, if any, the timing and amounivbfch are uncertain. Accordingly,
the net deferred tax assets have been fully dffget valuation allowance. The valuation allowant@éased by $9.8 million, $14.9 million and
$5.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2@043 and 2012, respectively. As of December 31428angamo had net operating loss
carryforwards for federal and state income tax pses of approximately $330.9 million and $278.1iarl respectively. If not utilized, the net
federal and state operating loss carryforwardsstélit to expire in 2018 and 2015 respectively. Thenpany also has federal and state res
tax credit carryforwards of $6.7 million and $7.@lion, respectively. The federal research creditis begin to expire in 2018 while the state
research credits have no expiration date. Utikimatf the Company’s net operating loss carryforwadd research tax credit carryforwards
may be subject to substantial annual limitations ttuthe ownership change limitations providedh®yInternal Revenue Code and similar <
provisions. The annual limitation could result e texpiration of the net operating loss carryfodsaand research tax credit carryforwards
before utilization.

The Company files federal and state income taxmetwith varying statutes of limitations. The teeays from 2000 forward remain of.
to examination due to the carryover of net opegaltisses or tax credits. The Company also fileKadridome tax return, and the tax years fi
2008 and thereafter remain open to examination.

The Company’s practice is to recognize interest@mgknalties related to income tax matters innnedax expense. As of December 31
2014, the Company had no accrued interest andrf@lfes. The unrecognized tax benefits may changeg the next year for items that arise
in the ordinary course of business. In the eveatdiny unrecognized tax benefits are recognizedettective tax rate will not be affected.

The following table summarizes the activity relatedhe Company’s unrecognized tax benefits (iutamds):

December 31

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balanc $ 3182 $ 2,73t $ 2,75C
Additions based on tax positions related to theeniryeal 228 294 153
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 28 153 59
Reductions for tax positions of prior yei — — (227)
Ending balanc: $ 3,43t $ 3,182 $ 2,73t
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NOTE 12- ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consigheffollowing (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Accounts payabl $ 552t $ 3,022
Accrued research and development expe 2,43t 727
Accrued professional fet 531 510
Deferred ren 129 121
Other 84 —
Total accounts payable and accrued liabili $ 8,704 $ 4,38(C

NOTE 13 — EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

The Company sponsors a defined-contribution sayafeys under Section 401(k) of the Internal Reve@ode covering all full-time
employees (Sangamo 401(k) Plan). The Sangamo 4Bi4k)is intended to qualify under Section 401hefinternal Revenue Code.

The Company matched contributions by employeeslequ#% of the first 6% of employee contributiansto a limit of $2,000 in 201
and $1,500 in 2013. Matching funds are fully vesttan contributed. Contributions to the SangamgiORlan by the Company were $0.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $tlllion for years ended December 31, 2013 ari20

NOTE 14 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table sets forth certain unauditedwerly financial data for the eight quarters enBedember 31, 2014. The unaudited
information set forth below has been prepared ersttime basis as the audited information and inslatiedjustments necessary to present
fairly the information set forth herein. The opéargtresults for any quarter are not indicativeesuits for any future period. All data is in
thousands except per common share data.

2014 2013

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4
Revenue: $ 811€ $ 10,38 $ 12,417 $ 14952 $ 462 $ 6,934 $ 5707 $ 6,86¢
Expense! $ 15727 $ 17,43: $ 20,071 $ 19,421 $ 1152¢ $ 12,40 $ 11,86€ $ 15,04:
Net loss $ (75729 $ (6,98) $ (7,545 $ (4319 $ (6,885 $ (5450 $ (6,145 $ (8,144
Net loss per shal $ (012 $ (©1C) $ (0.11) $ (@©O06 $ (013 $ (@©100 $ (@011 $ (013
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ITEM 9 — CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A — CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
(I) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedure

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresisoiie that information we are required to discioseports that we file or submit
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as apte(Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, sumnobaizée reported within the time peric
specified in Securities and Exchange Commissid®EQ) rules and forms. Our management evaluated,thdt participation of our chief
executive officer (CEO) and our chief financialiofir (CFO), the effectiveness of our disclosuretiads and procedures, as such term is
defined under Rule 13a-15(e) under the ExchangeBested on that evaluation, our CEO and CFO coeduldat our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective, at a reasonable asitavel, as of December 31, 2014.

(I Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Internal control over financial reporting refersth@ process designed by, or under the supervigiosur CEO and CFO, and effected by
our Board of Directors, management and other peedoto provide reasonable assurance regardingetiability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for externappsges in accordance with generally accepted atioguprinciples, and includes those polic
and procedures that:

(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that@sonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthesactions and dispositions of the
assets of the Compar

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that transaaiengcorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, #nrad receipts and expenditures of the Company @irggbmade only in accordar
with authorizations of management and directorthefCompany; an

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding piieventt timely detection of unauthorized acquisitioge or disposition of the
Compan’s assets that could have a material effect onitlamdial statement:

Management is responsible for establishing and taimimg an adequate internal control over finanalorting for the Company.
Internal control over financial reporting cannobyide absolute assurance of achieving financiadmépg objectives because of its inherent
limitations. Internal control over financial repioag is a process that involves human diligence@mdpliance and is subject to lapses in
judgment and breakdowns resulting from human faduinternal control over financial reporting atsm be circumvented by collusion
improper management override. Because of suchaliinits, there is a risk that material misstatemaratg not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis by internal control over financial ogfing. However, these inherent limitations arewndeatures of the financial reporting
process. Therefore, it is possible to design ihogrocess safeguards to reduce, though not eliepitias risk.

Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our principal executiffecer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemti@ss of our internal control over financial repgrtased on the framework set forth in the
“Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued hg Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadway Commission (2013
framework). Based on our evaluation under the fraank set forth in “Internal Control—Integrated Frawork,” our management concluded
that our internal control over financial reportwgs effective as of December 31, 2014. The effenttgs of our internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2014 has been auojtétinst & Young LLP, an independent registeredlipidccounting firm, as stated in their
report which is included herein.

There have been no significant changes in ournaterontrol over financial reporting that have miaty affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect internal control ovanéncial reporting during the fiscal quarter en@stember 31, 2014.
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(IlI) Report of Independent Registered Public Accouting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Sangamo BioSciences, Inc.

We have audited Sangamo BioSciences, Inc.’s inteordrol over financial reporting as of Decembgr 3014, based on criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidribe Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). Sangamo Biesaes, Inc.’s management is responsible for miaiinig effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over FitarigReporting. Our responsibility is to expressoginion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the staisdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8q&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet dndbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigianternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®is:. audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiincludes those policies and procedures thai€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. maintjmeall material respects, effective internal trohover financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Sangamo BioScieimess of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and théetkonsolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders’ ggaiitd cash flows for each of the three yearseérmpiriod ended December 31, 2014 of
Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. and our report datedubepp5, 2015 expressed an unqualified opiniorethrer

/sl ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015

74




ITEM 9B — OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Il is omittBdm this Report on Form 10-K since we intendil® éur definitive Proxy Statement
for our next Annual Meeting of Stockholders, pursua Regulation 14A of the Securities Exchange #1934, as amended (the 2015 Proxy
Statement), no later than April 30, 2015, and éeiitsformation to be included in the 2015 Proxyt8taent is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 10 — DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORA TE GOVERNANCE

The information required by this item concerning dinectors, executive officers, Section 16 commimand corporate governance
matters is incorporated by reference to the inféionaset forth in the sections titled “Electionirectors,” “Management,” and “Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in o3 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 11 — EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item regarding@xé/e compensation is incorporated by referendbeanformation set forth in the
sections titled “Executive Compensation” in our 20roxy Statement.

ITEM 12 — SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item regardinguség ownership of certain beneficial owners anchagement is incorporated by
reference to the information set forth in the sectitled “Security Ownership of Certain Benefic@vners and Management” and “Equity
Compensation Plans” in our 2015 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13 — CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSAC TIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item regardingtar relationships and related transactions isrimm@ted by reference to the
information set forth in the section titled “CertdRelationships and Related Transactions” in od’52@roxy Statement.

ITEM 14 — PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item regardingipipal accounting fees and services is incorporbjectference to the information set
forth in the section titled “Principal Accounting&s and Services” in our 2015 Proxy Statement.

PART IV

ITEM 15 — EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE S
(a) The following documents are included as pathisf Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1. Financial Statements—See Index to Consolidatea€ial Statements in Item 8.
2. Financial Statement Schedules—Not Applicable.
3. Exhibits—See Index to Exhibits.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized, on February 25, 2015.

SANGAMO BIOSCIENCES, INC

By: /s/ EDwARD O. L ANPHIERII
Edward O. Lanphier Il
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direct

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgl Act of 1934, this report has been signed éydhowing persons on behalf of t
registrant and in the capacities and on the datlisdted:

Signature Title Date
/s/ EbwARD O. L ANPHIERII President, Chief Executive Officer and February 25, 201
Edward O. Lanphier Il Director (Principal Executive Office
Executive Vice President and February 25, 2015
[s] HHW\;YC?RW%MV OLFF Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer)

/s/ WiLiam R. RINGO Director and Chairman of the Board February 25, 201
William R. Ringo

/s/ PauL B. CLEVELAND Director February 25, 201
Paul B. Cleveland

/' s/ StePHEN G.DiLy , M.B.B.S, PH.D Director February 25, 201
Stephen G. Dilly, M.B.B.S, Ph.C

/s/ JOoHNW. L ARSON Director February 25, 201
John W. Larson

/s/ STEVENJ. MENTO, PH.D Director February 25, 201
Steven J. Mento, Ph.C

/s/ H. Stewart Parke Director February 25, 2015
H. Stewart Parker

/s| SAIRA R AMASASTRY Director February 25, 2015
Saira Ramasastry
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Number
1.1
1.2
3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
4.2
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10.1(+)

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7(+)

10.8t

10.9

10.10t

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description of Document

Underwriting Agreement dated September 18, 201&®(porated by reference to the Company’s Form 8dd on September 18,
2013).

Underwriting Agreement, dated as of Ma26, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhititth.the Company’s Form 8-K filed on
March 24, 2014)

Amended and Restated Certificate ofiparation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit ®@the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form-1/A (Registration No. 3:-30134) filed April 4, 2000)

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorpdrhyereference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’'s Regtion Statement on Form S-1/A
(Registration No. 32-30134) filed April 4, 2000)

Certificate of Amendment of Seventh Aeth and Restated Certificate of Incorporation afgdano BioSciences, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to therpany's Form &K, filed April 22, 2014).

Second Amended and Restated Bylawsrfiocated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Compmfprm 10-Q, filed October 28,
2014).

Form of Specimen Common Stock Certiidatcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to@wnpany’s Registration Statement on
Form $-1/A (Registration No. 33-30134) filed April 4, 2000)

Form of Senior Debt Indenture (incorpedaby reference to Exhibit 4.10 to the CompanyegiRtration Statement on Form S-3
(Registration No. 3:-194126) filed February 25, 201«

Form of Subordinated Debt Indenturediporated by reference to Exhibit 4.12 to the ComyfsmaRegistration Statement on
Form &3 (Registration No. 3:-194126) filed February 25, 201«

2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporatadfierence to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Regti&in Statement on
Form $-1/A (Registration No. 3:-30134) filed February 24, 200(

Form of Indemnification Agreement enteiregd between Sangamo and each of its directorseaadutive officers (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s RegigtnaStatement on Form S-1/A (Registration No. 383:34) filed February 24,
2000).

Sublicense Agreement, by and betweengao@nd Johnson & Johnson, dated May 9, 1996 (ocated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K/A filed April 22, 2010).

Patent License Agreement between Sangach®dlassachusetts Institute of Technology, dateg 814996, as amended by the
First Amendment, dated December 10, 1997 (incotpdrhy reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Companymial Report on
Form 1(-K/A filed April 22, 2010).

License Agreement between Sangamo antbtives Hopkins University, dated June 25, 199%anasnded by Amendment No. 1,
dated July 16, 1998 (incorporated by referencextulit 10.5 to the Company’s Annual Report on FAPAK/A filed April 22,
2010).

Triple Net Laboratory Lease, between Sargand Point Richmond R&D Associates Il, LLC, ddtay 23, 1997 (incorporated
by reference to Sangar's Registration Statement on Fori-1 (Reg. No. 33-30314), as amendec

Employment Agreement, between Sangamo and Ed@ak@nphier I, dated June 1, 1997 (incorporateddbgrence to
Exhibit 10.15 to the Compa’s Registration Statement on Fori-1/A (Registration No. 3:-30134) filed March 14, 2000

Second Amendment to Patent License Ageaebetween Sangamo and Massachusetts Institdiecbhology, dated December 2,
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.&h® Compan's Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

Amendment No. 2 to License Agreement betwSangamo and the Johns Hopkins University, taféeas of July 26, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to tler@any’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

Third Amendment to Patent License Agreement betw®&angamo and Massachusetts Institute of Techynallaged September 1,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1€hedCompan’'s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)
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10.11 Fourth Amendment to Patent License Agreement beth@amgamo and Massachusetts Institute of Technotffpctive as of
February 10, 2000 (incorporated by reference taliixh0.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Fo@rK], filed March 5,
2010).

10.12 Amendment No. 3 to License Agreement between Saogard the Johns Hopkins University, effective aMafch 10, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to@wmnpan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.13 License Agreement by and between The Scripps Reséastitute and Sangamo, dated March 14, 200@(urated by reference
to Exhibit 10.13 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.141 Fifth Amendment to Patent License Agreement betv&samgamo and Massachusetts Institute of Technofdtpctive as of
December 15, 2000 (incorporated by reference totiixt0.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Foi@rK], filed March 5,
2010).

10.15 First Amendment to Triple Net Laboratory Leasewsstn Sangamo and Point Richmond R&D Associatdd [T, dated March 1:
2004 (incorporated by reference to Sang's Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 20!

10.161 Sixth Amendment to Patent License Agreement betvemgamo and Massachusetts Institute of Technottaggd September 1,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1theoCompan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.171 Research and Commercial Option License AgreematgddOctober 5, 2005, between Sangamo and Dow Agno&es LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 to@wmmpan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 16, 2006)

10.18t1 Research, Development and Commercialization Agreéneted October 24, 2006 between Sangamo andilkiBeabetes
Research Foundation International (incorporatecelfigrence to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s AnriReport on Form 1@, filed
March 1, 2007)

10.191 Seventh Amendment to Patent License Agreement leetBangamo and Massachusetts Institute of Techynadeged October 27,
2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2¢htoCompan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.20 First Amendment of Research and Commercial Opticerise Agreement between Sangamo and Dow AgroSsdriaC, dated
November 7, 2006 (incorporated by reference to k.21 to the Compa’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 5,
2010).

10.21 Eighth Amendment to Patent License Agreement betv@amgamo and Massachusetts Institute of Technottaggd February 1,
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2theoCompan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.22t Research and License Agreement between Sangant®arahtech, Inc., dated April 27, 2007 (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Form 1+-Q, filed August 9, 2007

10.23t Amendment No. 4 to License Agreement between Saogard the Johns Hopkins University, effective aMal 21, 2007
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 to@wmpan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.24t License Agreement between Sangamo and Sigma-Al@dchoration, dated July 10, 2007 (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Form 1+-Q, filed November 1, 2007

10.25 First Amendment of the License Agreement betwegm&iAldrich Corporation and Sangamo, dated Noverp2007
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlerpanys Form 1-Q filed on November 6, 200¢

10.261 Letter Agreement between Sangamo and Sigma-Al@aiporation, dated February 25, 2008 (incorporateteference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Compar's Form 1-Q filed on May 9, 2008

10.27t Second Research and License Agreement betweenrBaragal Genentech, Inc., dated February 27, 20@8rfirated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed on May 9, 2008’

10.291 License Agreement between Sangamo and Open Moraddechnology, Inc., dated April 2, 2008 (incorpechby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Compa’s Form 1-Q filed on August 7, 2008

10.29 Amendment to License Agreement by and between Thp[s Research Institute and Sangamo, dated 29,2008 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Comp’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

10.301 Research and License Agreement between Sanganta &affmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Idated July 2,
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1thieo Compan’s Form 1-Q filed on November 4, 200¢
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Number
10.3171
10.327F
10.33(+

10.34(+

10.35t

10.36

10.37t

10.38t

10.39t

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43t

10.44t

10.45%

10.46t

10.47t

Description of Document

Letter Agreement between Sangamo and Sigma-Al@mtporation, dated July 2, 2008 (incorporated ligremce to Exhibit 10.2
to the Compar’s Form 1i-Q filed on November 4, 200¢

License Agreement between Sangamo and Pfizerdated December 19, 2008 (incorporated by referemBshibit 10.25 to the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 3, 2009)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement betwaegatho and H. Ward Wolff, dated December 31, 20@®(porated by
reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Comp’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 3, 2009)

First Amendment to Employment Agreement betweerg&amo and Edward O. Lanphier, dated December 38 @f66orporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to the Comp’s Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 3, 2009)

Second Amendment of Research and Commercial Opic@mse Agreement between Sangamo and Dow AgroSesdn C, date
February 13, 2009 (incorporated by reference taliixh0.39 to the Company’s Annual Report on For@rK], filed March 5,
2010).

Third Amendment of Research and Commercial Optioenhse Agreement between Sangamo and Dow AgroSxsdinidC, dated
February 28, 2009 (incorporated by reference taliixh0.40 to the Company’s Annual Report on For@rK], filed March 5,
2010).

Second Amendment of the License Agreement betwagnaBAldrich Corporation and Sangamo, dated Sepserdb, 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to thmrpan’s Form 1-Q filed on November 6, 200¢

Third Amendment to the License Agreement betwegm8&iAldrich Corporation and Sangamo, dated Octab2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmrpan’s Form 1-Q filed on November 6, 200¢

First Amendment to the Research, Development amdn@zrcialization Agreement between Sangamo and Jev@iabetes
Research Foundation International, dated Janu&@8) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10@l¢he Company’s Annual
Report on Form 1-K, filed March 5, 2010)

Fourth Amendment of Research and Commercial Opitioense Agreement between Sangamo and Dow Agro&esdn C, dated
January 8, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Hixhih45 to the Compars Annual Report on Form -K, filed March 5, 2010)

Form of Non-Employee Director Restricted Stock &sse Agreement (incorporated by reference to Ekhhil to the Company’s
Form 1(-Q filed on August 5, 2010

Fifth Amendment of the Research and CommercialriseeOption Agreement between Sangamo BioSciemesahd Dow
AgroSciences LLC, dated May 14, 2010 (incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s FAOX) filed on Novembe
3, 2010).

Sixth Amendment of the Research and Commercialnseeption Agreement between Sangamo BioScienoesahd Dow
AgroSciences LLC, dated August 27, 2010 (incorpaatddy reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s1+&0-Q filed on
November 3, 2010

Seventh Amendment of the Research and Commerdahke Option Agreement between Sangamo BioScieimesnd Dow
AgroSciences LLC, dated December 3, 2010 (incotpdrhy reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the Compaifgan 10-K filed on
February 16, 2011

Letter Agreement Amendment regarding the ReseardtCammercial License Option Agreement between &aogBioSciences,
Inc. and Dow AgroSciences LLC, dated December 2pZthcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50h® €ompany’s Form 10-
K filed on February 16, 2011

Letter Agreement between Sangamo and Sigma-Al@mtporation, dated March 1, 2011 (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit
10.1 to the Compar's Form 1-Q filed on August 5, 2011

Letter dated May 19, 2011 from Dow AgroSciences L(LITAS") to Sangamo amending the Research and Cawiaid.icense
Option Agreement between DAS and Sangamo, datefl@stober 1, 2005, as amended (incorporated leyeate to Exhibit 10.2
to the Compar’s Form 1i-Q filed on August 5, 2011

10.48(+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement betwaegato and Edward O. Lanphier II, dated June 211 Z@dcorporated

by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Comp’s Form 1-Q filed on August 5, 2011

10.49(+ Employment Agreement between Sangamo and Dr. Gédffiol, dated June 17, 2011 (incorporated by refesdo Exhibit 10.4 to

the Compan’s Form 1-Q filed on August 5, 2011
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10.50(+ Amended and Restated Employment Agreement betwaega®o and H. Ward Wolff, dated December 15, 20icb(porated by

reference to Exhibit 10.55 to Compi¢s Form 1-K filed on February 23, 2012

10.51(+ Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under thenfany’s 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporateddfgrence to Exhibit

10.52t

10.53

10.54

10.55

10.56

10.57

10.58t

10.59

10.60

12.1

21.1
23.1
311
31.2
32.1

10.1 to the Compar's Form K filed on December 3, 2007

Collaboration and License Agreement between Sangard&hire AG, dated January 31, 2012 (incorporayeference to
Exhibit 10.57 to the Compa’s Form 1K filed on February 23, 2012

Fourth Amendment of the License Agreement betweay&mo and Sigma-Aldrich Corporation, dated asept&nber 14, 2012
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tlmrpan’s Form 1-Q filed on November 2, 2012

Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. Incentive Compensatian hcorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 ®@ompany’s Form 8-K
filed on June 27, 2012

Agreement and Plan of Merger by and among Sangaoféciences, Inc., Merger Sub and Ceregene andttioki®lders’
Representative (incorporated by reference to thagamy's Form K filed on October 7, 2013

Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. 2013 Stock Incentive Plaorporated by reference to Appendix A to Sangarproxy statement on
Schedule 1-A filed with the SEC on April 25, 2013

Consent Letter from Sigma-Aldrich Co. LLC to therquany dated September 25, 2014 (incorporated leyeete to Exhibit 10.2
to the Compar’s Form 1-Q, filed October 28, 2014

Global Research, Development and Commercializa@iollaboration and License Agreement between Sandziofciences, Inc.
and Biogen Idec Ma Inc. dated as of January 8, Zibibérporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to @wmpany’s Form 10-Q, filed
May 7, 2014)

Amendment of 2013 Stock Incentive Plan on ReduatioBhare Reserve (incorporated by reference tabiExt0.2 to the
Compan’s Form 1-Q, filed May 7, 2014)

Ninth Amendment dated as of March 14, 2014 to LseeAgreement between Sangamo BioSciences, Indviassachusett
Institute of Technology dated May 9, 1996 (incogied by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Compafpem 10-Q, filed October
28, 2014).

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chardesdrporated by reference to Exhibit 12.1 to thenpany’s Registration
Statement on Form-3 (Registration No. 3:-194126) filed February 25, 201«

Subsidiaries of the Compa

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourfing.
Rule 1314(a) Certification of Principal Executive Office
Rule 13i14(a) Certification of Principal Financial Office
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1%

101.INS XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docunh
101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

"
(+)

Confidential treatment has been granted fomgeiformation contained in this document pursuargn order of the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Such information has beentedniind filed separately with the Securities andharge Commissiol
Indicates management contract or compensatorygslamrangemen
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Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of the Company

Gendaq Limited (U.K.)
Ceregene Inc. (Delaware)



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

1. Registration Statements (Forms S-8 No. 333-28%%d 333-166220) pertaining to the 2013 Stockritice Plan of Sangamo
BioSciences, Inc. and the 2010 Employee Stock RgeePlan of Sangamo BioSciences, Inc.,

2. Reqgistration Statement (Fornr-3 No. 33:-179634) and related prospectus of Sangamo BioSesetc.;

of our reports dated February 25, 2015, with ressfmethe consolidated financial statements of SamggBioSciences, Inc. and the effectivenes:
of internal control over financial reporting of $m@mo BioSciences, Inc. included in this Annual Reffeorm 10-K) for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATE

I, Edward O. Lanphier Il, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. (I‘registran”);

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15(f) and 15¢ 15 (f)) for the registrant and hav

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdabe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagdisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in thaestegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycaéfé, or is reasonably likely to materially affetbie registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; an

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

(@)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmnhcial information; ant

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aismmtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 25, 2015

/s/ Edward O. Lanphier

Edward O. Lanphier |
President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATE

I, H. Ward Wolff, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of Sangamo BioSciences, Inc. (Iregistran”)

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortémnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememts other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a- 15(f) and 15¢ 15 (f)) for the registrant and hav

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proesgor caused such disclosure controls and proesdabe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrie period in which this report is being prepa

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfitial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeagdisclosure controls and procedures and preséntbd report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant

Disclosed in this report any change in thaestegnt's internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycaéfé, or is reasonably likely to materially affetbie registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; an

The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evafuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registre’s auditors and the audit committee of the regit's board of director:

(@)

(b)

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmnhcial information; ant

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aismmtifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 25, 2015

/sl H. Ward Wolff

H. Ward Wolff
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office



Exhibit 32.1
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 81350, as Adoptl Pursuant to 8906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of @R

Each of the undersigned hereby certifies pursuah8tU.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 9fedbarbane®xley Act of 2002, i
his capacity as an officer of Sangamo BioScienlees,(the “Company”), that:

(1) the Annual Report of the Company on Form 10Kthe year ended December 31, 2014, as filed thétSecurities and Exchange
Commission (the “Report”) fully complies with thequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéiesrExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Edward O. Lanphier

President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
(Principal Executive Officer

February 25, 201

/s H. Ward Wolff

H. Ward Wolff

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office
February 25, 201




